Quadripulse-stimulation-induced plasticity in patients with multiple sclerosis and its functional relevance

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

Carolin Balloff aus Düsseldorf

Düsseldorf, Mai 2024

aus dem Institut für experimentelle Psychologie der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Berichterstatter:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Axel Buchner, Institut für experimentelle Psychologie, Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf
- 2. Prof. Dr. Iris-Katharina Penner, Universitätsklinik für Neurologie, Inselspital, Bern, Schweiz

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 12.07.2024

Table of contents

Table of contentsI
List of abbreviations III
AbstractIV
1. Introduction 1
1.1. Pathophysiology of MS and phenotypes2
1.2. Clinical symptoms and disease progression 4
1.3. Clinico-radiological paradox5
1.4. Neuroplasticity and cortical plasticity6
1.5. Synaptic plasticity
1.5.1. Metaplasticity
1.5.2. Evaluating synaptic plasticity using rTMS9
1.5.2.1. Quadripulse stimulation (QPS)12
1.6. Synaptic plasticity in patients with MS13
1.7. Aim of this thesis14
2. Studies included in this thesis 15
2.1. Study 1 – Synaptic plasticity in RRMS and its association with cognitive performance
2.2. Study 2 – Synaptic plasticity during acute relapses16
2.3. Study 3 – Synaptic plasticity in PMS and its association with motor performance17
2.4. Study 4 – Prognostic value of synaptic plasticity for disease progression17
3. Discussion
3.1. Summary and interpretation of the results18
3.2. Strengths and limitations of the studies22
3.2.1. Variability of rTMS effects24
3.2.2. Plasticity beyond LTP-like plasticity at M127
3.2.3. Other factors influencing disease progression
3.2.4. Unforeseen circumstances throughout the study period
3.3. Implications and recommendations for future research
4. Conclusion
ReferencesXXXII
Appendix A: 2017 McDonald criteria for diagnosis of multiple sclerosisLIV
Appendix B: Original research articlesLVI
Study 1 – Synaptic plasticity in RRMS and its association with cognitive performance LVI
Study 2 – Synaptic plasticity during acute relapsesLXXII
Study 3 – Synaptic plasticity in PMS and its association with motor performance LXXXIX

Study 4 – Prognostic value of synaptic plasticity for disease progression	CIV
Appendix C: List of further publications	CXXXIII
Appendix D: Affidavit	CXXXIV

List of abbreviations

(articles excluded)

BCM	Bienenstock-Cooper-Munro rule
CIS	
CNS	central nervous system
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
CSP	cortical silent period
EDSS	Expanded Disability Status Scale
EEG	electroencephalography
EMG	electromyography
IPS	information processing speed
LMEM	linear-mixed-effects models
LTD	long-term depression
LTP	long-term potentiation
M1	primary motor cortex
MEP	motor-evoked potential
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MS	multiple sclerosis
PAS 25	paired associative simulation protocol with an interstimulus interval of 25ms
PIRA	progression independent of relapse activity
PMS	primary or secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
PPMS	primary progressive multiple sclerosis
QPS	quadripulse stimuation
QPS-5	quadripulse stimulation with an inter-stimulus interval of 5ms
RIS	radiologically isolated syndrome
ROC	receiver-operating characteristic
RRMS	relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis
rTMS	repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation
SDMT	Symbol Digit Modalities Test
SPMS	secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
TBS	
TMS	transcranial magnetic stimulation

Abstract

Despite advancements in understanding the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis (MS), predicting individual clinical trajectories remains elusive. Compensatory mechanisms of neuroplasticity are gaining recognition as potentially significant contributors to shaping clinical outcomes and may hold prognostic value for disease progression. Synaptic plasticity, an early-phase neuroplasticity mechanism, can be non-invasively investigated at the motor cortex using repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). In patients with MS, the quadripulse-stimulation (QPS) protocol in particular shows promise for effective induction of synaptic plasticity.

This thesis investigated QPS-induced plasticity in patients with MS both in crosssectional and longitudinal contexts. Four empirical studies were conducted to compare plasticity across MS subtypes and healthy controls (HCs), assess its correlation with cognitive and motor function, study alterations in plasticity during acute relapses, and analyze its association with disease progression over time. The primary aim was to investigate QPSinduced plasticity as a potential biomarker for predicting disease progression.

The first study revealed a positive correlation between cognitive performance and QPSinduced plasticity in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), with plasticity serving as a distinguishing factor between patients with and without cognitive impairment. RRMS patients did not exhibit diminished plasticity compared to HCs. In the second study, QPS-induced plasticity did not significantly differ between patients with MS during acute relapses, stable patients with MS, and HCs. Exploratory findings suggested higher plasticity in relapsing patients with motor disability. Similarly, the third study found no significant differences in QPSinduced plasticity among patients with different MS subtypes and HCs. Additionally, correlations with motor and cognitive functions were evident only in MS patients with intact corticospinal tract integrity. Longitudinal analysis in the fourth study revealed that patients experiencing clinically relevant decline in manual dexterity or visuospatial short-term learning and memory after a median follow-up of two years exhibited lower levels of baseline synaptic plasticity. However, overall functional outcomes remained relatively stable over time, with a similar number of patients experiencing improvement and decline.

In summary, this thesis indicates preserved QPS-induced plasticity across all MS subtypes and disease activity levels. Furthermore, it highlights the need to consider clinical characteristics in synaptic plasticity research in patients with MS and proposes a potential link between the degree of QPS-induced plasticity and functional decline. However, the role of QPS-induced plasticity as an independent biomarker for predicting disease progression at the individual level currently remains uncertain due to various methodological challenges.

1. Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune inflammatory, demyelinating, and degenerative chronic disease of the central nervous system (CNS). Lesions can occur anywhere in the CNS, affecting both gray and white matter (Baecher-Allan et al., 2018; Di Filippo et al., 2018). Consequently, a variety of symptoms can emerge ranging from 'visible' physical symptoms, such as bladder dysfunction and spasticity, to 'hidden' symptoms, such as cognitive impairment and fatigue (Compston & Coles, 2008; Katz Sand, 2015; Lysandropoulos & Havrdova, 2015).

Epidemiological data suggest a global prevalence rate of 36 per 100,000 people, meaning that approximately 2.8 million people are currently affected by MS worldwide (Walton et al., 2020). Although prevalence rates have risen within the last centuries in every world region, there's great variation across the globe. With a rate of 303 per 100,000 Germany has the second highest prevalence worldwide (The Multiple Sclerosis International Federation [MSIF], 2020). Independent of the world region, there is a twofold increased risk for females compared to males (defined as sex assigned at birth) and the average age of diagnosis is 32 years (Walton et al., 2020). Due to the early onset of the disease within the life span, MS is the most common neurological disease leading to disability in young adults (MSIF, 2020) and places a large personal as well as socioeconomic burden (Bebo et al., 2022; Mitchell et al., 2005; Paz-Zulueta et al., 2020).

Importantly, correlations between lesion load and clinical symptoms are generally poor (Barkhof, 2002). Despite the presence of significant radiological abnormalities, some patients may experience no or only mild symptoms, whereas others may experience severe symptoms despite minimal radiological findings. This discrepancy between clinical symptoms and radiological findings is referred to as the 'clinico-radiological paradox' (Barkhof, 2002) and suggests that disease progression and disability are determined by multiple factors.

In addition to remyelination (Albert et al., 2007) and lesion location (strongly connected region, i.e. hub, or area of functional redundancy (Schoonheim et al., 2022)), compensatory mechanisms of neuroplasticity may play an important role (Zeller & Classen, 2014). Neuroplasticity may not only contribute to recovery of clinical symptoms but may also prevent them in the first place. If the structural and functional damage exceeds the compensatory reserve, CNS injury may manifest in clinical symptoms (Zeller & Classen, 2014). Therefore, it is of great interest to reliably assess and quantify neuroplasticity and to evaluate its prognostic value for the clinical course in patients with MS.

Different methods have emerged to assess cortical plasticity, i.e. neuroplasticity at the cortical level, in both healthy and diseased brains. In addition to behavioral assessments and functional brain imaging, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) of the motor cortex has been introduced as a promising non-invasive technique (Barker et al., 1985). It can

modulate synaptic efficacy by strengthening or weakening existing synapses, which is referred to as long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), respectively (Bliss & Gardner-Medwin, 1973; Bliss & Lomo, 1973; Dudek & Bear, 1992). The degree of modulation induced by rTMS serves as a proxy for rapid-onset cortical plasticity (Zeller & Classen, 2014).

The following chapters will introduce relevant pathophysiological and clinical aspects of MS. Moreover, detailed information on neuroplasticity, as well as the applied method, namely rTMS, and the quadripulse-stimulation (QPS) protocol in particular, will be provided. Subsequently, the current state of research on rTMS-induced plasticity in patients with MS will be reviewed, leading to the aim of this thesis. Four original research articles addressing specific objectives and hypotheses will then be presented. Finally, the results will be summarized and discussed.

1.1. Pathophysiology of MS and phenotypes

MS is characterized by 1) inflammatory lesions, primarily affecting myelin sheaths and oligodendrocytes (Lassmann, 2018), and 2) neurodegeneration (Sandi et al., 2021). While it remains unclear which of these processes is the primary initiator of MS pathology, both appear to be present at disease onset (Sandi et al., 2021).

Oligodendrocytes do not only myelinate axons but also serve other important functions supporting axonal health (Simkins et al., 2021). Myelin is critical to increase the speed of action potential propagation and thus signal conduction between neurons (Hartline & Colman, 2007). If myelin and oligodendrocytes are destroyed, nerve conduction velocity is reduced or entirely lost (Koles & Rasminsky, 1972) and the loss of their protective functions can lead to axonal damage, transection, and loss (Kornek et al., 2000; Lovas et al., 2000; Trapp et al., 1998).

After acute inflammatory demyelination, lesions can remain chronically active with detrimental clinical long-term effects (Absinta et al., 2019). Remyelination of demyelinated axons is possible, but highly variable across patients and lesion location, typically failing in periventricular lesions (Albert et al., 2007; Goldschmidt et al., 2009; Patrikios et al., 2006; Tonietto et al., 2023). The periventricular failure of remyelination may contribute to neurodegeneration (Tonietto et al., 2023), which also occurs diffusely in normal-appearing white and gray matter (Lassmann, 2018) and is already present early in the disease process (Hauser & Oksenberg, 2006). In addition to direct inflammatory damage to myelin, oligodendrocytes, and axons, indirect effects such as Wallerian degeneration (Dziedzic et al., 2010), mitochondrial dysfunction (Witte et al., 2014), and oxidative burst activation of microglia and macrophages (Fischer et al., 2012) contribute to neurodegeneration. Consequently, brain atrophy rates are higher in patients with MS compared to the general population (Stefano et al., 2016). Demyelination and axonal injury typically dominate early in the disease, while enlargement of lesions in normal-appearing white and gray matter and neurodegeneration are

more pronounced in the progressive phase (Sandi et al., 2021). *Figure 1* summarizes and illustrates the most important pathophysiological mechanisms of MS.



Figure 1. Pathophysiological mechanisms of MS.

Note. In the healthy brain, axons are surrounded by myelin. Interruptions in the myelin sheath along a myelinated axon are called Ranvier's node. The signal propagates only from one Ranvier's node to the next, facilitating rapid conduction known as 'saltatory conduction' (part 1). If the myelin is damaged, signal propagation becomes slower or distorted (part 2). Additionally, the axon is vulnerable to attacks and degenerates (part 3), which ultimately results in degeneration of the entire nerve cell (part 4). Adapted from The National Multiple Sclerosis Society (2024a).

Based on the rate of progression, MS is currently classified into four clinical courses. Patients with a first MS-typical clinical presentation can be diagnosed with clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), if the symptoms are suggestive of inflammatory demyelination but the full diagnostic criteria of MS are not yet fulfilled (please refer to appendix A for the detailed diagnostic criteria) (Lublin et al., 2014). Despite high variability of conversion rates across studies, most patients diagnosed with CIS are later diagnosed with clinically definite MS (Marcus & Waubant, 2013). For most patients (~85%), the disease initially presents as relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS). RRMS is characterized by episodes of sudden evolution or exacerbation of neurological symptoms on the one hand, and episodes of remission of these

symptoms and clinical stability on the other (Klineova & Lublin, 2018). As the disease progresses over time, remission remains incomplete more often, and most patients (>80%) with untreated RRMS develop secondary progressive MS (SPMS) within 25 years (Scalfari et al., 2010). However, disease modifying therapies can reduce the conversion rate markedly (Cree et al., 2016; Lublin et al., 2022). In SPMS, symptoms worsen progressively with or without acute exacerbations (Lublin et al., 2014). Due to this insidious accumulation of disability, diagnosis of SPMS is challenging and typically made retrospectively (Klineova & Lublin, 2018). Importantly, recent evidence suggests an important role of progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA) in patients with RRMS as well (Cagol et al., 2022; Kappos et al., 2020; Lublin et al., 2022). Unlike patients with RRMS and SPMS, those with primary progressive MS (PPMS) do not experience acute exacerbations, but instead face a gradual worsening of symptoms from the disease's onset (Lublin & Reingold, 1996). Approximately 10-20% of patients with MS suffer from this disease type (Miller & Leary, 2007).

Radiologically isolated syndrome (RIS) affects individuals who present no clinical signs but brain imaging findings indicating inflammatory demyelination. Due to the lack of specificity of these imaging findings, RIS is currently not classified as an MS subtype (Lublin et al., 2014). However, 34% of these patients experience a first acute or progressive clinical event within five years (Okuda 2014). Therefore, close monitoring of individuals with RIS is warranted (Lublin et al., 2014).

MS lesions can potentially occur anywhere in the CNS, but are typically located juxtacortical, cortical, periventricular and infratentorial, as well as in the corpus callosum and the cervical segment of the spinal cord (Filippi et al., 2019). Although myelin concentration is higher in white compared to gray matter (Corrigan et al., 2021), lesions occur in both types of brain tissue (Hulst & Geurts, 2011). Thus, various clinical symptoms can arise, which will be outlined in the next chapter.

1.2. Clinical symptoms and disease progression

MS can manifest with a wide range of clinical symptoms and severity. However, bowel/bladder, mobility and sexual dysfunction, visual disturbances, spasticity, sensory disturbances, pain, dizziness, cognitive impairment, fatigue, and depression are the most typical symptoms (The National Multiple Sclerosis Society, 2024b). Within the first year of the disease, sensory disturbances and fatigue are the most frequently reported symptoms, affecting 85% and 81% of patients, respectively. Even at this early stage of the disease, 15% require mobility assistance at least occasionally and 63% report subjective change in their cognitive functions (Kister et al., 2013). Consequently, patients with MS often experience a reduced quality of life (Benedict et al., 2005), and leave the workforce (Kobelt et al., 2017; Langdon, 2011; Renner et al., 2020).

4

Cognitive impairment occurs with a prevalence of 34-65% and typically includes deficits in information processing speed (IPS), learning, memory, executive functioning, and visuospatial processing. Despite high variability across patients, IPS, learning and memory are most frequently and earliest impaired (Benedict et al., 2020; Wojcik et al., 2022). Recent evidence suggests that IPS depends on the intact functioning of extensive networks rather than single structures. Thus, focal lesions compromising these complex connections can lead to impaired IPS early in the disease course (Macaron et al., 2020; Tóth et al., 2019). Learning and memory functions, however, may be associated with spreading pathology in the gray matter as well as brain atrophy, especially in the hippocampus (Tóth et al., 2019).

In addition to their genuine, onerous effects, cognitive deficits can also have detrimental secondary effects, e.g. poor treatment adherence (Roy et al., 2016). In general, cognitive impairment is accentuated in patients with progressive types of MS (PMS) compared to patients with RRMS (Benedict et al., 2020; Johnen et al., 2017; Sonneville et al., 2002). Cognitive performance declines with disease progression independently of normal ageing effects (Amato et al., 2006) and, with time, deficits arise in previously unaffected domains (Achiron et al., 2013).

Disease progression is highly variable across subjects and is either acquired relapseassociated or through PIRA (Lublin et al., 2022). Global brain tissue loss in patients with PIRA and those with relapse activity appears to be similar (Cagol et al., 2022; Cree et al., 2019). However, the specific mechanisms underlying disability accumulation are not yet fully understood (Cagol et al., 2022). Generally, male sex is associated with faster disability accumulation (Alvarez-Sanchez 2022). Further, older age and higher levels of pre-existing disability are linked to incomplete recovery from relapses, thereby contributing to disability accumulation (Lublin et al., 2022). Several potential biomarkers of disease activity and progression have been investigated, but despite their prognostic value on the group level, their clinical use on the individual level is limited (Yang et al., 2022). For example, significant disparities between lesion load observed in brain imaging and clinical symptoms have been identified and termed the 'clinico-radiological paradox' (Barkhof, 2002) which will be further elucidated in the subsequent chapter.

1.3. Clinico-radiological paradox

The 'clinico-radiological paradox' describes the inconsistent correlation between clinical symptoms experienced by patients with MS and the extent or severity of radiological findings. While some patients exhibit significant clinical disability despite minimal or non-visible lesions on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans, others have few clinical symptoms despite extensive lesions (Barkhof, 2002). In line with this, cognitive performance was found

to be only weakly to moderately correlated with T2 MRI lesion burden in a large meta-analysis (Mollison et al., 2017).

Since Barkhof's (2002) initial description of this phenomenon, significant advances have been made to better understand the relationship between brain lesions and clinical symptoms. These advances include insights into the relevance of lesion location, as well as structural and functional brain network connectivity (Carotenuto, Valsasina, et al., 2022; Cipriano et al., 2023; Eshaghi et al., 2018; Hackmack et al., 2012; Lapucci et al., 2022; Pardini et al., 2015; Soares et al., 2021; Welton et al., 2020; Zivadinov et al., 2016). Additionally, associations between symptoms and lesions appear to vary depending on the disease stage, with weaker correlations in patients with short disease durations (Uher et al., 2018). Although no significant longitudinal differences in atrophy rates have been detected between RRMS and PMS patients (Kalkers et al., 2002; Stefano et al., 2010; Tsagkas et al., 2020), recent research has revealed an association between brain atrophy, particularly gray matter loss in frontal and parietal areas, and PIRA in RRMS patients (Cagol et al., 2022).

Despite these advances in overcoming the 'clinico-radiological paradox', several confounding factors can influence the longitudinal assessment of brain volume and lesion load. These include individual-level variables, such as age, sex, brain size, hydration state, physical activity, alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, substance abuse, and somatic comorbidities, as well as technical factors like variations in the quality of the MRI scanner and analysis software (Sastre-Garriga et al., 2020).

Thus, the clinical utility of specialized MRI measures at the individual level is limited. However, the 'clinico-radiological paradox' may not only be explained by more advanced imaging and analysis techniques, but also by other factors, such as compensatory neuroplasticity, which will be described in detail in the next chapter.

1.4. Neuroplasticity and cortical plasticity

Neuroplasticity is a dynamic process of the CNS to adapt to alterations in the internal or external environment (Buonomano & Merzenich, 1998; Sharma et al, 2013). It is, thus, a core feature of neuronal function underlying learning (Dimyan & Cohen, 2011; Scholz et al., 2009), and memory (Martin et al., 2000). It is, however, not only important in the healthy but also in the lesioned brain, as numerous studies have demonstrated adaptation of the CNS after brain injury in primates (Dijkhuizen et al., 2001; Dijkhuizen et al., 2003; Nudo & Milliken, 1996; Wei et al., 2001) and humans (Calautti et al., 2001; Centonze et al., 2007; Cicinelli et al., 1997; Takeda et al., 2007; Traversa et al., 1997; Turton et al., 1996). In fact, recovery following brain injury primarily relies on the restoration of functional and structural connectivity (Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2017).

Functional plasticity refers to the reorganization or restoration of activity of existing neural circuits in response to input patterns (Magee & Grienberger, 2020). It involves changes in neuronal membrane excitability (Clarkson et al., 2010) or the strength of (single) synapses (Hebb, 1949), as well as recruitment of inactive synapses (Jacobs & Donoghue, 1991).

Structural plasticity involves physical changes, e.g. axonal sprouting (Carmichael et al., 2017), changes in sodium channel density (Cantrell & Catterall, 2001), dendritic and axonal anatomy (Jamann et al., 2018; Kasai et al., 2010), remyelination (Patrikios et al., 2006), synaptogenesis (Andersen & Soleng, 1998) and neurogenesis (Eriksson et al., 1998).

While functional changes can occur rapidly within minutes, structural alterations take months to years (Zeller & Classen, 2014). Importantly, rapid functional and late-onset structural changes do not occur independently of each other. It has been suggested that rapid-onset electrophysiological events can finally induce biochemical and morphological events, which evolve more slowly but are more persistent (Classen et al., 1998; Ugawa, 2012). Thus, both types of plasticity collectively guarantee the adaptability of the CNS.

Neuroplasticity has been incorporated into different models of MS disease progression (Krieger et al., 2016; Schoonheim et al., 2022; Schoonheim et al., 2010). Taken together, these models suggest that neuroplasticity serves as a protective factor against clinical disability arising from structural damage. According to these models, disability accumulation occurs when structural damage exceeds the compensatory capacity of neuroplasticity, which is limited and varies among individuals. As neuroplasticity can (temporarily) 'silence' the clinical consequences of lesions, it may help to understand the 'clinico-radiological paradox' in MS, which is crucial for optimizing patient management and treatment decisions.

Figure 2 illustrates the key aspects of neuroplasticity in the context of the pathophysiological mechanisms in patients with MS.



Figure 2. Neuroplasticity in relation to the pathophysiological mechanisms of MS.

Note. Neuroplasticity can be compared to a backup reservoir capable of preventing the effects of inflammation and axonal loss from surpassing a theoretical clinical threshold. Once this threshold is breached, symptoms manifest. Neuroplasticity wanes as inflammation and axonal loss intensify, and if it's depleted, further brain tissue loss and inflammation directly translate into clinical disability. Patients with RRMS experience periods of clinical stability, whereas those with SPMS experience a progressive increase in disability over time. Adapted from Krieger et al. (2016), Schoonheim et al. (2010), and Compston and Coles (2002).

Whereas neuroplasticity broadly refers to the brain's overall capacity to change and adapt, cortical plasticity specifically refers to adaptive changes in the cerebral cortex, i.e., the outermost layer of the cerebrum. It is, thus, a subset of neuroplasticity, and has been the target of most studies of neuroplasticity in humans due to its exposed and thus accessible location (Groppa et al., 2012; Jannati et al., 2023) (more details on the assessment of cortical plasticity are provided in chapter *1.5.2. Evaluating synaptic plasticity using rTMS*). One of the early-phase events of neuroplasticity is synaptic plasticity (Matsumoto & Ugawa, 2020), which will be explained in more detail in the following section.

1.5. Synaptic plasticity

Synaptic plasticity refers to activity-dependent alterations in the strength of synaptic connections (Magee & Grienberger, 2020), i.e. the effectiveness of the influence of the presynaptic on the postsynaptic neuron (Murthy, 1998). Although more complex mechanisms seem to be involved as well (Magee & Grienberger, 2020), the basic principles of activity-dependent synaptic changes have been described in Hebb's learning rules. According to Hebb (1949), the synaptic connection between two neurons is strengthened if one neuron consistently contributes to the activity of the other. By linking input and output patterns, the

output pattern may even be evoked if only fragments of the input pattern are present (Magee & Grienberger, 2020). First described in the hippocampus of rabbits (Bliss & Gardner-Medwin, 1973; Bliss & Lomo, 1973), an increase in the synaptic strength after repetitive high-frequency stimulation became known as LTP. Its counterpart, LTD, was revealed by Dudek and Bear (1992) by testing the theoretical prediction of the Bienenstock-Cooper-Munro rule (BCM) (Bienenstock et al., 1982). According to the BCM, each neuron possesses a critical synaptic modification threshold, determining whether LTP or LTD is induced. If excitatory synaptic inputs consistently yield postsynaptic responses greater than the modification threshold, these inputs are potentiated. If they consistently yield postsynaptic responses below the threshold, thus failing to activate the postsynaptic neuron, they are depressed (Bienenstock et al., 1982). Indeed, Dudek and Bear (1992) showed that low-frequency presynaptic stimulation depressed postsynaptic activity.

1.5.1. Metaplasticity

As described above, the modification threshold determines whether activation of an excitatory input leads to LTP or LTD. Importantly, the threshold is dynamically adjusted based on the average postsynaptic activity. The higher the prolonged preceding activity, the higher the threshold, preventing further LTP but facilitating LTD. In turn, low levels of postsynaptic activity decrease the threshold, thus increasing the chances for LTP and preventing further LTD (Bienenstock et al., 1982). These changes in the ability to undergo subsequent LTP and LTD have been termed metaplasticity and may protect against excitotoxicity (Abraham & Bear, 1996). The fundamental components of metaplasticity are postulated to encompass changes in synaptic strength and neurotransmitter release (Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004), neuromodulatory systems (Meunier et al., 2017), signaling pathways (Kelleher et al., 2004) and the activity of microglia and immune molecules (Wu et al., 2015). However, our understanding of the precise mechanisms governing metaplasticity remains limited (Cantone et al., 2021), with a detailed exploration falling beyond the scope of this thesis.

1.5.2. Evaluating synaptic plasticity using rTMS

LTP and LTD can not only be induced endogenously through repeated experiences and exercises, but also through external stimulation. RTMS is one of the most utilized noninvasive brain stimulation techniques to modulate cortical excitability by inducing effects similar to LTP and LTD (Antal et al., 2022). It is based on transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), which was introduced by Barker et al. (1985) as a pain-free alternative to transcranial electrical stimulation of the human motor cortex. While transcranial electrical stimulation directly induces an electrical current to the scalp using electrodes, TMS is based on electromagnetic induction (Barker et al., 1985).

A transducing coil is placed tangentially to the scalp and attached to a high-voltage (400 V-3 kV), high-current (4 kA-20 kA) discharge system (Jalinous, 1991). A discharge of the system induces an electric current within the coil, which induces a strong but short-lasting magnetic field on the scalp (1-2.5 tesla for ≤1 ms). The magnetic field penetrates the skull and dura and generates an electrical field within the cortex (Groppa et al., 2012; Neva et al., 2020). The resultant current flow can activate neurons by causing action potentials (Siebner et al., 2022). However, the direct neural response to the induced electric field is complex, involving a cascade of high-frequency synaptic activity, depending on numerous factors, e.g. the orientation of the axon relative to the electric field, the magnitude of the electric field, the stimulation intensity, and the pulse waveform (mono- or biphasic) (Siebner et al., 2022). For both waveforms, the induced current flow in one direction (positive or negative) is always counterbalanced by an equal flow of current in the opposite direction (Groppa et al., 2012). In monophasic TMS, the natural oscillation of the current flow between capacitor and coil is dampened (Wendt et al., 2023). Only the initial phase of the pulse induces a strong current flow to stimulate neurons, whereas the dampened return current is insufficient for neuronal activation. In contrast, biphasic TMS allows energy to oscillate between the capacitor and coil without attenuation, resulting in a polarity switch of the induced current. Both the initial and the reversed current are strong enough to stimulate neurons, but the second is stronger, longer and stimulates different neural elements than the initial one (Groppa et al., 2012). Thus, monophasic TMS presumably stimulates neurons more selectively than biphasic TMS, which induces a more complex pattern of activation (Di Lazzaro et al., 2001).

The intensity of the induced current diminishes proportionally with the square root of the distance from the coil to a depth of up to 1/coil diameter. Thus, cortical regions directly below the coil as well as more distant neurons are affected through transsynaptic interactions (Antal et al., 2022). Consequently, TMS does not exclusively excites one specific but multiple neuronal structures. However, the spatial relationship with the induced electric field, and therefore susceptibility to stimulation, is different for each structure (Siebner et al., 2022).

Depth, precision and focality of the simulation are closely tied to the shape of the inducing coil. Figure-of-eight coils excel in providing focal stimulation, while circular coils are better suited for broader and deeper stimulation (Groppa et al., 2012). Nonetheless, the depth penetration of TMS is limited due to the attenuation of the induced electromagnetic field, and neurons within deep cortical structures (e.g. the thalamus) cannot be excited using TMS. In contrast, TMS is well suited to stimulate cortical areas located close to the induced electromagnetic field at the hemispherical surface, such as the primary motor cortex (M1) (Groppa et al., 2012). When TMS is applied to M1 with intensities sufficient to evoke action potentials, transsynaptic activation spreads along the corticospinal tract, triggering a response in the target muscle (Groppa et al., 2012; Neva et al., 2020). Using surface electromyography

(EMG), the induced muscle response can be recorded, which is called motor evoked potential (MEP). Typically, the TMS-evoked amplitude of the MEP is used to operationalize corticospinal excitability (Klomjai et al., 2015). The MEP also represents a positive control of successful stimulation and allows individual adjustment of the stimulation site and intensity, which is an advantage compared to stimulation of other brain areas (Cooke & Bliss, 2006). The mechanisms of TMS of the M1 and the typical MEP waveform are displayed in *Figure 3*.





Note. Tangential application of the TMS coil over M1 induces a magnetic field that passes through the skull and dura and causes an electric field within the cortex in the opposite direction. This activates cortical interneurons, which synapse on pyramidal neurons, in turn synapsing on spinal motor neurons. A peripheral nerve transmits the signal to the target muscle in the contralateral side. Muscle activation in the target muscle can be recorded via EMG. The amplified EMG signal is displayed on a computer screen for quantification of MEP amplitude and CML. Directly following MEP induction, voluntary EMG activity is suppressed, which is referred to as 'cortical silent period' (CSP). Adapted from Neva et al. (2020), Klomjai et al. (2015), Groppa et al. (2012), and Numssen et al. (2021).

While TMS is typically used to assess corticospinal excitability (Groppa et al., 2012), rTMS can be used to modulate it (Neva et al., 2020), emulating LTP and LTD-like mechanisms through repetitive single-pulse application on the same brain region (Antal et al., 2022). In M1, experience-dependent neuroplasticity is typically assessed by measuring the change in the peak-to-peak MEP amplitude after applying a plasticity-inducing protocol (Jannati et al., 2023).

Various rTMS protocols can lead to persistent changes in cortical excitability, depending on factors such as intensity, frequency, and number of stimuli applied, with frequency playing a crucial role. High-frequency rTMS protocols (≥5 Hz) have been shown to produce LTP-like plasticity, whereas low-frequency rTMS protocols (<5 Hz) induce plasticity similar to LTD (Ziemann et al., 2008). In line with the greater selectivity of monophasic over biphasic TMS (Di Lazzaro et al., 2001), research indicates that the modulation of cortical excitability is stronger using monophasic compared to biphasic rTMS (Arai et al., 2007; Nakamura et al., 2016; Sommer et al., 2002; Taylor & Loo, 2007). Biphasic pulses may activate a wide range of interneurons, potentially resulting in a balancing of inhibitory and facilitatory effects among them. Monophasic pulses on the other hand may allow for a more effective summation of synaptic efficacy (Nakamura et al., 2016). Consistent with the BCM, both suppression of LTP and enhancement of LTD after priming with high-frequency stimulation, suggestive of metaplasticity, have been observed using different rTMS protocols (Hamada et al., 2003; Ragert et al., 2009).

In the following, one of the newest rTMS protocols will be described in more detail.

1.5.2.1. Quadripulse stimulation (QPS)

In QPS, four monophasic TMS pulses of the same intensity are applied as one burst from a single coil. One of these bursts is given every 5 sec for 30 min, resulting in a total of 360 bursts and 1,440 pulses (Hamada et al., 2007). High-frequency stimulation induces LTP-like effects, whereas low-frequency stimulation induces LTD-like effects, with preferred interstimulus intervals of 5ms (QPS-5) and 50ms, respectively (Matsumoto & Ugawa, 2020). Stimulation intensity is set at 90% of the active motor threshold, i.e., the minimum stimulation intensity required to induce a motor response in a contracted muscle (Hamada et al., 2007).

As described above, monophasic TMS is more powerful than biphasic TMS, as it activates more homogenous groups of neurons (Di Lazzaro et al., 2001) and its activated pathway of intervention matches the pathway of measurement (Huang et al., 2017). In line with this, monophasic QPS induces longer after-effects compared to biphasic QPS (Nakamura et al., 2016) and other rTMS protocols (Hamada et al., 2007). The lower intra- and inter-individual variability of its effects may represent an advantage of QPS over other rTMS protocols (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020). However, the responder

rate was only slightly higher compared to other protocols in one of these studies (Simeoni et al., 2016), calling for further investigation of the magnitude and consistency of this effect.

Importantly, QPS selectively modulates excitatory circuits (Hamada et al., 2008), which presumably play an important role in the pathophysiology of MS due to their neurotoxic effect (Kuzmina et al., 2020). In contrast, other excitatory TMS protocols also modulate inhibitory networks (Groiss et al., 2012; Hamada et al., 2008).

1.6. Synaptic plasticity in patients with MS

As outlined in the previous sections, neuroplasticity may be an important factor influencing MS disease progression, potentially explaining the 'clinico-radiological paradox' and differences between disease types. Synaptic plasticity is one of the earliest events in a cascade of functional and structural reorganization processes and is non-invasively assessable using rTMS. RTMS-induced plasticity may, therefore, be a promising biomarker of disease progression in patients with MS.

Despite promising results concerning the prognostic value of LTP-like plasticity in predicting dementia (Di Lorenzo et al., 2020), it has not yet been investigated in the context of MS disease progression. Only one study comparing LTP-like plasticity in patients with RRMS and PPMS indicated that lower levels of LTP-like plasticity may be associated with disease progression (Mori et al., 2013). Furthermore, few studies have compared the level of LTP- or LTD-like plasticity between patients with MS and HCs prior to this thesis. The results are summarized in *Table 1*.

Disease type	LTP-like		LTD-like	
	Altered	Normal	Altered	Normal
RRMS (stable)	Conte et al. (2016),	Zeller et al. (2010), Mori et al. (2013)	Mori et al. (2013)ª	Zeller et al. (2012)
RRMS (relapsing)			Wirsching et al. (2018)	
RRMS (mixed)			Mori, Nisticò, et al. (2014)	
PPMS	Mori et al. (2013)		Mori et al. (2013)	

Table 1. Summary of rTMS studies comparing synaptic plasticity between patients with MS and HCs.

Note. ^a Interpretation of altered plasticity is open to debate. The protocol has been described to induce either LTP or LTD-like effects in HCs. In this study, it induced LTP-like effects in RRMS patients but LTD-like effects in HCs.

In addition to the studies summarized in Table 1, a study exploring effects of treatments or cerebrospinal fluid markers on the degree of synaptic plasticity in patients with MS indicated

that the degree of plasticity is a relevant factor in MS (Mori et al., 2012). However, based on this study, potential differences between HCs and patients with MS, variations among patients with different disease types, and its prognostic significance remain unknown.

In the context of MS relapses, sustained LTP-like plasticity has been linked to clinical recovery. Patients with higher LTP-like plasticity during relapse showed better clinical recovery three months later compared to patients with lower plasticity levels (Mori, Kusayanagi, et al., 2014). Additionally, patients with gadolinium-enhancing lesions in brain imaging, suggestive of active inflammation, presented lower levels of LTP-like plasticity than patients without gadolinium-enhancing lesions (Mori et al., 2012). Conversely, no association between synaptic plasticity during relapse and clinical recovery was found when investigating LTD-like plasticity (Wirsching et al., 2018). Using this inhibitory protocol, LTP-like effects were observed during relapse but not during recovery three months later. This reversal in the induced plasticity direction may signify compensatory metaplastic effects during relapse (Wirsching et al., 2018). However, this remains speculative, as the LTD-inducing protocol did not induce any LTD-like effects in HCs and highly variable effects of this protocol have been described previously (López-Alonso et al., 2014; Strube et al., 2015).

Prior to this thesis, two studies suggested an association between cognitive impairment and lower levels of LTP-like plasticity (Mori et al., 2012; Mori et al., 2011). However, sample size (N=21) was rather low in one of these studies (Mori et al., 2011). In the other study, both LTP-like plasticity and cognitive performance improved after pharmacological treatment, but their association was not directly investigated (Mori et al., 2012).

Collectively, these studies propose that rTMS-induced plasticity holds promise as a tool to elucidate the 'clinico-radiological paradox' and may serve as a biomarker of disease progression. However, they are constrained by the high variability and substantial non-responder rates associated with the implemented rTMS protocols (Guerra et al., 2017), which may also account for the conflicting results among studies.

1.7. Aim of this thesis

As outlined in the preceding chapter, research on rTMS-induced plasticity in patients with MS is scarce and revealed inconclusive results. Therefore, the aim of this thesis was to evaluate synaptic plasticity using QPS, potentially inducing plasticity more effectively with reduced variability compared to previous protocols (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020). Due to its selective modulation of the excitatory glutamatergic network and given the presumed significance of this network in MS pathophysiology (Hamada et al., 2008; Kuzmina et al., 2020), QPS may be better suited to measure synaptic plasticity in MS than other rTMS protocols.

Prior research predominantly focused on individuals with RRMS, with minimal investigation into patients with PMS, apart from a single study which examined only 12 patients with PPMS (Mori et al., 2013). Although some studies evaluated the prognostic value of rTMS during acute relapse for clinical recovery (Mori et al., 2012; Mori, Kusayanagi, et al., 2014; Wirsching et al., 2018), the prognostic value of synaptic plasticity regarding disease progression has not yet been investigated longitudinally.

In the four studies composing this thesis, neuropsychological and electrophysiological experiments were conducted to explore the link between QPS-induced plasticity and motor and cognitive functions, both cross-sectionally and longitudinally. The primary aim was to investigate QPS-induced plasticity as a potential biomarker for predicting disease progression. The following chapters outline the objectives, hypotheses, and key findings of each study.

2. Studies included in this thesis

This thesis is based on the following studies:

Study 1: <u>Balloff, C.,¹</u> Penner, I.-K.,¹ Ma, M., Georgiades, I., Scala, L., Troullinakis, N., Graf, J., Kremer, D., Aktas, O., Hartung, H.-P., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Groiss, S.J.,² & Albrecht, P.² (2022). The degree of cortical plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Brain Stimulation, 15*(2), 403–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007

Study 2: <u>Balloff, C.,</u> Novello, S., Stucke, A.-S., Janssen, L.K., Heinen, E., Hartmann, C.J., Meuth, S.G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.², Albrecht, P.², & Groiss, S.J.² (2023). Long-term potentiation-like plasticity is retained during relapse in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *155*, 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.07.013

Study 3: <u>Balloff, C.,¹</u> Albrecht, P.,¹ Stucke, A.-S., Scala, L., Novello, S., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.,² & Groiss, S.J.² (2023). The importance of pyramidal tract integrity for cortical plasticity and related functionality in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology, 14,* Article 1266225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

Study 4: <u>Balloff, C.</u>, Janssen, L.K., S., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S.G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.,² & Albrecht, P.² (2024). *Predictive value of synaptic plasticity for functional decline in patients with multiple sclerosis* [Manuscript submitted for publication].

¹ Shared first authorship.

² Shared last authorship.

The experimental design, methods, as well as the results of each study are detailed in the attached articles (appendix B). Consequently, the following sections will offer only concise summaries. All studies focused on synaptic plasticity measured at M1, which was operationalized as MEP amplitude change at the relaxed first dorsal interosseous muscle of the right hand following QPS-5 using a figure-of-eight coil.

2.1. Study 1 – Synaptic plasticity in RRMS and its association with cognitive performance

The objectives of the first study were 1) to explore the correlations between QPSinduced plasticity and performance in two frequently affected cognitive domains, namely IPS and visuospatial short-term learning and memory (Chiaravalloti et al., 2013; Deluca et al., 2004; Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008) in patients with RRMS and HCs, and 2) to compare the degree of plasticity between both groups. The hypotheses were: a) positive correlations between the degree of QPS-induced plasticity and cognitive performance, and b) reduced plasticity in RRMS patients compared to HCs.

In line with hypothesis a), better performances on the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT; Smith (1982)), measuring IPS, and the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT-R; Benedict (1997)) measuring visuospatial short-term learning and memory, were associated with higher levels of plasticity in 63 patients with RRMS. Both associations retained significance after controlling for potential confounding factors, such as the MEP latency, presumably representing, at least partially, the integrity of the corticospinal tract. Further, plasticity was significantly reduced in patients with cognitive impairment compared to those with preserved cognitive function, and the extent of plasticity served as a distinguishing factor between these two patient groups. Exploratory analysis revealed negative correlations of QPS-induced plasticity with MEP latency, age, and the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS; Kurtzke (1983)).

The overall RRMS patient cohort did not exhibit diminished plasticity when compared to HCs (n=55), refuting hypothesis b). No association between any functional outcome and the degree of QPS-induced plasticity was observed in HCs (Balloff et al., 2022).

2.2. Study 2 – Synaptic plasticity during acute relapses

The objectives of the second study were 1) to examine QPS-induced plasticity in patients with MS during acute relapses compared to stable MS patients and HCs, and 2) to assess its functional significance. For the first objective, no specific hypothesis was posited regarding the direction of a potential group difference due to ambiguous previous research findings. For the second objective, it was anticipated that individuals with complete recovery would exhibit higher levels of QPS-induced plasticity compared to those with partial recovery,

and conversely, individuals with no recovery would present lower levels of plasticity compared to those with partial recovery.

Synaptic plasticity was induced by QPS-5 in all groups, and its degree did not differ significantly between acute relapsing MS patients, stable MS patients, and HCs (n=18 per group). Most patients showed at least partial symptom recovery three months after relapse, while only three patients experienced complete recovery and another three patients showed no recovery at all. Therefore, the functional relevance of baseline synaptic plasticity for recovery (objective 2) could not be analyzed. Exploratory analysis revealed that relapsing patients with motor disability exhibited significantly higher plasticity than those without motor disability (Balloff, Novello, et al., 2023).

2.3. Study 3 – Synaptic plasticity in PMS and its association with motor performance

The objectives of the third study were 1) to compare QPS-induced plasticity levels among different MS subtypes and HCs, and 2) to explore the association between plasticity levels and motor and cognitive functions. Considering results from study 1, the hypotheses were: a) reduced plasticity in patients with PMS but not RRMS compared to HCs, and b) positive correlations between the degree of QPS-induced plasticity and cognitive and motor performance in patients with MS, irrespective of the disease type.

Contradicting hypothesis a), no significant differences were found in QPS-induced cortical plasticity between 34 patients with PMS, 30 matched HCs, and 30 matched patients with RRMS. Regarding hypothesis b), no correlations with functional outcomes were revealed for patients with PMS. Exploratory analyses revealed that correlations between induced plasticity and both motor and cognitive functions were observed only in patients with intact corticospinal tract integrity and that QPS-induced plasticity was significantly reduced in patients with damaged corticospinal tract integrity compared to those with intact tracts (Balloff, Albrecht, et al., 2023).

2.4. Study 4 – Prognostic value of synaptic plasticity for disease progression

The fourth study was conducted to elucidate the functional relevance of synaptic plasticity over time. Synaptic plasticity was assessed in a cohort of 80 patients with MS (56 RRMS, 24 PMS), and 69 matched HCs. Annual clinical follow-ups spanning up to five years, with a median follow-up period of two years, were conducted.

The hypotheses were as follows: a) patients with lower baseline plasticity levels experience greater disease progression, defined as functional decline in motor and/or cognitive function and/or progression in EDSS, compared to those with higher baseline plasticity levels. Initially, the second objective of the study was to analyze QPS-induced plasticity changes over time with the hypothesis that b) QPS-induced plasticity diminishes

more rapidly in patients with MS than HCs. However, analyses of hypothesis b) were precluded due to cancellation of annual QPS-5 assessments because of technical defects and the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.

In line with hypothesis a), patients experiencing functional decline in manual dexterity and/or visuospatial learning and memory presented with significantly lower levels of baseline plasticity compared to those without clinically relevant decline in these functions. This association became apparent only when employing linear-mixed-effects models (LMEM) for manual dexterity. For visuospatial learning and memory, receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) analysis underscored the predictive utility of baseline plasticity to differentiate between patients with and without clinically relevant decline at latest follow-up. Cox proportionalhazards models, wherein patients were stratified into low and high baseline plasticity groups through a median split, as well as logistic regression analysis, failed to reveal significant differences between these groups. No significant associations between baseline plasticity and decline in IPS, EDSS, or lower extremity function were found, contradicting hypothesis a).

On average, the patient cohort exhibited no clinically relevant change in any functional outcome over time. Moreover, a comparable number of patients experienced both clinically significant improvement and decline over the observed period, and performance in both the patient group and HCs varied significantly across time points (Balloff et al., 2024).

3. Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to investigate synaptic plasticity using a newer protocol of rTMS-induced plasticity, namely QPS, with presumably lower inter- and intra-individual variability than previously used protocols (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020). In the following, the main findings of the four studies included in this thesis will be summarized and put in perspective with the literature. Emphasis will be placed on scrutinizing strengths and limitations with particular attention directed towards the variability of rTMS effects, plasticity mechanisms beyond LTP-like phenomena at M1, additional factors impacting disease progression beyond neuroplasticity, unforeseen circumstances encountered throughout the study, and recommendations for future research endeavors.

3.1. Summary and interpretation of the results

The first study demonstrated that higher levels of QPS-induced plasticity are associated with better cognitive function in patients with RRMS. This aligns with previous research reporting differences in LTP induced by theta burst stimulation (TBS) between cognitively preserved and cognitively impaired MS patients, alongside concurrent improvement in intermittent TBS and cognitive performance (Mori et al., 2012; Mori et al., 2011).

Additionally, no differences were observed in the global level of QPS-induced plasticity compared to HCs (Balloff et al., 2022). This finding is consistent with prior studies indicating preserved TMS-induced plasticity using other rTMS protocols (Mori et al., 2013; Zeller et al., 2010), but contradicts another study reporting reduced plasticity in patients with MS (Conte et al., 2016). During this thesis, two additional studies utilizing intermittent TBS have emerged, reporting altered LTP-like plasticity in stable RRMS patients (Baione et al., 2020; Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2023).

Studies using different rTMS protocols are hardly comparable. Yet, our finding of reduced LTP-like plasticity in patients with cognitive impairment suggests that reduced plasticity in other studies could be attributed to cognitive impairment within these cohorts. Indeed, the cohort studied by Conte et al. (2016) performed worse on the SDMT than our cohort, which could account for the divergent results. Unfortunately, no cognitive data were presented in the other two studies reporting altered LTP-like plasticity (Baione et al., 2020; Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2023). Therefore, it remains speculative whether cognitive impairment might explain the different results regarding LTP-like plasticity in stable RRMS.

Although the first study presented initial evidence that QPS-induced plasticity may be of functional relevance, the results were limited to RRMS patients in the remitting phase of the disease and cognitive decline, which is only one of several possible symptoms associated with MS. However, exploratory analysis revealed a negative correlation of QPS-induced plasticity with the EDSS, suggesting that high levels of QPS-induced plasticity are not only associated with better cognitive performance but also lower levels of disability. This indicates that QPSinduced plasticity may be relevant for the clinical status beyond cognition (Balloff et al., 2022).

The second study was conducted to examine QPS-induced plasticity in MS patients during acute relapses compared to stable MS patients and HCs. Additionally, it sought to evaluate its functional relevance for clinical recovery. It was revealed that QPS-induced synaptic plasticity persists during acute MS relapses, and subgroup analyses suggested that stabilizing metaplastic mechanisms may be crucial in preventing motor disability. However, the sample size was rather small requiring further verification of these findings in larger studies. Furthermore, one of the research questions, namely the functional relevance of plasticity for clinical recovery, could not be addressed due to insufficient numbers of patients experiencing null or complete recovery three months after relapse (Balloff, Novello, et al., 2023).

Given that only 33% of relapsing patients presented cognitive impairment in the second study, the first study's observation of preserved plasticity in stable RRMS patients without cognitive impairment may be extended to relapsing RRMS patients without cognitive impairment. However, it has been discussed that increased levels of pro-inflammatory mediators may influence synaptic plasticity (Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2022), potentially promoting hyperexcitability during relapses (Mandolesi et al., 2012; Rossi et al., 2011). Indeed,

hyperexcitability during relapse may have occurred in study 2, given that most relapsing patients had undergone glucocorticoid treatment prior or during study participation and glucocorticoids have been described to suppress LTP (Brandner et al., 2022; Dinse et al., 2017; Park et al., 2015).

A potentially significant role of the concept of metaplasticity during MS relapses is supported by previous research. Unfortunately, detailed information on the functional system scores of relapsing patients presenting with reversed effects of an LTD protocol in a previous study were not disclosed (Wirsching et al., 2018). However, considering the reported EDSS median of 2.0 and predominant relapse symptoms (only n=1 with motor symptoms), this cohort appears comparable to the subgroup of patients without motor disability in study 2. In summary, both studies suggest that stabilizing metaplastic mechanisms may be crucial to prevent clinical (motor) disability during relapse, with synaptic plasticity itself potentially playing a secondary role. However, in another study using a paired associative simulation protocol with an interstimulus interval of 25ms (PAS 25), rTMS-induced plasticity was revealed as an independent predictor of recovery three months after relapse (Mori, Kusayanagi, et al., 2014). Therefore, more research is needed to understand the relevance of synaptic plasticity and metaplasticity for clinical recovery after MS relapses.

The third study was conducted to compare QPS-induced plasticity levels among different MS subtypes and HCs, and to explore the association between plasticity levels and motor and cognitive functions. The results suggest that MEP latency, representing the integrity of the corticospinal tract (Neva et al., 2016), should be considered when examining cortical plasticity in patients with MS, while the MS disease course may be secondary. Although study 1 had revealed a negative association of QPS-induced plasticity with MEP latency, the association between QPS-induced plasticity and cognitive performance remained significant after controlling for MEP latency. Therefore, based on the first study, the importance of the corticospinal tract integrity revealed in study 3, was not expected (Balloff et al., 2022).

The fact that patients of all disease types presented with preserved plasticity compared to HCs contrasts with the assumption that the progressive phase of the disease is marked by an insufficient compensatory reserve to counteract the adverse effects of inflammation and neurodegeneration (Antel et al., 2012). It also seems to contradict the results of a previous study reporting lower levels of LTP-like plasticity in patients with PPMS compared to RRMS (Mori et al., 2013). However, in this study, patients with PPMS exhibited significantly higher MEP latency, indicating involvement of the corticospinal tract in this subgroup. Given the significance of the corticospinal tract suggested in study 3, it is plausible that low levels of LTP-like plasticity in patients with PPMS in the previous study might have been driven by corticospinal tract involvement rather than the specific type of MS. Additionally, intermittent and continuous TBS have been described to yield more variable effects in comparison to QPS

(Guerra et al., 2017; Nakamura et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020) and the previous study was conducted on only n=12 patients with PPMS. Considering both the limited sample size and high variability of the implemented protocol, the significant main effect may not represent a systematic difference in the degree of plasticity between disease types but rather an unsystematic effect of measurement variability.

Another study investigating LTP-like plasticity in patients with PMS using a PAS 25 protocol has been published during this thesis, reporting reduced LTP-like plasticity compared to HCs (Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2023). The sample size (n=18) was smaller than in our study (n=34) and motor impairment appeared to be more pronounced, as indicated by longer average completion times for the nine-hole peg test and timed 25-foot walk test compared to our cohort (30 sec and 20 sec vs. 25 sec and 6 sec). This may explain the divergent result compared to study 3.

In summary, the first three studies indicate that QPS-induced plasticity is preserved in patients with MS, regardless of the disease type. Furthermore, it seems to be of functional relevance in patients with intact corticospinal tract. However, these studies were conducted cross-sectionally, precluding any inference of a causal relationship between QPS-induced plasticity and functional parameters. To longitudinally assess the functional relevance of QPS-induced plasticity, the fourth study was conducted.

The degree of baseline plasticity was associated with clinically relevant decline in manual dexterity as well as visuospatial learning and memory over a median follow-up time of two years only when analyzed using LMEM. ROC-analysis also indicated a predictive value of baseline plasticity for detecting subsequent functional decline in visuospatial learning and memory, but not for decline in any other outcome (Balloff et al., 2024). Using LMEM, the baseline level of synaptic plasticity was compared between patients with and without clinically relevant decline, accounting for individual variations in the increase of MEP amplitude following QPS via a random slope. None of the other statistical approaches considered inter-individual variations, which may explain the differing results. Cox proportional-hazards models did not only assess whether but also when an event, i.e. clinically relevant functional decline, occurred. However, due to the relatively small number and short period of follow-ups in this study, the variability in the timing of events was constrained. Furthermore, the limited number of patients experiencing clinically relevant functional decline may have introduced statistical artifacts.

Notably, the patient cohort was, on average, clinically stable throughout the follow-up period. Although some patients experienced clinically relevant functional decline, a comparable number of patients significantly improved. This finding aligns with previous studies showing that both cognitive and physical disability progression occur slowly and vary greatly among individuals. In a study with a five-year follow-up period, cognitive decline was observed in 28%, with more PMS compared to RRMS patients affected (Eijlers et al., 2018). Even in a

study with a follow-up period of 10 years, neither relevant cognitive nor physical disability changes were observed on the group level, with only 24% of the patients experiencing cognitive decline (Pinter et al., 2021). However, depending on the study design, drop-out rate, and baseline characteristics, higher (49%-62%) as well as lower rates (10%) of cognitive decline have been described for the same follow-up period as well (Carotenuto, Costabile, et al., 2022; Damasceno et al., 2020; Katsari et al., 2020).

Reserve mechanisms may only be activated specifically when pathology demands compensatory responses (Sumowski & Leavitt, 2013). This is supported by study 1 and study 3, which both revealed no correlation between QPS-induced plasticity and any functional parameter in HCs. Consequently, the clinical relevance of neuroplasticity in study 4 might have been limited by minimal disease-related activity requiring compensation. However, this interpretation remains speculative given the lack of indicators of disease activity beyond clinical outcomes in study 4.

Interestingly, another study published during this thesis supports the relevance of LTPlike plasticity for manual dexterity. Stampanoni Bassi et al. (2023) reported significant positive correlations between baseline LTP-like plasticity and improvement in the nine-hole peg test after eight weeks of physical therapy in patients with PMS. Although the design of this study is hardly comparable to study 4, both studies indicate that reduced levels of LTP-like plasticity at M1 may correlate with poorer manual dexterity outcomes.

In the following sections, strengths and limitations of the studies composing this thesis will be discussed and recommendations for future research will be provided.

3.2. Strengths and limitations of the studies

The primary strength of these studies resides in their methodological approach. Prior to this thesis, the QPS protocol had never been applied to patients with MS, yielding for an assessment of its usefulness in this group of patients. Utilizing this protocol to evaluate synaptic plasticity in MS patients may offer increased reliability compared to previously employed rTMS paradigms (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020). This enhanced reliability may be attributed to the QPS protocol's specificity in selectively influencing excitatory networks (Hamada et al., 2008), which have been identified as pivotal in MS pathology (Groom et al., 2003; Kuzmina et al., 2020; Schirmer et al., 2019). Additionally, prior to this thesis, rTMS experiments conducted in patients with MS had not been analyzed using LMEM, further underscoring the novelty and rigor of this thesis.

Furthermore, except for study 2, the sample sizes of the studies greatly exceeded those of previous investigations. This increase in sample size substantially enhances the robustness and reliability of the findings. Clinical characteristics and their effects on the measure of plasticity were analyzed in detail, potentially limiting confounding effects and improving

comparability with other studies. Lastly, patients with additional neurological or psychiatric diseases were excluded from the studies to further limit the influence of confounding factors.

Despite these strengths, there are some important limitations which need to be considered. Due to the similar clinical and pathophysiological presentation (Lassmann, 2018), patients with PPMS and SPMS were summarized to one group of PMS to increase statistical power. However, there are also substantial differences between both disease types (Antel et al., 2012; Lassmann, 2018). Exploratory analysis did not reveal any differences across groups in study 3 but may have been underpowered due to the small sample size per subgroup (n=14 PPMS patients, n=20 SPMS patients).

Due to the time-consuming method of TMS-stimulation, the Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS was limited to the SDMT and BVMT-R, excluding verbal learning and memory assessment. This two-test combination is recommended in time-restricted settings due to its high sensitivity to detect cognitive impairment (Baetge et al., 2020) and the high relevance of these cognitive functions for daily living (Campbell et al., 2017). However, assessment of verbal learning and memory could have added important information, as recent evidence suggests that cognitive disability progression primarily occurs in this domain (Katsari et al., 2020). Furthermore, other functional outcomes, e.g. working ability, and executive functioning may be important to explore in future studies as well.

Practice effects, characterized by increases in test scores due to prior exposure to the same or similar neuropsychological measure (Heilbronner et al., 2010), are frequently observed in neuropsychological testing. To mitigate this issue, we utilized alternate forms of the BVMT-R in annual follow-ups. However, identical test materials represent only one facet contributing to practice effects. Other factors include familiarity with the testing environment, procedural learning, regression to the mean, and test sophistication (Bartels et al., 2010). Due to the absence of normative data for alternate forms, the same version of the SDMT was used consistently. In general, practice effects diminish with longer re-test intervals and manifest differently in clinical compared to non-clinical populations (Calamia et al., 2012). The effect of the re-test interval has recently been confirmed in patients with MS. Fuchs et al. (2022) reported that repeated administrations of identical SDMT forms were predictive of enhanced performance, particularly when the time intervals between tests was <2 years. It has, therefore, been suggested that maintaining an unchanged SDMT score through the fifth annual assessment using the same form indicates impairment (Fuchs et al., 2022). Given the recency and unknown clinical relevance of this finding, we decided to use established cut-offs of clinically meaningful change. However, for the SDMT, the threshold of ≥8 points was derived from a study employing a longer re-test interval and less frequent neuropsychological testing compared to our study (Weinstock et al., 2021). Conversely, BVMT-R thresholds stemmed from studies involving shorter intervals of two to four weeks (Benedict et al., 2012).

Furthermore, the considerable number of HCs presenting clinically relevant cognitive decline/improvement according to these thresholds suggests that the established thresholds for reliable change on neuropsychological tests may require adjustment. In summary, clinically relevant cognitive decline may not have been accurately detected in study 4.

Although the EDSS represents an internationally accepted instrument, several aspects have been criticized, e.g. its reliability, sensitivity to change, and ordinal scale level (please refer to Meyer-Moock et al. (2014) for a comprehensive literature review on the validity of the EDSS). Consistent with this, the proportion of patients with clinically relevant decline in EDSS scores in study 4 was nearly equivalent to those demonstrating clinically relevant improvement (24% vs. 19%). This aligns with previous data reporting 21% of patients experiencing improvement compared to 25% worsening over a span of five years (Giovannoni et al., 2021).

Given the considerable diversity in stimulation protocols, target muscles, and study populations, varying recommendations exist for the number of averaged trials required to ensure reliable assessments of MEPs (Bashir et al., 2017; Biabani et al., 2018; Cavaleri et al., 2017; Goldsworthy et al., 2016). In all studies incorporated in this thesis, 12 MEPs were averaged to uphold a streamlined protocol, avoid participant fatigue and fluctuations of attention within the experiment. Nonetheless, it is essential to acknowledge that this number of averaged MEPs falls at the lower end of the recommended spectrum and that increasing the number of averaged MEPs might have enhanced the reliability of our findings.

Lastly, the absence of imaging data prevented the analysis of how (sub)cortical lesions might have affected MEP latencies. Possibly, prolonged MEP latencies were not only the result of impaired corticospinal tracts but also of abnormalities in the motor cortex. Furthermore, the level of underlying disease-activity remained unknown.

In the following, the most complex limitations will be discussed in more detail.

3.2.1. Variability of rTMS effects

Inter-individual variability of rTMS protocols is an important limitation of this method. Low expected responder rates, i.e. patients showing the expected increase/decrease of MEP amplitude, have been particularly described for other rTMS protocols than QPS, i.e. intermittent and continuous TBS, and PAS 25 (Hamada et al., 2013; Lahr et al., 2016; López-Alonso et al., 2014). Studies comparing QPS with these protocols are rare but indicate lower inter- and intra-individual variability of QPS (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016). Nonetheless, the effect of QPS has been described to be influenced by voluntary movement of the target muscle following QPS intervention (Kadowaki et al., 2016), as well as caffeine intake (Hanajima et al., 2019). Further factors described to impact the effects of other rTMS protocols, e.g. age, attention, sex, genetics, aerobic exercise, pharmacological influences, and time of day (Ridding & Ziemann, 2010) may influence the effects of QPS as well. Most of these

factors, e.g. age, sex, and pharmacological influences, were controlled for in our studies. In all experiments, attention was aimed to be held at a constant level to reduce variation in the outcome by instructing the participants to count the number of stimuli. However, this task requires only small levels of attention, and it was not tested throughout the experiment. Other researchers incorporated more complex tasks requiring attention (Wirsching et al., 2018), thus potentially ensuring higher levels of attention throughout the experiment.

Fatigue is a common symptom of MS (Oliva Ramirez et al., 2021), which may have further contributed to fluctuating levels of attention (Hanken et al., 2015). In study 1, both cognitively impaired and non-impaired MS patients reported comparable levels of fatigue, yet their plasticity levels differed. This indicates that the relationship between QPS-induced plasticity and cognitive performance remained unaffected by fatigue. Additionally, the overall patient group exhibited similar levels of plasticity compared to HCs, although half of the patients experienced at least moderate fatigue. However, fatigue was operationalized using a fatigue questionnaire measuring trait fatigue instead of the level of fatigue during the experiment. Therefore, patients with low scores on the fatigue scale might have still experienced severe fatigue during the experiment and vice versa.

Patients were excluded from the studies if they were using dextromethorphan or any illegal drugs, given their well-documented impact on synaptic plasticity measures (Ridding & Ziemann, 2010). There may, however, be other substances not controlled for in our experiments, e.g. baclofen (McDonnell et al., 2007) and nicotine (Swayne et al., 2009), influencing QPS-induced plasticity. Further, some factors may interact with each other (Ridding & Ziemann, 2010).

Sleep may have influenced not only LTP, but also the functional outcomes in the studies, i.e. cognitive and motor performance (Al-Sharman et al., 2021; Braley et al., 2016). Since this factor was not controlled in any of the studies incorporated in this thesis, random noise not associated with plasticity may have been induced.

Importantly, studies regarding the inter-individual variability of QPS are based on HCs only. However, factors contributing to the variability of QPS may be particularly important in patients with MS, as neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration may increase inter- as well as intra-individual variability compared to HCs (Huang et al., 2017). For instance, research has indicated that pro-inflammatory mediators can impact synaptic functioning and plasticity, potentially promoting hyperexcitability (Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2022). Furthermore, individuals with MS were on various disease-modifying therapies and symptomatic medications, potentially influencing cortical excitability. Notably, stabilizing effects of disease-modifying therapies on cortical excitability have been reported in patients with PMS (Ayache et al., 2015).

Reports on the variability and reliability of QPS are limited to the same Japanese research group and one laboratory in the UK. Although the efficacy of QPS-5 was still reported to be higher compared to that of other rTMS protocols, the UK laboratory reported lower expected responder rates than the Japanese laboratories (Nakamura et al., 2016; Simeoni et al., 2016; Tiksnadi et al., 2020). Therefore, potentially confounding effects of ethnicity and/or genotype cannot be excluded and confirmation of the efficacy of QPS in other laboratories is needed (Matsumoto & Ugawa, 2020). While this lies beyond the scope of this thesis, the data gathered from HCs throughout the studies may prove valuable for such endeavors in the future.

Lastly, rTMS was applied using a hand-held coil and the motor hot spot was determined manually. Despite the well-trained staff, minor variations in coil position during the experiment and/or suboptimal spatial precision in motor hot spot determination may have occurred. This is critical given that even minor variations in coil placement on the skull can result in changes to the cortical area being stimulated (Richter et al., 2013). However, the gold standard to improve spatial precision and constant coil position, namely neuro navigated TMS, requires individual MRI data (Jannati et al., 2023). Given the extensive study protocol, adding a time-and resource-intensive MRI assessment did not seem feasible.

In addition to these 'external' factors influencing the effects of QPS-5, the activity of the stimulated cortex at the time of stimulation can impact the effects of the stimulus (Zrenner & Ziemann, 2023). Brain activity can be detected using electroencephalography (EEG) and is primarily characterized based on rhythm and frequency (Feyissa & Tatum, 2019). An 8-14 Hz alpha rhythm within the somatosensory or motor cortex is often referred to as 'sensorimotor mu-(alpha) rhythm' (Thies et al., 2018). It has been shown, that the negative vs. positive EEG-peak of this 'sensorimotor mu-rhythm' is associated with high vs. low excitability of corticospinal neurons (Zrenner et al., 2018). In addition to the phase of the EEG oscillation, other characteristics of brain activity, exceeding the scope of this thesis, influence brain excitability (Zrenner & Ziemann, 2023).

In the studies integrated in this thesis, a fixed stimulation pattern and intensity were applied irrespective of the ongoing brain activity at the stimulated site, representing an 'open-loop brain stimulation' approach. Consequently, the specific state of network excitability (high or low) at the time of stimulation remains undisclosed for each participant, although potentially influencing the effects of QPS-5. In contrast, 'closed-loop brain stimulation' integrates neural activity at the stimulated cortical area through a first-order trigger and a second-order update function. These functions determine whether and with what parameters to stimulate, and evaluate the induced effects, respectively (Zrenner & Ziemann, 2023). Although this may significantly improve the effects of QPS-5 and other rTMS protocols in the future, 'closed-loop

brain stimulation' has not yet been incorporated into research on plasticity induction due to various technical challenges (Zrenner & Ziemann, 2023).

3.2.2. Plasticity beyond LTP-like plasticity at M1

As outlined in chapter *1.4. Neuroplasticity and cortical plasticity*, neuroplasticity is a multifactorial process with various factors unfolding on different temporal scales. This thesis focused on synaptic plasticity, representing rapid-onset mechanisms of neuroplasticity (Matsumoto & Ugawa, 2020; Zeller & Classen, 2014), as it is most easily studied. It is believed that these rapid-onset mechanisms constitute the initial phases of more slowly unfolding long-term processes of plasticity (Zeller & Classen, 2014). However, assessing only these rapid-onset mechanisms may not be sufficient to capture all aspects of neuroplasticity, e.g. structural changes. Further, only LTP-like plasticity was investigated, since MS has been associated specifically with alterations in the glutamatergic network (Kuzmina et al., 2020). However, LTD-like plasticity may also be relevant, as inhibitory circuits may be involved in MS as well (Nantes et al., 2016). In fact, rather than any of these two types of plasticity alone, their interplay may be critical. Consistent with this, study 2 indicated that stabilizing metaplasticity during relapses may be more important than LTP-like plasticity in preventing motor disability.

Furthermore, it has recently been suggested to not only assess synaptic plasticity at M1, but also at association motor-related areas (Neva et al., 2020). These areas, e.g. premotor cortices, can take over motor functions of M1 (Frost et al., 2003) and can influence and contribute to M1 corticospinal outputs (Neva et al., 2020).

It is important to keep in mind that neuroplasticity is not confined to a single location and can manifest differently across various locations and cortical levels. Therefore, qualitative and quantitative differences in synaptic plasticity may exist between cortical and subcortical levels (Sharma et al., 2013). Consequently, although the studies included in this thesis did not identify significant differences in LTP-like plasticity between patients with MS and HCs at M1, other processes of plasticity and/or plasticity at different levels of the neuroaxis may be altered in these patients.

Synaptic plasticity was operationalized as the change in MEP amplitude in the relaxed first dorsal interosseous muscle of the right hand only, independent of handedness and clinical disability. This decision was made to limit the time of examination to a minimum, but hemispheric differences of QPS-induced plasticity may also occur (Chaves et al., 2021).

Another important aspect to consider is that LTP- and LTD-induction through rTMS in a controlled laboratory setting signifies a 'passive' form of plasticity, requiring no action of the participant, apart from maintaining a state of relaxation. However, in vivo, plasticity is induced solely through activity-dependent mechanisms, i.e. (repeated) action by the individual. Therefore, the degree of plasticity assessed during an rTMS-experiment may be interpreted as the synaptic plasticity 'potential'. In vivo, individuals with high experimental synaptic plasticity potential may not effectively utilize it, possibly experiencing faster clinical decline compared to those with lower levels of experimental synaptic plasticity, who fully leverage their potential.

In addition to neuroplasticity, other factors may have influenced disease progression in study 4, which will be discussed in the following.

3.2.3. Other factors influencing disease progression

Different types of neuroplasticity react upon changes in the CNS. However, disease progression in patients with MS may also be prevented by premorbid reserve, allowing pathological CNS changes to occur without the need of compensation. The concept of reserve was first introduced by Katzman et al. (1988) following a postmortem examination comparing the brains of individuals with clinical symptoms of dementia during their lifetime to those without such symptoms. Despite both groups exhibiting high levels of Alzheimer's Disease pathology, the brains of clinically non-demented individuals revealed greater number of neurons and higher brain weight compared to those with clinical symptoms. Since the discovery of this initially passive concept of reserve, ongoing refinement incorporated active aspects. For instance, according to the concept of cognitive reserve, individuals demonstrating more efficient utilization of brain networks or an enhanced ability to engage alternative brain networks when required possess higher reserve (Stern, 2002).

This is in line with the proposition that clinical MS symptoms evolve as a consequence of a 'network collapse' (Schoonheim et al., 2022). A more robust network prior to disease onset potentially delays its collapse. Consequently, connectivity across the entire brain may be at least as important as synaptic plasticity in patients with MS. For example, individuals with higher educational attainment or those involved in intellectually demanding activities likely possess a network of diverse pathways. In the case of damage to regions associated with these activities, the impact may be less severe, as alternative pathways can compensate without necessitating reinforcement of synaptic plasticity. Conversely, individuals with high levels of physical activity may exhibit greater resilience to damage in motor areas.

This aspect remains unexplored in the studies presented in this thesis, primarily due to the absence of a validated German assessment tool. However, (premorbid) cognitive engagement was rather high in the longitudinal cohort, with a median of 15 years of education, potentially contributing to the low prevalence of cognitive decline in this cohort.

Disease-modifying therapies have already been acknowledged as potential confounding factors affecting cortical excitability in chapter *3.2.1. Variability of rTMS effects*. However, the primary objective of these therapies is to decelerate disease progression, thereby potentially influencing the primary outcome of study 4. Given the diverse array of

disease-modifying therapies and the limited sample size in the studies, controlling for the effects of these therapies was not feasible.

Moreover, study 4 did not account for potential rehabilitation interventions or personal cognitive/physical training between follow-up assessments. Recent findings suggest that patients with MS, especially those with RRMS, the predominant subgroup in study 4, may experience positive outcomes from such interventions (Chen et al., 2021). This omission should be considered when interpreting the results.

3.2.4. Unforeseen circumstances throughout the study period

Initially, the annual follow-up plan included repeated assessments of QPS-5. However, due to unforeseen circumstances such as the COVID-19 pandemic and technical defects of the TMS coils and signal amplifier, the application of QPS-5 was halted for 12 months in total. To allocate resources towards recruiting new participants after the repairs and easing of pandemic restrictions, annual QPS-5 follow-ups were discontinued. Therefore, analysis of hypothesis b) was precluded in study 4.

To ensure clinical follow-ups, video-based neuro(psychological) testing was introduced for follow-up assessments. Prior research has demonstrated that remote administration of the SDMT produces results comparable to those of in-person testing, thereby validating its suitability for virtual assessment of IPS (Barcellos et al., 2021; Eilam-Stock et al., 2021; Rogers et al., 2023). Limited research exists on the validity of virtual assessment using the BVMT-R, with one study suggesting higher scores in remote settings (Rogers et al., 2023). Fortunately, remote assessment was included as the latest follow-up in study 4 only for four participants (two RRMS patients and two HCs).

During the mandatory break of the studies, a research project investigating neuro(psycho)logical changes in patients with COVID-19 was initiated (refer to appendix C for list of publications). Findings from this project and other studies indicate that COVID-19 can lead to neurological manifestations (Balloff, Bandlow, et al., 2023; Groiss et al., 2020; Misra et al., 2021), some of which may persist for months after the acute phase of the disease (Costa et al., 2023; Hastie et al., 2023; Legler et al., 2023). Consequently, COVID-19 might have influenced the outcome measures in study 4. However, recent evidence suggests that COVID-19 did not affect disease activity, disability progression, or cognitive function in patients with MS (Montini et al., 2024). This is further supported by meta-analyses, which consistently found no association between COVID-19 and an increase in EDSS scores or higher risks of relapses (Aghajanian et al., 2024; Seyedmirzaei et al., 2024).

3.3. Implications and recommendations for future research

Despite the limitations addressed in the previous chapters, this thesis provides important insights into QPS-induced plasticity in patients with MS, which had not been investigated beforehand.

The associations of QPS-induced plasticity with functional outcomes imply that promotion of synaptic plasticity may be a promising tool to prevent clinical deterioration and/or to use as a rehabilitation effort. This idea has already been proposed by Stampanoni Bassi et al. (2022). However, the fact that corticospinal tract integrity was revealed as a prerequisite for these associations highlights the need to report detailed clinical characteristics in research on rTMS-induced plasticity in patients with MS. Although results of studies using different rTMS protocols are hardly comparable, consideration of the clinical characteristics may help to integrate the conflicting results of previous studies (see chapter *1.6. Synaptic plasticity in patients with MS*). Further, they warrant attention in the conceptualization and interpretation of future studies.

It is crucial to acknowledge that numerous factors may impact the reliability of QPSinduced plasticity in patients with MS. The decision on which factors to control for is important and should consider the strains imposed on the patients. Although incorporation of 'closedloop brain stimulation' into research on plasticity induction has not yet been realized (Zrenner & Ziemann, 2023), this is an important aspect to consider for future studies on QPS-induced plasticity in patients with MS. It may offer insights into interindividual differences in response to QPS and rTMS in general and may, thus, increase the clinical utility of QPS-induced plasticity on the individual level.

Furthermore, LMEM appears to be the best statistical method to capture relevant associations between QPS-induced plasticity and functional outcomes and should be incorporated more frequently in rTMS research.

Applying a complex and time-consuming technique such as QPS to a cohort with limited physical and/or mental resilience is challenging and should not be underestimated. Recruitment of patients for such studies is difficult, potentially resulting in a recruitment bias to highly motivated patients with presumably higher levels of reserve. This specifically applies to patients with PMS, who are typically more severely impaired than patients with RRMS (Engelhard et al., 2022; McGinley et al., 2021), impeding participation in studies with extensive protocols due to exhaustion or mobility issues.

Longitudinal performance of both patients with MS and HCs varied considerably on functional outcomes in study 4. Even when classifying into clinically meaningful decline/improvement based on established cut-offs in MS research considerable variation occurred. This highlights the need to consider that both cognitive and motor performance are volatile and influenced by several (un)controllable factors. Both clinicians and researchers
should keep in mind that performance on any of these tests only represents the performance on a specific day at a specific time. Therefore, further research is needed on reliable change in both HCs and patients with MS with annual neuro(psycho)logical assessments.

To reflect the complexity of synaptic plasticity and to shed light on metaplastic effects, future research should investigate both LTP- and LTD-like plasticity in the same cohort. Additionally, the minimum number of required MEPs per trial to receive a reliable estimate of MEP amplitude requires further research not only in HCs but also in clinical cohorts. Currently, different recommendations exist (Chang et al., 2016; Goldsworthy et al., 2016) and, in general, standard errors reduce with increasing sample size. However, in clinical cohorts it is critical to limit the protocol to a minimum without impeding measurement reliability.

4. Conclusion

This thesis conducted a comprehensive examination of the functional relevance of QPS-induced LTP-like plasticity in patients with MS. The results indicate preserved LTP-like plasticity across all MS subtypes and disease activity states. It was revealed that the consideration of clinical characteristics within patient cohorts is pivotal in synaptic plasticity research in MS, given that associations between LTP-like plasticity and cognitive and motor performance may predominantly manifest in individuals with intact pyramidal tract integrity. Furthermore, the results of this thesis suggest that the degree of LTP-like plasticity may be associated with functional decline. However, the significance of these findings warrants replication in other cohorts and further exploration over longer follow-up periods to ascertain their robustness and generalizability.

Overall, this thesis enhances our understanding of synaptic plasticity in patients with MS while also addressing the methodological challenges associated with its assessment. While QPS-induced plasticity may emerge as an additional facet in unraveling the 'clinico-radiological paradox' in patients with MS, it cannot yet be established as an independent biomarker for predicting disease progression at the individual level due to various methodological challenges.

References

- Abraham, W. C., & Bear, M. F. (1996). Metaplasticity: The plasticity of synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *19*(4), 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-2236(96)80018-x
- Absinta, M., Sati, P., Masuzzo, F., Nair, G., Sethi, V., Kolb, H., Ohayon, J., Wu, T., Cortese, I. C. M., & Reich, D. S. (2019). Association of Chronic Active Multiple Sclerosis Lesions With Disability In Vivo. *JAMA Neurology*, 76(12), 1474–1483. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2399
- Achiron, A., Chapman, J., Magalashvili, D., Dolev, M., Lavie, M., Bercovich, E., Polliack, M., Doniger, G. M., Stern, Y., Khilkevich, O., Menascu, S., Hararai, G., Gurevich, M., & Barak, Y. (2013). Modeling of cognitive impairment by disease duration in multiple sclerosis: A cross-sectional study. *PloS One*, *8*(8), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071058
- Aghajanian, S., Shafiee, A., Akhondi, A., Abadi, S. R. F., Mohammadi, I., Ehsan, M., & Mohammadifard, F. (2024). The effect of COVID-19 on Multiple Sclerosis relapse: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, *81*, 105128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2023.105128
- Albert, M., Antel, J, Brück, W., & Stadelmann, C. (2007). Extensive cortical remyelination in patients with chronic multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathology (Zurich, Switzerland)*, 17(2), 129–138. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2006.00043.x
- Al-Sharman, A., Al-Khazaaleh, H. M., Khalil, H., Aburub, A., & El-Salem, K. (2021). The Relationship Between Sleep Quality, Sleep-Related Biomarkers, and Motor Skill Acquisition in People With Multiple Sclerosis: A Pilot Study. *Physical Therapy*, 101(10). https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzab175
- Amato, M. P., Zipoli, V., & Portaccio, E. (2006). Multiple sclerosis-related cognitive changes: A review of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 245(1-2), 41–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2005.08.019
- Andersen, P., & Soleng, A. F. (1998). Long-term potentiation and spatial training are both associated with the generation of new excitatory synapses. *Brain Research. Brain Research Reviews*, *26*(2-3), 353–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(97)00042-8
- Antal, A., Luber, B., Brem, A.-K., Bikson, M., Brunoni, A. R., Cohen Kadosh, R., Dubljević, V., Fecteau, S., Ferreri, F., Flöel, A., Hallett, M., Hamilton, R. H., Herrmann, C. S., Lavidor, M., Loo, C., Lustenberger, C., Machado, S., Miniussi, C., Moliadze, V., . . . Paulus, W. (2022). Non-invasive brain stimulation and neuroenhancement. *Clinical Neurophysiology Practice*, 7, 146–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnp.2022.05.002
- Antel, J., Antel, S., Caramanos, Z., Arnold, D. L., & Kuhlmann, T. (2012). Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: Part of the MS disease spectrum or separate disease entity? Acta Neuropathologica, 123(5), 627–638. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-012-0953-0
- Arai, N., Okabe, S., Furubayashi, T., Mochizuki, H., Iwata, N. K., Hanajima, R., Terao, Y., & Ugawa, Y. (2007). Differences in after-effect between monophasic and biphasic highfrequency rTMS of the human motor cortex. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *118*(10), 2227–2233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2007.07.006

- Ayache, S. S., Créange, A., Farhat, W. H., Zouari, H. G., Lesage, C., Palm, U., Abdellaoui, M., & Lefaucheur, J.-P. (2015). Cortical excitability changes over time in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Functional Neurology*, 30(4), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.11138/fneur/2015.30.4.257
- Baecher-Allan, C., Kaskow, B. J., & Weiner, H. L. (2018). Multiple Sclerosis: Mechanisms and Immunotherapy. *Neuron*, 97(4), 742–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.01.021
- Baetge, S. J., Filser, M., Renner, A., Ullrich, S., Lassek, C., & Penner, I.-K. (2020). On the validity of single tests, two-test combinations and the full Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS) in detecting patients with cognitive impairment. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 26(14), 1919–1928. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458519887897
- Baione, V., Belvisi, D., Cortese, A., Cetta, I., Tartaglia, M., Millefiorini, E., Berardelli, A., & Conte, A. (2020). Cortical M1 plasticity and metaplasticity in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 38, 101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2019.101494
- Balloff, C., Albrecht, P., Stucke, A.-S., Scala, L., Novello, S., Hartmann, C. J, Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K., & Groiss, S. J. (2023). The importance of pyramidal tract integrity for cortical plasticity and related functionality in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 14, Article 1266225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225
- Balloff, C., Bandlow, C., Bernhard, M., Brandenburger, T., Bludau, P., Elben, S., Feldt, T., Hartmann, C. J., Heinen, E., Ingwersen, J., Jansen, C., Jensen, B.-E. O., Kindgen-Milles, D., Luedde, T., Penner, I.-K, Slink, I., Stramm, K., Telke, A.-K., Timm, J., ... Albrecht, P. (2023). Prevalence and prognostic value of neurological affections in hospitalized patients with moderate to severe COVID-19 based on objective assessments. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), 19619. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-46124-w
- Balloff, C., Janssen, L. K., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K. & Albrecht, P. (2024). *Predictive value of synaptic plasticity for functional decline in patients with multiple sclerosis* [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Balloff, C., Novello, S., Stucke, A.-S., Janssen, L. K., Heinen, E., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K., Albrecht, P., & Groiss, S. J. (2023). Longterm potentiation-like plasticity is retained during relapse in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 155, 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.07.013
- Balloff, C., Penner, I.-K., Ma, M., Georgiades, I., Scala, L., Troullinakis, N., Graf, J., Kremer, D., Aktas, O., Hartung, H.-P., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Groiss, S. J., & Albrecht, P. (2022). The degree of cortical plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Brain Stimulation*, 15(2), 403–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007
- Barcellos, L. F., Horton, M., Shao, X., Bellesis, K. H., Chinn, T., Waubant, E., Bakshi, N., Marcus, J., Benedict, R. H., & Schaefer, C. (2021). A validation study for remote testing of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 27(5), 795–798. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458520937385

- Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *The Lancet*, *325*(8437), 1106–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(85)92413-4
- Barkhof, F. (2002). The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, *15*, 239–245.
- Bartels, C., Wegrzyn, M., Wiedl, A., Ackermann, V., & Ehrenreich, H. (2010). Practice effects in healthy adults: A longitudinal study on frequent repetitive cognitive testing. *BMC Neuroscience*, *11*, 118. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-11-118
- Bashir, S., Yoo, W.-K., Kim, H. S., Lim, H. S., Rotenberg, A., & Abu Jamea, A. (2017). The Number of Pulses Needed to Measure Corticospinal Excitability by Navigated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation: Eyes Open vs. Close Condition. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11, 121. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00121
- Bebo, B., Cintina, I., LaRocca, N., Ritter, L., Talente, B., Hartung, D., Ngorsuraches, S., Wallin, M., & Yang, G. (2022). The Economic Burden of Multiple Sclerosis in the United States: Estimate of Direct and Indirect Costs. *Neurology*, *98*(18), e1810-e1817. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000200150
- Benedict, R. H. B., Amato, M. P., Boringa, J., Brochet, B., Foley, F., Fredrikson, S., Hämäläinen, P., Hartung, H. P., Krupp, L., Penner, I.-K., Reder, A., & Langdon, D. (2012, October 10). Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS (BICAMS): reliability and identifying statistically reliable change.: Poster presentation at the 28th Congress of the European Commitee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis (ECTRIMS). https://www.bicams.net/media/1017/bicams-ectrims2012-poster-final.pdf
- Benedict, R. H. B. (1997). *Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised: Professional Manual.* Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Benedict, R. H. B., Amato, M. P., Deluca, J., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2020). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: Clinical management, MRI, and therapeutic avenues. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *19*(10), 860–871. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30277-5
- Benedict, R. H. B., Wahlig, E., Bakshi, R., Fishman, I., Munschauer, F., Zivadinov, R., & Weinstock-Guttman, B. (2005). Predicting quality of life in multiple sclerosis: Accounting for physical disability, fatigue, cognition, mood disorder, personality, and behavior change. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 231(1-2), 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2004.12.009
- Biabani, M., Farrell, M., Zoghi, M., Egan, G., & Jaberzadeh, S. (2018). The minimal number of TMS trials required for the reliable assessment of corticospinal excitability, short interval intracortical inhibition, and intracortical facilitation. *Neuroscience Letters*, *674*, 94–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.03.026
- Bienenstock, E. L., Cooper, L. N., & Munro, P. W. (1982). Theory for the development of neuron selectivity: orientation specificity and binocular interaction in visual cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *2*(1), 32–48.
- Bliss, T. V., & Gardner-Medwin, A. R. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the unanaestetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of Physiology*, 232(2), 357–374. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1973.sp010274

- Bliss, T. V., & Lomo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of Physiology*, 232(2), 331–356. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1973.sp010273
- Braley, T. J., Kratz, A. L., Kaplish, N., & Chervin, R. D. (2016). Sleep and Cognitive Function in Multiple Sclerosis. *Sleep*, *39*(8), 1525–1533. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6012
- Brandner, S., Schroeter, S., Çalışkan, G., Salar, S., Kobow, K., Coras, R., Blümcke, I., Hamer, H., Schwarz, M., Buchfelder, M., & Maslarova, A. (2022). Glucocorticoid modulation of synaptic plasticity in the human temporal cortex of epilepsy patients: Does chronic stress contribute to memory impairment? *Epilepsia*, 63(1), 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.17107
- Buonomano, D. V., & Merzenich, M. M. (1998). Cortical plasticity: From synapses to maps. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 21, 149–186. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.21.1.149
- Cagol, A., Schaedelin, S., Barakovic, M., Benkert, P., Todea, R.-A., Rahmanzadeh, R., Galbusera, R., Lu, P.-J., Weigel, M., Melie-Garcia, L., Ruberte, E., Siebenborn, N., Radue, E.-W., Yaldizli, Ö., Oechtering, J., Battaglini, M. Sinnecker, T., Lorscheider, J., Fischer-Barnicol, B., ... Granziera, C. (2022). Association of Brain Atrophy With Disease Progression Independent of Relapse Activity in Patients With Sclerosis. Relapsing Multiple JAMA Neurology, 79(7), 682–692. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2022.1025
- Calamia, M., Markon, K., & Tranel, D. (2012). Scoring higher the second time around: Metaanalyses of practice effects in neuropsychological assessment. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *26*(4), 543–570. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2012.680913
- Calautti, C., Leroy, F., Guincestre, J. Y., Marié, R. M., & Baron, J. C. (2001). Sequential activation brain mapping after subcortical stroke: Changes in hemispheric balance and recovery. *Neuroreport*, *12*(18), 3883–3886. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200112210-00005
- Campbell, J., Rashid, W., Cercignani, M., & Langdon, D. (2017). Cognitive impairment among patients with multiple sclerosis: Associations with employment and quality of life. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 93(1097), 143–147. https://doi.org/10.1136/postgradmedj-2016-134071
- Cantone, M., Lanza, G., Ranieri, F., Opie, G. M., & Terranova, C. (2021). Editorial: Noninvasive Brain Stimulation in the Study and Modulation of Metaplasticity in Neurological Disorders. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *12*, 721906. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.721906
- Cantrell, A. R., & Catterall, W. A. (2001). Neuromodulation of Na+ channels: An unexpected form of cellular plasticity. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *2*(6), 397–407. https://doi.org/10.1038/35077553
- Carmichael, S. T., Kathirvelu, B., Schweppe, C. A., & Nie, E. H. (2017). Molecular, cellular and functional events in axonal sprouting after stroke. *Experimental Neurology*, 287(Pt 3), 384–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.02.007
- Carotenuto, A., Costabile, T., Pontillo, G., Moccia, M., Falco, F., Petracca, M., Petruzzo, M., Russo, C. V., Di Stasi, M., Paolella, C., Perillo, T., Vola, E. A., Cipullo, M. B.,

Cocozza, S., Lanzillo, R., Brescia Morra, V., & Saccà, F. (2022). Cognitive trajectories in multiple sclerosis: A long-term follow-up study. *Neurological Sciences: Official Journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *43*(2), 1215–1222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05356-2

- Carotenuto, A., Valsasina, P., Schoonheim, M. M., Geurts, J. J. G., Barkhof, F., Gallo, A., Tedeschi, G., Tommasin, S., Pantano, P., Filippi, M., & Rocca, M. A. (2022). Investigating Functional Network Abnormalities and Associations With Disability in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neurology*, *99*(22), e2517-e2530. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000201264
- Cavaleri, R., Schabrun, S. M., & Chipchase, L. S. (2017). The number of stimuli required to reliably assess corticomotor excitability and primary motor cortical representations using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS): A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Systematic Reviews*, 6(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0440-8
- Centonze, D., Rossi, S., Tortiglione, A., Picconi, B., Prosperetti, C., Chiara, V. de, Bernardi, G., & Calabresi, P. (2007). Synaptic plasticity during recovery from permanent occlusion of the middle cerebral artery. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 27(1), 44– 53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2007.03.012
- Chang, W. H., Fried, P. J., Saxena, S., Jannati, A., Gomes-Osman, J., Kim, Y.-H., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2016). Optimal number of pulses as outcome measures of neuronavigated transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127(8), 2892–2897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.04.001
- Chaves, A. R., Kenny, H. M., Snow, N. J., Pretty, R. W., & Ploughman, M. (2021). Sexspecific disruption in corticospinal excitability and hemispheric (a)symmetry in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Research*, 1773, 147687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2021.147687
- Chen, M. H., Chiaravalloti, N. D., & Deluca, J. (2021). Neurological update: Cognitive rehabilitation in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, *268*(12), 4908–4914. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10618-2
- Chiaravalloti, N. D., Stojanovic-Radic, J., & Deluca, J. (2013). The role of speed versus working memory in predicting learning new information in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *35*(2), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2012.760537
- Cicinelli, P., Traversa, R., & Rossini, P. M. (1997). Post-stroke reorganization of brain motor output to the hand: A 2-4 month follow-up with focal magnetic transcranial stimulation. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *105*(6), 438–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-980x(97)00052-0
- Cipriano, L., Troisi Lopez, E., Liparoti, M., Minino, R., Romano, A., Polverino, A., Ciaramella, F., Ambrosanio, M., Bonavita, S., Jirsa, V., Sorrentino, G., & Sorrentino, P. (2023). Reduced clinical connectome fingerprinting in multiple sclerosis predicts fatigue severity. *NeuroImage. Clinical*, *39*, 103464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2023.103464
- Clarkson, A. N., Huang, B. S., Macisaac, S. E., Mody, I., & Carmichael, S. T. (2010). Reducing excessive GABA-mediated tonic inhibition promotes functional recovery after stroke. *Nature*, *468*(7321), 305–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09511

- Classen, J., Liepert, J., Wise, S. P., Hallett, M., & Cohen, L. G. (1998). Rapid plasticity of human cortical movement representation induced by practice. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *79*(2), 1117–1123. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.79.2.1117
- Compston, A., & Coles, A. (2002). Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 359(9313), 1221–1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08220-X
- Compston, A., & Coles, A. (2008). Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 372(9648), 1502–1517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Conte, A., Voti, P. L., Pontecorvo, S., Quartuccio, M. E., Baione, V., Rocchi, L., Cortese, A., Bologna, M., Francia, A., & Berardelli, A. (2016). Attention-related changes in shortterm cortical plasticity help to explain fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 22(10), 1359–1366.
- Cooke, S. F., & Bliss, T. V. P. (2006). Plasticity in the human central nervous system. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *129*, 1659–1673. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl082
- Corrigan, N. M., Yarnykh, V. L., Hippe, D. S., Owen, J. P., Huber, E., Zhao, T. C., & Kuhl, P. K. (2021). Myelin development in cerebral gray and white matter during adolescence and late childhood. *NeuroImage*, 227, 117678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117678
- Costa, A. S., Balloff, C., Bungenberg, J., Tauber, S. C., Telke, A.-K., Bandlow, C., Groiss, S. J., Hartmann, C. J., Elben, S., Penner, I.-K., Schulz, J. B., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Reetz, K., & Albrecht, P. (2023). Cognitive and neuropsychiatric trajectories up to one year after mild to severe COVID-19. *Psychiatry Research*, 327, 115375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2023.115375
- Cree, B. A. C., Gourraud, P.-A., Oksenberg, J. R., Bevan, C., Crabtree-Hartman, E., Gelfand, J. M., Goodin, D. S., Graves, J., Green, A. J., Mowry, E., Okuda, D. T., Pelletier, D., Büdingen, H.-C. von, Zamvil, S. S., Agrawal, A., Caillier, S., Ciocca, C., Gomez, R., Kanner, R., . . . Hauser, S. L. (2016). Long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis disability in the treatment era. *Annals of Neurology*, *80*(4), 499–510. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24747
- Cree, B. A. C., Hollenbach, J. A., Bove, R., Kirkish, G., Sacco, S., Caverzasi, E., Bischof, A., Gundel, T., Zhu, A. H., Papinutto, N., Stern, W. A., Bevan, C., Romeo, A., Gelfand, J. M. Goodin, D. S., Graves, J., Green, A. J., Wilson, M. R., Zamvil, S. S., ... Hauser, S. L. (2019). Silent progression in disease activity-free relapsing multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 85(5), 653–666. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25463
- Damasceno, A., Pimentel-Silva, L. R., Damasceno, B. P., & Cendes, F. (2020). Cognitive trajectories in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal 6-year study. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 26(13), 1740–1751. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458519878685
- Deluca, J., Chelune, G. J., Tulsky, D. S., Lengenfelder, J., & Chiaravalloti, N. D. (2004). Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 26(4), 550– 562. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390490496641

- Di Filippo, M., Portaccio, E., Mancini, A., & Calabresi, P. (2018). Multiple sclerosis and cognition: Synaptic failure and network dysfunction. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 19(10), 599–609. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0053-9
- Di Lazzaro, V., Oliviero, A., Mazzone, P., Insola, A., Pilato, F., Saturno, E., Accurso, A., Tonali, P., & Rothwell, J. C. (2001). Comparison of descending volleys evoked by monophasic and biphasic magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex in conscious humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, 141(1), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210100863
- Di Lorenzo, F., Motta, C., Casula, E. P., Bonnì, S., Assogna, M., Caltagirone, C., Martorana, A., & Koch, G. (2020). Ltp-like cortical plasticity predicts conversion to dementia in patients with memory impairment. *Brain Stimulation*, *13*(5), 1175–1182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2020.05.013
- Dijkhuizen, R. M., Ren, J., Mandeville, J. B., Wu, O., Ozdag, F. M., Moskowitz, M. A., Rosen, B. R., & Finklestein, S. P. (2001). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of reorganization in rat brain after stroke. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *98*(22), 12766–12771. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.231235598
- Dijkhuizen, R. M., Singhal, A. B., Mandeville, J. B., Wu, O., Halpern, E. F., Finklestein, S. P., Rosen, B. R., & Lo, E. H. (2003). Correlation between brain reorganization, ischemic damage, and neurologic status after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(2), 510–517. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-02-00510.2003
- Dimyan, M. A., & Cohen, L. G. (2011). Neuroplasticity in the context of motor rehabilitation after stroke. *Nature Reviews. Neurology*, 7(2), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2010.200
- Dinse, H. R., Kattenstroth, J. C., Lenz, M., Tegenthoff, M., & Wolf, O. T. (2017). The stress hormone cortisol blocks perceptual learning in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 77, 63–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.12.002
- Dudek, S. M., & Bear, M. F. (1992). Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(10), 4363–4367. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.10.4363
- Dziedzic, T., Metz, I., Dallenga, T., König, F. B., Müller, S., Stadelmann, C., & Brück, W. (2010). Wallerian degeneration: A major component of early axonal pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathology (Zurich, Switzerland)*, 20(5), 976–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2010.00401.x.
- Eijlers, A. J. C., van Geest, Q., Dekker, I., Steenwijk, M. D., Meijer, K. A., Hulst, H. E., Barkhof, F., Uitdehaag, B. M. J., Schoonheim, M. M., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2018).
 Predicting cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: A 5-year follow-up study. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *141*(9), 2605–2618. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy202
- Eilam-Stock, T., Shaw, M. T., Sherman, K., Krupp, L. B., & Charvet, L. E. (2021). Remote administration of the symbol digit modalities test to individuals with multiple sclerosis is reliable: A short report. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational and Clinical*, 7(1), 2055217321994853. https://doi.org/10.1177/2055217321994853

- Engelhard, J., Oleske, D. M., Schmitting, S., Wells, K. E., Talapala, S., & Barbato, L. M. (2022). Multiple sclerosis by phenotype in Germany. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 57, 103326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2021.103326
- Eriksson, P. S., Perfilieva, E., Björk-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A. M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D. A.,
 & Gage, F. H. (1998). Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nature Medicine*, 4(11), 1313–1317. https://doi.org/10.1038/3305
- Eshaghi, A., Prados, F., Brownlee, W. J., Altmann, D. R., Tur, C., Cardoso, M. J., Angelis, F. de, van de Pavert, S. H., Cawley, N., Stefano, N. de, Stromillo, M. L., Battaglini, M., Ruggieri, S., Gasperini, C., Filippi, M., Rocca, M. A., Rovira, A., Sastre-Garriga, J., Vrenken, H., . . . Ciccarelli, O. (2018). Deep gray matter volume loss drives disability worsening in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, *83*(2), 210–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25145
- Feyissa, A. M., & Tatum, W. O. (2019). Adult EEG. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *160*, 103–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64032-1.00007-2
- Filippi, M., Preziosa, P., Banwell, B. L., Barkhof, F., Ciccarelli, O., Stefano, N. de, Geurts, J. J. G., Paul, F., Reich, D. S., Toosy, A. T., Traboulsee, A., Wattjes, M. P., Yousry, T. A., Gass, A., Lubetzki, C., Weinshenker, B. G., & Rocca, M. A. (2019). Assessment of lesions on magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis: Practical guidelines. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *142*(7), 1858–1875. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz144
- Fischer, M. T., Sharma, R., Lim, J. L., Haider, L., Frischer, J. M., Drexhage, J., Mahad, D., Bradl, M., van Horssen, J., & Lassmann, H. (2012). Nadph oxidase expression in active multiple sclerosis lesions in relation to oxidative tissue damage and mitochondrial injury. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *135*(Pt 3), 886–899. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws012
- Frost, S. B., Barbay, S., Friel, K. M., Plautz, E. J., & Nudo, R. J. (2003). Reorganization of remote cortical regions after ischemic brain injury: A potential substrate for stroke recovery. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *89*(6), 3205–3214. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01143.2002
- Fuchs, T. A., Gillies, J., Jaworski, M. G., Wilding, G. E., Youngs, M., Weinstock-Guttman, B., & Benedict, R. H. (2022). Repeated forms, testing intervals, and SDMT performance in a large multiple sclerosis dataset. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 68, 104375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2022.104375
- Giovannoni, G., Comi, G., Rammohan, K., Rieckmann, P., Dangond, F., Keller, B., Jack, D., & Vermersch, P. (2021). Long-Term Disease Stability Assessed by the Expanded Disability Status Scale in Patients Treated with Cladribine Tablets 3.5 mg/kg for Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis: An Exploratory Post Hoc Analysis of the CLARITY and CLARITY Extension Studies. *Advances in Therapy*, *38*(9), 4975–4985. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-021-01865-w
- Goldschmidt, T., Antel, J., König, F. B., Brück, W., & Kuhlmann, T. (2009). Remyelination capacity of the MS brain decreases with disease chronicity. *Neurology*, 72(22), 1914–1921. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181a8260a
- Goldsworthy, M. R., Hordacre, B., & Ridding, M. C. (2016). Minimum number of trials required for within- and between-session reliability of TMS measures of corticospinal excitability. *Neuroscience*, *320*, 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.02.012

- Groiss, S. J., Balloff, C., Elben, S., Brandenburger, T., Müttel, T., Kindgen-Milles, D., Vollmer, C., Feldt, T., Kunstein, A., Ole Jensen, B.-E., Hartung, H.-P., Schnitzler, A., & Albrecht, P. (2020). Prolonged Neuropsychological Deficits, Central Nervous System Involvement, and Brain Stem Affection After COVID-19-A Case Series. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *11*, 574004. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.574004
- Groiss, S. J., Ugawa, Y., Paulus, W., & Huang, Y.-Z. (2012). Patterned Protocols of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. In C. Miniussi, W. Paulus, & P. M. Rossini (Eds.), *Frontiers in Neuroscience. Transcranial Brain Stimulation* (pp. 135–155). CRC Press.
- Groom, A. J., Smith, T., & Turski, L. (2003). Multiple sclerosis and glutamate. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *993*, 229-75; discussion 287-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07533.x
- Groppa, S., Oliviero, A., Eisen, A., Quartarone, A., Cohen, L. G., Mall, V., Kaelin-Lang, A., Mima, T., Rossi, S., Thickbroom, G. W., Rossini, P. M., Ziemann, U., Valls-Solé, J., & Siebner, H. R. (2012). A practical guide to diagnostic transcranial magnetic stimulation: Report of an IFCN committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *123*(5), 858–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2012.01.010
- Guerra, A., López-Alonso, V., Cheeran, B., & Suppa, A. (2017). Variability in non-invasive brain stimulation studies: Reasons and results. *Neuroscience Letters*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.12.058
- Hackmack, K., Weygandt, M., Wuerfel, J., Pfueller, C. F., Bellmann-Strobl, J., Paul, F., & Haynes, J.-D. (2012). Can we overcome the 'clinico-radiological paradox' in multiple sclerosis? *Journal of Neurology*, *259*(10), 2151–2160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-012-6475-9
- Hamada, M., Hanajima, R., Terao, Y., Arai, N., Furubayashi, T., Inomata-Terada, S., Yugeta, A., Matsumoto, H., Shirota, Y., & Ugawa, Y. (2007). Quadro-pulse stimulation is more effective than paired-pulse stimulation for plasticity induction of the human motor cortex. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(12), 2672–2682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2007.09.062
- Hamada, M., Murase, N., Hasan, A., Balaratnam, M., & Rothwell, J. C. (2013). The role of interneuron networks in driving human motor cortical plasticity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 23(7), 1593–1605. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs147
- Hamada, M., Terao, Y., Hanajima, R., Shirota, Y., Nakatani-Enomoto, S., Furubayashi, T., Matsumoto, H., & Ugawa, Y. (2008). Bidirectional long-term motor cortical plasticity and metaplasticity induced by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. *The Journal* of *Physiology*, *586*(16), 3927–3947. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.152793
- Hanajima, R., Tanaka, N., Tsutsumi, R., Shirota, Y., Shimizu, T., Terao, Y., & Ugawa, Y. (2019). Effect of caffeine on long-term potentiation-like effects induced by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 237(3), 647–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-018-5450-9
- Hanken, K., Eling, P., & Hildebrandt, H. (2015). Is there a cognitive signature for MS-related fatigue? *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 21(4), 376–381. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458514549567

- Hartline, D. K., & Colman, D. R. (2007). Rapid conduction and the evolution of giant axons and myelinated fibers. *Current Biology: CB*, 17(1), R29-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.11.042
- Hastie, C. E., Lowe, D. J., McAuley, A., Mills, N. L., Winter, A. J., Black, C., Scott, J. T., O'Donnell, C. A., Blane, D. N., Browne, S., Ibbotson, T. R., & Pell, J. P. (2023). True prevalence of long-COVID in a nationwide, population cohort study. *Nature Communications*, 14(1), 7892. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-43661-w
- Hauser, S. L., & Oksenberg, J. R. (2006). The neurobiology of multiple sclerosis: Genes, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. *Neuron*, *52*(1), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.011
- Hebb, D. O. (1949). *The Organization of Behavior: A Neuropsychological Theory*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Heilbronner, R. L., Sweet, J. J., Attix, D. K., Krull, K. R., Henry, G. K., & Hart, R. P. (2010). Official position of the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology on serial neuropsychological assessments: The utility and challenges of repeat test administrations in clinical and forensic contexts. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 24(8), 1267–1278. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2010.526785
- Huang, Y.-Z., Lu, M.-K., Antal, A., Classen, J., Nitsche, M., Ziemann, U., Ridding, M., Hamada, M., Ugawa, Y., Jaberzadeh, S., Suppa, A., Paulus, W., & Rothwell, J. (2017).
 Plasticity induced by non-invasive transcranial brain stimulation: A position paper. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *128*(11), 2318–2329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2017.09.007
- Hulst, H. E., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2011). Gray matter imaging in multiple sclerosis: What have we learned? *BMC Neurology*, *11*, 153. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-11-153
- Iyer, M. B., Schleper, N., & Wassermann, E. M. (2003). Priming stimulation enhances the depressant effect of low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(34), 10867–10872. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-34-10867.2003
- Jacobs, K. M., & Donoghue, J. P. (1991). Reshaping the cortical motor map by unmasking latent intracortical connections. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *251*(4996), 944–947. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2000496
- Jalinous, R. (1991). Technical and practical aspects of magnetic nerve stimulation. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society*, 8(1), 10–25. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004691-199101000-00004
- Jamann, N., Jordan, M., & Engelhardt, M. (2018). Activity-dependent axonal plasticity in sensory systems. *Neuroscience*, 368, 268–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.07.035
- Jannati, A., Oberman, L. M., Rotenberg, A., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2023). Assessing the mechanisms of brain plasticity by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 48*(1), 191–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-022-01453-8

- Johnen, A., Landmeyer, N. C., Bürkner, P.-C., Wiendl, H., Meuth, S. G., & Holling, H. (2017). Distinct cognitive impairments in different disease courses of multiple sclerosis-A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 83, 568–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.09.005
- Kadowaki, S., Enomoto, H., Murakami, T., Nakatani-Enomoto, S., Kobayashi, S., & Ugawa, Y. (2016). Influence of phasic muscle contraction upon the quadripulse stimulation (QPS) aftereffects. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation* of *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127(2), 1568–1573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.10.063
- Kalkers, N. F., Ameziane, N., Bot, J. C. J., Minneboo, A., Polman, C. H., & Barkhof, F. (2002). Longitudinal brain volume measurement in multiple sclerosis: Rate of brain atrophy is independent of the disease subtype. *Arch Neurol*, *59*(10), 1572–1576. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.59.10.1572
- Kappos, L., Wolinsky, J. S., Giovannoni, G., Arnold, D. L., Wang, Q., Bernasconi, C., Model, F., Koendgen, H., Manfrini, M., Belachew, S., & Hauser, S. L. (2020). Contribution of Relapse-Independent Progression vs Relapse-Associated Worsening to Overall Confirmed Disability Accumulation in Typical Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis in a Pooled Analysis of 2 Randomized Clinical Trials. *JAMA Neurology*, 77(9), 1132– 1140. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1568
- Kasai, H., Fukuda, M., Watanabe, S., Hayashi-Takagi, A., & Noguchi, J. (2010). Structural dynamics of dendritic spines in memory and cognition. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 33(3), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2010.01.001
- Katsari, M., Kasselimis, D. S., Giogkaraki, E., Breza, M., Evangelopoulos, M.-E., Anagnostouli, M., Andreadou, E., Kilidireas, C., Hotary, A., Zalonis, I., Koutsis, G., & Potagas, C. (2020). A longitudinal study of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: Is decline inevitable? *Journal of Neurology*, 267(5), 1464–1475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-09720-8
- Katz Sand, I. (2015). Classification, diagnosis, and differential diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 28(3), 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.00000000000206
- Katzman, R., Terry, R., DeTeresa, R., Brown, T., Davies, P., Fuld, P., Renbing, X., & Peck, A. (1988). Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: A subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. *Annals of Neurology*, 23(2), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410230206
- Kelleher, R. J., Govindarajan, A., & Tonegawa, S. (2004). Translational regulatory mechanisms in persistent forms of synaptic plasticity. *Neuron*, 44(1), 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.013
- Kister, I., Bacon, T. E., Chamot, E., Salter, A. R., Cutter, G. R., Kalina, J. T., & Herbert, J. (2013). Natural history of multiple sclerosis symptoms. *International Journal of MS Care*, *15*(3), 146–158. https://doi.org/10.7224/1537-2073.2012-053
- Klineova, S., & Lublin, F. D. (2018). Clinical Course of Multiple Sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028928

- Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallée, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 58(4), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005
- Kobelt, G., Thompson, A., Berg, J., Gannedahl, M., Eriksson, J., the MSCOI Study Group, & the European Multiple Sclerosis Platform (2017). New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 23(8), 1123–1136. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458517694432
- Koles, Z. J., & Rasminsky, M. (1972). A computer simulation of conduction in demyelinated nerve fibres. *The Journal of Physiology*, 227(2), 351–364. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1972.sp010036
- Kornek, B., Storch, M. K., Weissert, R., Wallstroem, E., Stefferl, A., Olsson, T., Linington, C., Schmidbauer, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Multiple sclerosis and chronic autoimmune encephalomyelitis: A comparative quantitative study of axonal injury in active, inactive, and remyelinated lesions. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 157(1), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64537-3
- Krieger, S. C., Cook, K., Nino, S. de, & Fletcher, M. (2016). The topographical model of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology® Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation*, *3*(5), e279. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.0000000000279
- Kurtzke, J. F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: An expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, *33*(11), 1444–1452. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.33.11.1444
- Kuzmina, U. S., Zainullina, L. F., Vakhitov, V. A., Bakhtiyarova, K. Z., & Vakhitova, Y. V. (2020). The Role of Glutamate in the Pathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis. *Neuroscience and Behavioral Physiology*, *50*(6), 669–675. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11055-020-00953-8
- Lahr, J., Paßmann, S., List, J., Vach, W., Flöel, A., & Klöppel, S. (2016). Effects of Different Analysis Strategies on Paired Associative Stimulation. A Pooled Data Analysis from Three Research Labs. *PloS One*, *11*(5), e0154880. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154880
- Langdon, D. W. (2011). Cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 24(3), 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.0b013e328346a43b
- Lapucci, C., Schiavi, S., Signori, A., Sbragia, E., Bommarito, G., Cellerino, M., Uccelli, A., Inglese, M., Roccatagliata, L., & Pardini, M. (2022). The role of disconnection in explaining disability in multiple sclerosis. *European Radiology Experimental*, 6(1), 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41747-022-00277-x
- Lassmann, H. (2018). Pathogenic Mechanisms Associated With Different Clinical Courses of Multiple Sclerosis. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 3116. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.03116
- Legler, F., Meyer-Arndt, L., Mödl, L., Kedor, C., Freitag, H., Stein, E., Hoppmann, U., Rust, R., Paul, F., Wittke, K., Siebert, N., Behrens, J., Thiel, A., Konietschke, F., Scheibenbogen, C., & Bellmann-Strobl, J. (2023). Long-term symptom severity and clinical biomarkers in post-COVID-19/chronic fatigue syndrome: Results from a prospective observational EClinicalMedicine. cohort. 63. 102146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.102146

- López-Alonso, V., Cheeran, B., Río-Rodríguez, D., & Fernández-Del-Olmo, M. (2014). Interindividual variability in response to non-invasive brain stimulation paradigms. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(3), 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2014.02.004
- Lovas, G., Szilágyi, N., Majtényi, K., Palkovits, M., & Komoly, S. (2000). Axonal changes in chronic demyelinated cervical spinal cord plaques. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 123 (Pt 2)*, 308–317. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/123.2.308
- Lublin, F. D., Häring, D. A., Ganjgahi, H., Ocampo, A., Hatami, F., Čuklina, J., Aarden, P., Dahlke, F., Arnold, D. L., Wiendl, H., Chitnis, T., Nichols, T. E., Kieseier, B. C., & Bermel, R. A. (2022). How patients with multiple sclerosis acquire disability. *Brain*(145(9)), 3147–3161. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awac016
- Lublin, F. D., & Reingold, S. C. (1996). Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: Results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neurology*, *46*(4), 907–911. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.46.4.907
- Lublin, F. D., Reingold, S. C., Cohen, J. A., Cutter, G. R., Sørensen, P. S., Thompson, A. J., Wolinsky, J. S., Balcer, L. J., Banwell, B., Barkhof, F., Bebo, B., Calabresi, P. A., Clanet, M., Comi, G., Fox, R. J., Freedman, M. S., Goodman, A. D., Inglese, M., Kappos, L., . . . Polman, C. H. (2014). Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: The 2013 revisions. *Neurology*, 83(3), 278–286. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000000560
- Lysandropoulos, A. P., & Havrdova, E. (2015). 'hidden' factors influencing quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology*, *22 Suppl 2*, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.12801
- Macaron, G., Baldassari, L. E., Nakamura, K., Rao, S. M., McGinley, M. P., Moss, B. P., Li, H., Miller, D. M., Jones, S. E., Bermel, R. A., Cohen, J. A., Ontaneda, D., & Conway, D. S. (2020). Cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis clinical practice: Association with patient-reported outcomes, employment and magnetic resonance imaging metrics. *European Journal of Neurology*, 27(7), 1238–1249. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.14239
- Magee, J. C., & Grienberger, C. (2020). Synaptic Plasticity Forms and Functions. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *43*, 95–117. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-090919-022842
- Mandolesi, G., Grasselli, G., Musella, A., Gentile, A., Musumeci, G., Sepman, H., Haji, N., Fresegna, D., Bernardi, G., & Centonze, D. (2012). Gabaergic signaling and connectivity on Purkinje cells are impaired in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *46*(2), 414–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2012.02.005
- Marcus, J. F., & Waubant, E. L. (2013). Updates on clinically isolated syndrome and diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis. *The Neurohospitalist*, *3*(2), 65–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941874412457183
- Martin, S. J., Grimwood, P. D., & Morris, R. G. (2000). Synaptic plasticity and memory: An evaluation of the hypothesis. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *23*, 649–711. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.649

- Matsumoto, H., & Ugawa, Y. (2020). Quadripulse stimulation (QPS). *Experimental Brain Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-020-05788-w
- McDonnell, M. N., Orekhov, Y., & Ziemann, U. (2007). Suppression of LTP-like plasticity in human motor cortex by the GABAB receptor agonist baclofen. *Experimental Brain Research*, *180*(1), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0849-0
- McGinley, M. P., Goldschmidt, C. H., & Rae-Grant, A. D. (2021). Diagnosis and Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Review. *JAMA*, *325*(8), 765–779. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.26858
- Meunier, C. N. J., Chameau, P., & Fossier, P. M. (2017). Modulation of Synaptic Plasticity in the Cortex Needs to Understand All the Players. *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience*, 9, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2017.00002
- Meyer-Moock, S., Feng, Y.-S., Maeurer, M., Dippel, F.-W., & Kohlmann, T. (2014). Systematic literature review and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) and the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) in patients with multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurology*, *14*, 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-14-58
- Miller, D. H., & Leary, S. M. (2007). Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, *6*(10), 903–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70243-0
- Misra, S., Kolappa, K., Prasad, M., Radhakrishnan, D., Thakur, K. T., Solomon, T., Michael, B. D., Winkler, A. S., Beghi, E., Guekht, A., Pardo, C. A., Wood, G. K., Hsiang-Yi Chou, S., Fink, E. L., Schmutzhard, E., Kheradmand, A., Hoo, F. K., Kumar, A., Das, A., . . . Prasad, K. (2021). Frequency of Neurologic Manifestations in COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Neurology*, 97(23), e2269-e2281. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000012930
- Mitchell, A. J., Benito-León, J., González, J.-M. M., & Rivera-Navarro, J. (2005). Quality of life and its assessment in multiple sclerosis: Integrating physical and psychological components of wellbeing. *The Lancet Neurology*, *4*(9), 556–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70166-6
- Mollison, D., Sellar, R., Bastin, M., Mollison, D., Chandran, S., Wardlaw, J., & Connick, P. (2017). The clinico-radiological paradox of cognitive function and MRI burden of white matter lesions in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One*, *12*(5), e0177727. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177727
- Montini, F., Nozzolillo, A., Tedone, N., Mistri, D., Rancoita, P. M., Zanetta, C., Mandelli, A., Furlan, R., Moiola, L., Martinelli, V., Rocca, M. A., & Filippi, M. (2024). Covid-19 has no impact on disease activity, progression and cognitive performance in people with multiple sclerosis: A 2-year study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 95(4), 342–347. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2023-332073
- Mori, F., Kusayanagi, H., Buttari, F., Centini, B., Monteleone, F., Nicoletti, C. G., Bernardi, G., Di Cantogno, E. V., Marciani, M. G., & Centonze, D. (2012). Early treatment with highdose interferon beta-1a reverses cognitive and cortical plasticity deficits in multiple sclerosis. *Functional Neurology*, 27(3), 163–168.
- Mori, F., Kusayanagi, H., Nicoletti, C. G., Weiss, S., Marciani, M. G., & Centonze, D. (2014). Cortical plasticity predicts recovery from relapse in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England)*, 20(4), 451–457. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513512541

- Mori, F., Nisticò, R., Mandolesi, G., Piccinin, S., Mango, D., Kusayanagi, H., Berretta, N., Bergami, A., Gentile, A., Musella, A., Nicoletti, C. G., Nicoletti, F., Buttari, F., Mercuri, N. B., Martino, G., Furlan, R., & Centonze, D. (2014). Interleukin-1β promotes long-term potentiation in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neuromolecular Medicine*, *16*(1), 38–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-013-8249-7
- Mori, F., Rossi, S., Piccinin, S., Motta, C., Mango, D., Kusayanagi, H., Bergami, A., Studer, V., Nicoletti, C. G., Buttari, F., Barbieri, F., Mercuri, N. B., Martino, G., Furlan, R., Nisticò, R., & Centonze, D. (2013). Synaptic plasticity and PDGF signaling defects underlie clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(49), 19112–19119. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2536-13.2013
- Mori, F., Rossi, S., Sancesario, G., Codecà, C., Mataluni, G., Monteleone, F., Buttari, F., Kusayanagi, H., Castelli, M., Motta, C., Studer, V., Bernardi, G., Koch, G., Bernardini, S., & Centonze, D. (2011). Cognitive and cortical plasticity deficits correlate with altered amyloid-β CSF levels in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *36*(3), 559– 568. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.187
- The Multiple Sclerosis International Federation (Ed.). (September 2020). *The Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, Atlas of MS, 3rd edition*. Last retrieved on May 06, 2024, from: https://www.msif.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Atlas-3rd-Edition-Epidemiology-report-EN-updated-30-9-20.pdf
- Murthy, V. N. (1998). Synaptic plasticity: Step-wise strengthening. *Current Biology : CB*, *8*(18), R650-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(07)00414-9
- Nakamura, K., Groiss, S. J., Hamada, M., Enomoto, H., Kadowaki, S., Abe, M., Murakami, T., Wiratman, W., Chang, F., Kobayashi, S., Hanajima, R., Terao, Y., & Ugawa, Y. (2016). Variability in Response to Quadripulse Stimulation of the Motor Cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(6), 859–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.008
- Chiaravalloti, N.D. & DeLuca, J. (2008). Cognitive Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 7, 1139–1151. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780824741846-14
- Nantes, J. C., Zhong, J., Holmes, S. A., Whatley, B., Narayanan, S., Lapierre, Y., Arnold, D. L., & Koski, L. (2016). Intracortical inhibition abnormality during the remission phase of multiple sclerosis is related to upper limb dexterity and lesions. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127(2), 1503–1511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.08.011
- The National Multiple Sclerosis Society. (2024a). *Definition of Multiple Sclerosis: Results of the immune system attack*. Last retrieved on May 06, 2024, from: https://www.nationalmssociety.org/What-is-MS/Definition-of-MS.
- The National Multiple Sclerosis Society. (2024b). *Multiple Sclerosis Symptoms: Common MS Symptoms*. Last retrieved on May 06, 2024 from: https://www.nationalmssociety.org/understanding-ms/what-is-ms/ms-symptoms
- Neva, J. L., Lakhani, B., Brown, K. E., Wadden, K. P., Mang, C. S., Ledwell, N. H. M., Borich, M. R., Vavasour, I. M., Laule, C., Traboulsee, A. L., MacKay, A. L., & Boyd, L. A. (2016). Multiple measures of corticospinal excitability are associated with clinical features of multiple sclerosis. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 297, 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.10.015

- Neva, J. L., Hayward, K. S., & Boyd, L. A. (2020). Therapeutic Effects of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS) in Stroke. In K. Sweeny, M. L. Robbins, & L. M. Cohen (Eds.), *The Wiley Encyclopedia of Health Psychology* (pp. 169–179). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119057840.ch20
- Nudo, R. J., & Milliken, G. W. (1996). Reorganization of movement representations in primary motor cortex following focal ischemic infarcts in adult squirrel monkeys. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 75(5), 2144–2149. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1996.75.5.2144
- Numssen, O., Zier, A.-L., Thielscher, A., Hartwigsen, G., Knösche, T. R., & Weise, K. (2021). Efficient high-resolution TMS mapping of the human motor cortex by nonlinear regression. *NeuroImage*, *245*, 118654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118654
- Oliva Ramirez, A., Keenan, A., Kalau, O., Worthington, E., Cohen, L., & Singh, S. (2021). Prevalence and burden of multiple sclerosis-related fatigue: A systematic literature review. *BMC Neurology*, *21*(1), 468. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-021-02396-1
- Pardini, M., Yaldizli, Ö., Sethi, V., Muhlert, N., Liu, Z., Samson, R. S., Altmann, D. R., Ron, M. A., Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M., Miller, D. H., & Chard, D. T. (2015). Motor network efficiency and disability in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, *85*(13), 1115–1122. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000001970
- Park, H. J., Lee, S., Jung, J. W., Kim, B. C., Ryu, J. H., & Kim, D. H. (2015). Glucocorticoidand long-term stress-induced aberrant synaptic plasticity are mediated by activation of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, 38(6), 1204–1212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-015-0548-0
- Patrikios, P., Stadelmann, C., Kutzelnigg, A., Rauschka, H., Schmidbauer, M., Laursen, H., Sorensen, P. S., Brück, W., Lucchinetti, C., & Lassmann, H. (2006). Remyelination is extensive in a subset of multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 129(Pt 12), 3165–3172. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl217
- Paz-Zulueta, M., Parás-Bravo, P., Cantarero-Prieto, D., Blázquez-Fernández, C., & Oterino-Durán, A. (2020). A literature review of cost-of-illness studies on the economic burden of multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 43, 102162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2020.102162
- Pinter, D., Khalil, M., Pirpamer, L., Damulina, A., Pichler, A., Fruhwirth, V., Ropele, S., Schmidt, R., Fuchs, S., & Enzinger, C. (2021). Long-term course and morphological MRI correlates of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 27(6), 954–963. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458520941474
- Ragert, P., Camus, M., Vandermeeren, Y., Dimyan, M. A., & Cohen, L. G. (2009). Modulation of effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation applied over primary motor cortex (M1) by conditioning stimulation of the opposite M1. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *102*(2), 766–773. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00274.2009
- Renner, A., Baetge, S. J., Filser, M., & Penner, I.-K. (2020). Working ability in individuals with different disease courses of multiple sclerosis: Factors beyond physical impairment. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, *46*, 102559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2020.102559

- Richter, L., Trillenberg, P., Schweikard, A., & Schlaefer, A. (2013). Stimulus intensity for hand held and robotic transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Brain Stimulation*, *6*(3), 315–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.06.002
- Ridding, M. C., & Ziemann, U. (2010). Determinants of the induction of cortical plasticity by non-invasive brain stimulation in healthy subjects. *The Journal of Physiology*, *588*(Pt 13), 2291–2304. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.190314
- Rogers, F., Bane, E., Dwyer, C. P., Alvarez-Iglesias, A., Joyce, R. A., & Hynes, S. M. (2023). Remote administration of BICAMS measures and the Trail-Making Test to assess cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 33(5), 903–926. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2022.2052324
- Rossi, S., Muzio, L., Chiara, V. de, Grasselli, G., Musella, A., Musumeci, G., Mandolesi, G., Ceglia, R. de, Maida, S., Biffi, E., Pedrocchi, A., Menegon, A., Bernardi, G., Furlan, R., Martino, G., & Centonze, D. (2011). Impaired striatal GABA transmission in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 25(5), 947–956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.10.004
- Roy, S., Benedict, R. H. B., Drake, A. S., & Weinstock-Guttman, B. (2016). Impact of Pharmacotherapy on Cognitive Dysfunction in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. CNS Drugs, 30(3), 209–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-016-0319-6
- Sandi, D., Fricska-Nagy, Z., Bencsik, K., & Vécsei, L. (2021). Neurodegeneration in Multiple Sclerosis: Symptoms of Silent Progression, Biomarkers and Neuroprotective Therapy-Kynurenines Are Important Players. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 26(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26113423
- Sastre-Garriga, J., Pareto, D., Battaglini, M., Rocca, M. A., Ciccarelli, O., Enzinger, C., Wuerfel, J., Sormani, M. P., Barkhof, F., Yousry, T. A., Stefano, N. de, Tintoré, M., Filippi, M., Gasperini, C., Kappos, L., Río, J., Frederiksen, J., Palace, J., Vrenken, H., . . . Rovira, À. (2020). Magnims consensus recommendations on the use of brain and spinal cord atrophy measures in clinical practice. *Nature Reviews*. *Neurology*, *16*(3), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-020-0314-x
- Scalfari, A., Neuhaus, A., Degenhardt, A., Rice, G. P., Muraro, P. A., Daumer, M., & Ebers, G. C. (2010). The natural history of multiple sclerosis: A geographically based study 10: Relapses and long-term disability. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *133*(Pt 7), 1914–1929. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq118
- Schirmer, L., Velmeshev, D., Holmqvist, S., Kaufmann, M., Werneburg, S., Jung, D., Vistnes, S., Stockley, J. H., Young, A., Steindel, M., Tung, B., Goyal, N., Bhaduri, A., Mayer, S., Engler, J. B., Bayraktar, O. A., Franklin, R. J. M., Haeussler, M., Reynolds, R., . . . Rowitch, D. H. (2019). Neuronal vulnerability and multilineage diversity in multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, *573*(7772), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1404-z.
- Scholz, J., Klein, M. C., Behrens, T. E. J., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2009). Training induces changes in white-matter architecture. *Nature Neuroscience*, *12*(11), 1370–1371. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2412
- Schoonheim, M. M., Broeders, T. A. A., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2022). The network collapse in multiple sclerosis: An overview of novel concepts to address disease dynamics. *NeuroImage. Clinical*, 35, 103108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2022.103108

- Schoonheim, M. M., Geurts, J. J. G., & Barkhof, F. (2010). The limits of functional reorganization in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 74(16), 1246–1247. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181db9957
- Seyedmirzaei, H., Salabat, D., KamaliZonouzi, S., Teixeira, A. L., & Rezaei, N. (2024). Risk of MS relapse and deterioration after COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 83, 105472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2024.105472
- Sharma, N., Claasen, J., & Cohen, L.G. (2013). Neural plasticity and its contribution to functional recovery. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *110*, 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-52901-5.00001-0
- Siebner, H. R., Funke, K., Aberra, A. S., Antal, A., Bestmann, S., Chen, R., Classen, J., Davare, M., Di Lazzaro, V., Fox, P. T., Hallett, M., Karabanov, A. N., Kesselheim, J., Malling Beck, M., Koch, G., Liebetanz, D., Meunier, S., Miniussi, C., Paulus, W., . . . Ugawa, Y. (2022). Transcranial magnetic stimulation of the brain: What is stimulated? a consensus and critical position paper. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2022.04.022
- Simeoni, S., Hannah, R., Sato, D., Kawakami, M., Rothwell, J., & Gigli, G. L. (2016). Effects of Quadripulse Stimulation on Human Motor Cortex Excitability: A Replication Study. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(1), 148–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.10.007
- Simkins, T. J., Duncan, G. J., & Bourdette, D. (2021). Chronic Demyelination and Axonal Degeneration in Multiple Sclerosis: Pathogenesis and Therapeutic Implications. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, 21(6), 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-021-01110-5
- Smith, A. (1982). Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT). Western Psychological Services.
- Soares, J. M., Conde, R., Magalhães, R., Marques, P., Magalhães, R., Gomes, L., Gonçalves, Ó. F., Arantes, M., & Sampaio, A. (2021). Alterations in functional connectivity are associated with white matter lesions and information processing efficiency in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 15(1), 375–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-020-00264-z
- Sommer, M., Lang, N., Tergau, F., & Paulus, W. (2002). Neuronal tissue polarization induced by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation? *Neuroreport*, *13*(6), 809–811. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200205070-00015
- Sonneville, L. de, Boringa, J. B., Reuling, I., Lazeron, R., Adèr, H. J., & Polman, C. H. (2002). Information processing characteristics in subtypes of multiple sclerosis. *Neurpsychologia*, *40*, 1751–1765.
- Stampanoni Bassi, M., Gilio, L., Buttari, F., Dolcetti, E., Bruno, A., Galifi, G., Azzolini, F., Borrelli, A., Mandolesi, G., Gentile, A., Vito, F. de, Musella, A., Simonelli, I., Centonze, D., & Iezzi, E. (2023). Preventive exercise and physical rehabilitation promote long-term potentiation-like plasticity expression in patients with multiple sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.16071
- Stampanoni Bassi, M., Gilio, L., Buttari, F., Maffei, P., Marfia, G. A., Restivo, D. A., Centonze, D., & Iezzi, E. (2017). Remodeling Functional Connectivity in Multiple

Sclerosis: A Challenging Therapeutic Approach. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *11*, 710. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00710

- Stampanoni Bassi, M., Iezzi, E., & Centonze, D. (2022). Multiple sclerosis: Inflammation, autoimmunity and plasticity. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *184*, 457–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819410-2.00024-2
- Stefano, N. de, Giorgio, A., Battaglini, M., Rovaris, M., Sormani, M. P., Barkhof, F., Korteweg, T., Enzinger, C., Fazekas, F., Calabrese, M., Dinacci, D., Tedeschi, G., Gass, A., Montalban, X., Rovira, A., Thompson, A., Comi, G., Miller, D. H., & Filippi, M. (2010). Assessing brain atrophy rates in a large population of untreated multiple sclerosis subtypes. *Neurology*, 74(23), 1868–1876. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e24136
- Stefano, N. de, Stromillo, M. L., Giorgio, A., Bartolozzi, M. L., Battaglini, M., Baldini, M., Portaccio, E., Amato, M. P., & Sormani, M. P. (2016). Establishing pathological cut-offs of brain atrophy rates in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 87(1), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2014-309903
- Stern, Y. (2002). What is cognitive reserve? Theory and research application of the reserve concept. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society: JINS*, *8*(3), 448–460.
- Strube, W., Bunse, T., Malchow, B., & Hasan, A. (2015). Efficacy and interindividual variability in motor-cortex plasticity following anodal tDCS and paired-associative stimulation. *Neural Plasticity*, 2015, 530423. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/530423
- Sumowski, J. F., & Leavitt, V. M. (2013). Cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England)*, *19*(9), 1122–1127. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513498834
- Swayne, O. B. C., Teo, J. T. H., Greenwood, R. J., & Rothwell, J. C. (2009). The facilitatory effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation on corticospinal excitability are enhanced by nicotine. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(8), 1610–1615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.06.013
- Takeda, K., Gomi, Y., Imai, I., Shimoda, N., Hiwatari, M., & Kato, H. (2007). Shift of motor activation areas during recovery from hemiparesis after cerebral infarction: A longitudinal study with near-infrared spectroscopy. *Neuroscience Research*, 59(2), 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2007.06.1466
- Taylor, J. L., & Loo, C. K. (2007). Stimulus waveform influences the efficacy of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *97*(1-3), 271–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.06.027
- Thies, M., Zrenner, C., Ziemann, U., & Bergmann, T. O. (2018). Sensorimotor mu-alpha power is positively related to corticospinal excitability. *Brain Stimulation*, *11*(5), 1119–1122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.06.006
- Thompson, A. J., Banwell, B. L., Barkhof, F., Carroll, W. M., Coetzee, T., Comi, G., Correale, J., Fazekas, F., Filippi, M., Freedman, M. S., Fujihara, K., Galetta, S. L., Hartung, H. P., Kappos, L., Lublin, F. D., Marrie, R. A., Miller, A. E., Miller, D. H., Montalban, X., . . . Cohen, J. A. (2018). Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *The Lancet Neurology*, *17*(2), 162–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

- Tiksnadi, A., Murakami, T., Wiratman, W., Matsumoto, H., & Ugawa, Y. (2020). Direct comparison of efficacy of the motor cortical plasticity induction and the interindividual variability between TBS and QPS. *Brain Stimulation*, *13*(6), 1824–1833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2020.10.014
- Tonietto, M., Poirion, E., Lazzarotto, A., Ricigliano, V., Papeix, C., Bottlaender, M., Bodini, B., & Stankoff, B. (2023). Periventricular remyelination failure in multiple sclerosis: A substrate for neurodegeneration. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *146*(1), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awac334
- Tóth, E., Faragó, P., Király, A., Szabó, N., Veréb, D., Kocsis, K., Kincses, B., Sandi, D., Bencsik, K., Vécsei, L., & Kincses, Z. T. (2019). The Contribution of Various MRI Parameters to Clinical and Cognitive Disability in Multiple Sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9, 1172. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.01172
- Trapp, B. D., Peterson, J., Ransohoff, R. M., Rudick, R., Mörk, S., & Bö, L. (1998). Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 338(5), 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199801293380502
- Traversa, R., Cicinelli, P., Bassi, A., Rossini, P. M., & Bernardi, G. (1997). Mapping of motor cortical reorganization after stroke. A brain stimulation study with focal magnetic pulses. *Stroke*, 28(1), 110–117. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.28.1.110
- Tsagkas, C., Chakravarty, M. M., Gaetano, L., Naegelin, Y., Amann, M., Parmar, K., Papadopoulou, A., Wuerfel, J., Kappos, L., Sprenger, T., & Magon, S. (2020). Longitudinal patterns of cortical thinning in multiple sclerosis. *Human Brain Mapping*, 41(8), 2198–2215. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24940
- Turrigiano, G. G., & Nelson, S. B. (2004). Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *5*(2), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1327
- Turton, A., Wroe, S., Trepte, N., Fraser, C., & Lemon, R. N. (1996). Contralateral and ipsilateral EMG responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation during recovery of arm and hand function after stroke. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 101(4), 316–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/0924-980x(96)95560-5
- Ugawa, Y. (2012). Motor cortical plasticity in basal ganglia disorders or movement disorders. *Basal Ganglia*, 2(3), 119–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baga.2012.08.005
- Uher, T., Krasensky, J., Sobisek, L., Blahova Dusankova, J., Seidl, Z., Kubala Havrdova, E., Sormani, M. P., Horakova, D., Kalincik, T., & Vaneckova, M. (2018). Cognitive clinicoradiological paradox in early stages of multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology*, 5(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.512
- Walton, C., King, R., Rechtman, L., Kaye, W., Leray, E., Marrie, R. A., Robertson, N., La Rocca, N., Uitdehaag, B., van der Mei, I., Wallin, M., Helme, A., Angood Napier, C., Rijke, N., & Baneke, P. (2020). Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS, third edition. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 26(14), 1816– 1821. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458520970841
- Wei, L., Erinjeri, J. P., Rovainen, C. M., & Woolsey, T. A. (2001). Collateral growth and angiogenesis around cortical stroke. *Stroke*, 32(9), 2179–2184. https://doi.org/10.1161/hs0901.094282

- Weinstock, Z., Morrow, S., Conway, D., Fuchs, T., Wojcik, C., Unverdi, M., Zivadinov, R., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Iverson, G. L., Dwyer, M., & Benedict, R. H. (2021). Interpreting change on the Symbol Digit Modalities Test in people with relapsing multiple sclerosis using the reliable change methodology. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 13524585211049397. https://doi.org/10.1177/13524585211049397
- Welton, T., Constantinescu, C. S., Auer, D. P., & Dineen, R. A. (2020). Graph Theoretic Analysis of Brain Connectomics in Multiple Sclerosis: Reliability and Relationship with Cognition. *Brain Connectivity*, *10*(2), 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1089/brain.2019.0717
- Wendt, K., Sorkhabi, M. M., Stagg, C. J., Fleming, M. K., Denison, T., & O'Shea, J. (2023). The effect of pulse shape in theta-burst stimulation: Monophasic vs biphasic TMS. *Brain Stimulation*, 16(4), 1178–1185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2023.08.001
- Wirsching, I., Buttmann, M., Odorfer, T., Volkmann, J., Classen, J., & Zeller, D. (2018). Altered motor plasticity in an acute relapse of multiple sclerosis. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 47(3), 251–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13818
- Witte, M. E., Mahad, D. J., Lassmann, H., & van Horssen, J. (2014). Mitochondrial dysfunction contributes to neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 20(3), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2013.11.007
- Wojcik, C., Fuchs, T. A., Tran, H., Dwyer, M. G., Jakimovski, D., Unverdi, M., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Zivadinov, R., Eshaghi, A., & Benedict, R. H. (2022). Staging and stratifying cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 28(3), 463–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/13524585211011390
- Wu, Y., Dissing-Olesen, L., MacVicar, B. A., & Stevens, B. (2015). Microglia: Dynamic Mediators of Synapse Development and Plasticity. *Trends in Immunology*, 36(10), 605–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2015.08.008
- Yang, J., Hamade, M., Wu, Q., Wang, Q., Axtell, R., Giri, S., & Mao-Draayer, Y. (2022). Current and Future Biomarkers in Multiple Sclerosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23115877
- Zeller, D., aufm Kampe, K., Biller, A., Stefan, K., Gentner, R., Schütz, A., Bartsch, A., Bendszus, M., Toyka, K. V., Rieckmann, P., & Classen, J. (2010). Rapid-onset central motor plasticity in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 74(9), 728–735. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181d31dcf
- Zeller, D., & Classen, J. (2014). Plasticity of the motor system in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroscience*, 283, 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.05.043
- Zeller, D., Dang, S.-Y., Weise, D., Rieckmann, P., Toyka, K. V., & Classen, J. (2012). Excitability decreasing central motor plasticity is retained in multiple sclerosis patients. *BMC Neurology*, *12*(92).
- Ziemann, U., Paulus, W., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A., Byblow, W. D., Berardelli, A., Siebner, H. R., Classen, J., Cohen, L. G., & Rothwell, J. C. (2008). Consensus: Motor cortex plasticity protocols. *Brain Stimulation*, 1(3), 164–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.006
- Zivadinov, R., Uher, T., Hagemeier, J., Vaneckova, M., Ramasamy, D. P., Tyblova, M., Bergsland, N., Seidl, Z., Dwyer, M. G., Krasensky, J., Havrdova, E., & Horakova, D. (2016). A serial 10-year follow-up study of brain atrophy and disability progression in

RRMS patients. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 22(13), 1709–1718. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458516629769

- Zrenner, C., Desideri, D., Belardinelli, P., & Ziemann, U. (2018). Real-time EEG-defined excitability states determine efficacy of TMS-induced plasticity in human motor cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, *11*(2), 374–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2017.11.016
- Zrenner, C., & Ziemann, U (2023). Closed-Loop Brain Stimulation. *Biological Psychiatry.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2023.09.014

Appendix A: 2017 McDonald criteria for diagnosis of multiple sclerosis

Table A1. 2017 McDonald Criteria for diagnosis of multiple sclerosis in patients with an attack at onset

Clinical presentation	Additional data needed for MS diagnosis
≥ 2 clinical attacks and objective clinical evidence of ≥ 2 lesions; or ≥2 clinical attacks and objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion and clearcut historical evidence of a prior attack involving a lesion in a distinct anatomic location	None
≥ 2 clinical attacks and objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion	Dissemination in space, demonstrated by an additional clinical attack implicating a different CNS site <i>OR</i>
	Demonstration of dissemination in space by MRI
1 clinical attack and objective clinical evidence of ≥ 2 lesions	Dissemination in time, demonstrated by a second clinical attack <i>OR</i>
	Demonstration of dissemination in time by MRI <i>OR</i>
	Demonstration of cerebrospinal-fluid- specific oligoclonal bands
1 clinical attack and objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion	Dissemination in space and time, demonstrated by: <i>For dissemination in space:</i> A second clinical attack implicating a different CNS site
	Demonstration of dissemination in space by MRI
	<i>For dissemination in time:</i> A second clinical attack
	OR Demonstration of dissemination in time by MRI OR
	Demonstration of cerebrospinal-fluid- specific oligoclonal bands

Note. MS= multiple sclerosis; CNS= central nervous system; MRI= magnetic resonance imaging. Adapted from "Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria" by Thompson et al. (2018).

Clinical presentation	Additional criteria
One year of disability progression	2 out of the following:
(retrospective or prospectively	1) \geq 1 T2-hyperintense lesions in \geq 1
determined) independent of clinical	areas in the brain characteristic of
relapse	MS (periventricular,
	cortical/juxtacortical or infratentorial)
	 ≥ 2 T2-hyperintense lesions in the
	spinal cord
	Presence of cerebrospinal-fluid-
	specific oligoclonal bands

 Table A2. 2017 McDonald Criteria for primary progressive multiple sclerosis (PPMS)

Note. MS= multiple sclerosis. Adapted from "Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria" by Thompson et al. (2018).

Appendix B: Original research articles

This thesis is based on the following original research articles:

Study 1 – Synaptic plasticity in RRMS and its association with cognitive performance

Balloff, C.,³ Penner, I.-K.,³ Ma, M., Georgiades, I., Scala, L., Troullinakis, N., Graf, J., Kremer, D., Aktas, O., Hartung, H.-P., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Groiss, S.J.,⁴ & Albrecht, P.⁴ (2022). The degree of cortical plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Brain Stimulation*, *15*(2), 403–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007

Conceptualization & methodology: I defined the research question and analysis plan in consultation with S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner based on the experimental design, which was created by S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner.

Investigation & project administration: I supervised recruitment of participants and data collection. I recruited participants and independently performed neuropsychological tests and rTMS. I was also responsible for data curation. Project administration was performed by me, S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner. S.J. Groiss and P. Albrecht conducted neurological assessments. M. Ma, I. Georgiades and L. Scala recruited participants and conducted neuropsychological tests and rTMS under supervision. N. Troullinakis, J. Graf, D. Kremer, O. Aktas, S.J. Groiss and P. Albrecht contributed to the recruitment of participants.

Formal analysis: I conducted the statistical analyses independently and reviewed them for correctness.

Resources: S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner provided funding for this study. Further resources were provided by H.-P. Hartung, S.G. Meuth and A. Schnitzler.

Manuscript: I wrote the initial manuscript, which included all steps from comprehensive literature research to final formulation. I created the figures and tables independently. I coordinated the scientific review process at the journal. During this process, with the assistance of I.-K. Penner, S.J. Groiss, and P. Albrecht, I made revisions. I prepared the final version of the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript. I.-K. Penner, S.J. Groiss, and P. Albrecht additionally contributed to the original draft.

³ Shared first authorship.

⁴ Shared last authorship.



https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007

1935-861X/0 2022 Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

spasticity, paresis, and disturbances of sensibility at some point during the disease [6,7]. MS also often results in neuropsychiatric and cognitive symptoms including depression, fatigue and cognitive impairment (CI) [2]. CI affects approximately 40–65% of MS patients [8,9], often occurs early on in the disease [10] and significantly affects the patients' quality of life, vocational status and social activities [11,12].

Remarkable advances have been made in the diagnosis and treatment of MS. This includes progress in research on the clinicoradiological paradox [13,14], referring to the at times staggering discrepancy between radiological parameters and clinical outcomes. Yet, prediction of individual clinical course remains impossible, suggesting that accumulation of cerebral lesions and atrophy are not the only determinants of disability in MS.

Compensatory mechanisms of cortical reorganization and plasticity may be an important additional factor, as they can offset deficits caused by demyelination and neurodegeneration [15,16]. If these compensatory reserve mechanisms are exhausted, structural damage may directly translate into disability. This is particularly relevant for cognitive decline, as it often results from complex pathologies, involving both white and gray matter [17]. Therefore, the development of reliable methods to assess cortical plasticity and the compensatory reserve are of paramount interest as they could be of prognostic value.

Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) of the cortex may ideally be suited for this undertaking. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a non-invasive method to stimulate the cortex by inducing an electrical current. Using repetitive stimulation, the cortical excitability can be changed by modulating mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. Both facilitation, comparable with long term potentiation (LTP), and inhibition, comparable with long term depression, can be induced by different stimulation frequencies [18,19].

Previous studies on rTMS-induced plasticity of the motor cortex in RRMS patients revealed conflicting results regarding differences compared to healthy controls (HCs) during remission [20–24]. During relapse, preserved plasticity was associated with better functional recovery [25] and a reversal of the direction of induced plasticity may reflect compensatory metaplastic effects on the cortical level [26].

These results suggest that rTMS is an appropriate technique to measure the compensatory reserve in MS patients with possibly high relevance for individual prognosis. However, a limiting factor is that conventional rTMS plasticity protocols show high variability and up to 60% non-responder rates [27]. The aim of the present study was to assess motor cortex plasticity in RRMS patients and HCs using quadripulse stimulation (QPS), supposedly one of the most effective plasticity inducing protocols with lowest variability [28–30]. QPS has been shown to selectively modulate the excitatory glutamatergic cortical neuronal network, whereas other TMS protocols also modulate inhibitory GABA-ergic networks [31,32]. Since the glutamatergic network presumably plays an important role in the pathophysiology of MS [33,34], QPS may represent a more reliable method to measure cortical plasticity in MS than other TMS protocols.

Using this new approach, we investigated the relationship between cortical plasticity and two of the most frequently affected cognitive domains, namely information processing speed (IPS) and visuospatial short-term memory and learning [2,35,36]. Research on the relationship between TMS-induced plasticity and cognitive performance using other TMS protocols indicates that reduced plasticity may be associated with cognitive deficits [37,38]. We therefore aimed to replicate these findings with our TMS protocol using the correlation coefficients between QPS-induced plasticity and our cognitive outcome measures as the primary outcomes. Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

We further aimed at comparing RRMS patients with HCs regarding the degree of QPS-induced plasticity to resolve the ambiguous current research status. We expected to find reduced plasticity in RRMS patients, indicated by a significant QPS^xgroup interaction in a linear mixed model.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Subjects

Patients diagnosed with definite RRMS according to the revised McDonald criteria [39] and age-, sex- and education-matched HCs were recruited between May 2018 and May 2021 at the University Hospital in Düsseldorf, Germany. The following exclusion criteria were applied: (1) history of diseases of the central or peripheral nervous system other than RRMS, (2) history of psychiatric diseases potentially affecting cognition other than remitted depressive episodes, (3) presence of any contraindication for TMS, (4) drug or alcohol abuse. Exclusion criteria were incorporated in a standardized questionnaire, including a TMS safety screening [40]. Patients had to be relapse-free for at least 30 days and sufficient visual acuity to recognize visual material in the neuropsychological assessment was required for all subjects. Informed written consent was provided prior to participation. The study was approved by the ethical committee of the medical faculty of the Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf (study-number 2018-16) and carried out in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki.

3. Experimental design

Data were assessed in a single session using a standardized protocol: (1) neurological and neuropsychological examination, (2) cortical plasticity measurements using TMS.

3.1. Neurological and neuropsychological assessment

Measures of IPS, visuospatial short-term memory and learning, depression, anxiety, and fatigue were applied by trained personnel experienced in the treatment of patients with MS. The Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) [41] and medical history were determined by experienced neurologists. The EDSS is a widely accepted method to quantify MS-related disability on an ordinal scale ranging from 0 (no neurological signs) to 10 (death due to MS).

To assess IPS and visuospatial short-term memory and learning, the oral version of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) [42] and three learning trials of the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised (BVMT-R) [43] were used, respectively. To identify patients with CI, SDMT and BVMT-R z-scores were calculated based on the norms provided in the German SDMT validation study [44] and BVMT-R manual [43]. In line with the defined and utilized cut-off value for the SDMT in Germany [44] and to ensure comparability between tests, patients with Z-scores lower than –1.68 in either of these two tests were classified as cognitively impaired.

Depression, anxiety and fatigue were measured with the total subscale scores of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale [45] and the total score of the Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions [46] representing a measure of trait fatigue, respectively, to control for potential confounders.

3.2. Cortical plasticity measurements using TMS

Participants were seated in a comfortable reclining chair with arms placed on cushioned armrests. The motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitude of the right first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle

served as measure for cortical excitability. First, baseline MEP were recorded, followed by QPS, which was used as a plasticity inducing rTMS protocol. After the intervention, MEPs were recorded every 10 min during a follow up of 60 min (Figure A1, Supplement). The degree of MEP amplitude changes induced by QPS served as measure of cortical plasticity.

3.2.1. Transcranial magnetic stimulation

Single pulse monophasic TMS was applied to the left primary motor cortex using a hand-held figure-of-eight coil (70 mm outer diameter, The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK) connected to a Magstim BiStim [2] (The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK) stimulator. The coil was positioned tangentially to the skull with the handle pointing posterolateral at an angle of 45° to the sagittal plane to ensure a posterior-anterior current direction in the brain. The FDI hotspot was defined as the optimal position for eliciting the largest MEP in the target muscle. Starting 5 cm lateral and 1 cm ventral to the vertex, we approximated this site before each experiment in 1 cm steps until reliable MEPs were evoked in the FDI. Subjects were told to keep the target muscle relaxed, to minimize verbal interactions with the experimenter and to keep count of the number of applied stimuli during the session to avoid

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

MEP changes due to muscle innervation or shifts in attention. The selected FDI hotspot was marked on the subjects' head using a colorful pen to ensure consistent coil position across stimulations.

We applied single pulses of TMS to define motor thresholds. Resting motor threshold was determined as the minimum stimulus intensity producing \geq 50 µV MEPs in at least five out of ten trials at rest using the relative frequency method [47]. Accordingly, active motor threshold was determined as the minimum stimulus intensity able to produce \geq 100 µV MEPs in at least five out of ten consecutive trials during 10–20% of maximal FDI muscle contraction. MEP latency was measured by applying ten single pulses with subject maintained a contraction of ~30% of the maximum voluntary activity at the target muscle, as assessed by surface electromyography (EMG) and monitored in real time on an oscilloscope (DS1074B, Batronix Rigol, Preetz, Germany). For statistical analyses, the mean latency of the ten trials was calculated [48].

3.2.2. Motor evoked potential recordings

MEPs were recorded by surface EMG using Ag–AgCl-electrodes (20×15 mm, Ambu, Ballerup, Denmark) in a belly-tendon montage. The signal was amplified (Digitimer D360, Digitimer



Ltd, Hertfordshire, UK, frequency band of the filter: 100–5000 Hz), digitized at a sampling rate of 5 kHz and stored on a computer for offline analysis (Signal version 6.02, Cambridge Electronic Design Ltd., Cambridge, UK). MEP responses evoked by single pulse TMS, adjusted to be ~0.5 mV, were recorded pre QPS. For each of the post interventional time points, MEP responses evoked by the same stimulation intensity, were recorded. At each time point 12 MEPs were averaged. Trials contaminated with voluntary muscle activity and/or artefacts impeding the assessment's interpretation were discarded from analyses, resulting in an average of 11 utilized MEPs for each time point and subject.

3.2.3. Quadripulse stimulation

We used the QPS protocol originally described by Hamada et al. [31], supposedly leading to a more homogenous and efficient stimulation of neuron populations than biphasic rTMS. Four stimulators (Magstim 200 [2], The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK) were connected using a combining module (The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK) to allow for monophasic rTMS. 360 TMS-bursts, each consisting of four monophasic TMS-pulses with an interstimulus-interval of 5 ms, were repeatedly applied at a frequency of 0.2 Hz to induce LTP-like plasticity. The stimulation intensity was set at 90% of the active motor threshold and the subject was told to keep the target muscle relaxed, which was monitored using an oscilloscope.

3.2.4. Statistical analyses

Since this is the first study using QPS in a cognition study with MS patients, we could not rely on previous data to calculate sample size. It was therefore based on the number of patients and matched HCs eligible for this study.

According to the nature of the data, clinical and demographic group differences between patients and HCs were assessed using Fisher's exact test for categorical data and Mann-Whitney-U-test for continuous variables, since requirements of parametric testing were not met in at least one group. MEP amplitude changes after QPS were used as an operationalisation of plasticity as they can be investigated with high reproducibility and standardization [31].

To investigate the association between QPS-induced LTP and cognitive performance, the difference between the maximum of the six mean post MEPs and the pre MEP amplitude (Δ MEP) was calculated, reflecting the maximum degree of cortico-spinal excitability change following QPS. Spearman's Rank correlation coefficients of Δ MEP with SDMT and BVMT-R total scores were computed and Bonferroni corrected *p*-values below .05 were considered statistically significant.

Post-hoc, Spearman's Rank correlation coefficients of Δ MEP with age, education, MEP latency, EDSS, depression, anxiety, and fatigue were calculated as these factors could impact TMS-induced plasticity. Due to the exploratory nature of these post-hoc analyses, no multiple comparisons correction was applied. All above analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25).

To control for potentially confounding factors on MEP responses and cognition, stepwise linear regression models predicting the performance on SDMT and BVMT-R in patients based on Δ MEP and the before mentioned covariates were conducted. Since there is evidence of differences in cognitive performance between the biological sexes [49] and sex-specific disruption of cortical mechanisms in MS [50], the biological sex was added as a binary covariate as well. Continuous variables were centered at the sample mean and analysis was carried out using the MASS package in R Studio (version 1.3.1093). Listwise deletion was applied in case of missing data.

Group comparisons between patients and HCs regarding QPSinduced motor plasticity were carried out with linear mixed-

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

effects models using the nlme package in R Studio (version 1.3.1093) to account for clustering of pre and post assessment within subjects. For each subject, the pre QPS MEP, controlled to be ~0.5 mV, and the maximum of the six mean post MEPs entered analyses to compare the maximum degree of cortico-spinal excitability change after QPS between patients and HCs. Details on model computation are provided in Methods A1, *Supplement*.

Post-hoc, clinical and demographic group differences between patients with and without CI were assessed using the same testing procedures as described for the group comparison of RRMS patients and HCs. Additionally, receiver-operating characteristic analysis was conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25) to evaluate the ability of Δ MEP to discriminate between patients with and without CI. The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated and transformed into Cohen's d according to Rice and Harris [51].

4. Data availability

Anonymized data not published within this article will be made available by request from any qualified investigator.

5. Results

5.1. Neurological and neuropsychological sample characteristics

Out of 683 approached people, 63 patients with RRMS and 55 age-, sex- and education matched HCs were included in the study (Fig. 1). Descriptive statistics are presented in Table 1. Proving successful matching, no significant differences between RRMS patients and HCs regarding age, gender or education were found. TMS thresholds were comparable in both groups. However, MEP latency was significantly longer in the RRMS sample and significantly more patients than HCs presented with clinical anxiety and depression scores. It should be noted that these scores do not reflect psychiatric diagnoses, but only indicate the presence of symptoms during the past week. In line with this and our exclusion criteria, all patients denied ongoing depressive episodes or anxiety disorders. The neuropsychological tests revealed significantly worse performance in IPS and visuospatial short-term memory and learning for RRMS patients.

5.2. Correlations of neuropsychological performance with QPSinduced neural plasticity

Correlational analyses of SDMT and BVMT-R total scores with QPS-induced plasticity revealed significant positive correlations between these performance measures and Δ MEP in RRMS patients (SDMT: $r_s = 0.45$, Bonferroni-corrected p < .001; BVMT-R: $r_s = 0.40$, Bonferroni-corrected p = .002). As presented in Fig. 2, better performances in both IPS and visuospatial short-term memory and learning were associated with higher Δ MEP. In HCs, however, there was no significant correlation with Δ MEP (SDMT: $r_s = 0.23$, Bonferroni-corrected p = .19; BVMT-R: $r_s = -0.11$, Bonferroni-corrected p = .86).

Post-hoc, no association between depression, anxiety and fatigue with Δ MEP was found in either of the two groups (Table 2). There were, however, significant negative correlations with MEP latency ($r_s = -0.31$, p = .02), age ($r_s = -0.25$, p = .045), and EDSS ($r_s = -0.26$, p = .04) in RRMS patients. Independent of these confounding factors, stepwise linear regression modeling revealed a significant influence of Δ MEP on both BVMT-R ($\beta = 1.20$, p = .03) and SDMT ($\beta = 2.83$, p = .006) (Table 3).

Table 1

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

Participant characteristics.					
Characteristic	RRMS ($N = 63$)	HCs $(N = 55)$	p-value		
Sex, No. (%), female	42 (67)	36 (66)	>.99		
Handedness, No. (%), right	56 (89)	49 (89)	>.99		
Age, median (min-max), years	39 (20-61)	33 (21-67)	.60		
Education, median (min-max), years	16 (8-22)	16 (12-21)	.12		
AMT, median (min-max), % MSO	38 (27-73)	39 (24-48)	.16		
RMT, median (min-max), % MSO	48 (33-81)	48 (31-63)	.39		
MEP 0.5 mV, median (min-max), % MSO	59 (36-100)	57 (35-88)	.06		
MEP latency, median (min-max), ms ^a	23.05 (17.74-37.83)	21.77 (18.88-27.18)	.01		
ΔPost-Pre MEP amplitude, median (min-max), mV	0.48 (-0.30-3.17)	0.56 (-0.01-2.68)	.56		
BVMT-R					
Total learning score, median (min-max)	25 (2-35)	29 (8-36)	<.001		
z-score, median (min-max) ^b	-0.29 (-4.70-1.92)	0.80 (-3.53-1.82)	<.001		
SDMT					
correct items, median (min-max)	55 (19-84)	63 (33-98)	<.001		
z-score, median (min-max) ^c	-0.48 (-4.12-2.14)	0.43 (-2.17 - 3.67)	<.001		
HADS, No. (%), clinical ^d					
Anxiety	9 (14)	0(0)	.004		
Depression	9 (14)	0(0)	.004		
Disease duration, median (min-max), years	9.35 (0-30)				
EDSS, median (min-max)	1.5 (0-7.5)				
FSMC, No. (%), mild/moderate/severe ^e					
Motor	9 (14)/8 (13)/27 (43)				
Cognitive	8 (13)/11 (18)/21 (33)				
DMT exposure, No. (%)					
None	11 (18)				
Natalizumab	21 (33)				
Ocrelizumab	19 (30)				
Glatiramer acetate	2 (3)				
Dimethyl fumarate	2 (3)				
Interferon beta-1a	2 (3)				
Fingolimod	2 (3)				
Cladribine	2 (3)				
Alemtuzumab	1 (2)				
Teriflunomid	1 (2)				

Note. p-values < .05 are in boldface and based on two-tailed analysis. RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis. HCs= Healthy controls. AMT = Active Motor Threshold. RMT = Resting Motor Threshold. MEP = Motor evoked potential. MEP 0.5 mV = Stimulation intensity producing a reliable MEP of -0.5 mV. MSO = Maximal stimulator output. BWT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised. DNT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. HADS=Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. EDSS = Expanded Disability Status Scale. FSMC= Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition. Classification based on cut-off scores defined in the manual. DMT = Disease-modifying therapy.

Calculation based on the BVMT-R manual [1].

Calculation based on German norms [2]. ¹ Missings as follow: 2 HCs. Classification as clinical based on scores \geq 11. ² Classification as mild, moderate, and severe based on cut-offs provided in the FSMC. [3].

5.3. Differences in QPS-induced plasticity between patients with Multiple Sclerosis and HCs

Fig. 3a illustrates the averaged ΔMEP per time point for HCs and RRMS patients. In both groups, Δ MEP strongly increased post QPS intervention and LTP-like effects lasted until the end of the experiment, suggesting equal degrees of QPS-induced plasticity in RRMS patients and HCs. To test group differences for statistical significance, linear mixed-effects models were carried out as described above.

The model including QPS, group, age and $\ensuremath{\mathsf{QPS}^{\mathsf{x}}}\xspace$ group was superior compared to all other models and revealed significant effects of the QPS intervention ($\beta = 0.63$, p < .001) and age ($\beta = -0.03$, p = .03) (Table 4). Prior to stimulation, MEP amplitudes were equal in both groups ($\dot{eta} - -0.01, p - .80$) since they were experimentally adjusted to be ~0.5 mV in all subjects. Overall, the final model fit was satisfying with a conditional R^2 of 0.97 and a marginal R^2 of 0.37. Including depression, anxiety, latency and their interaction with the intervention did not improve model fit and none of these predictors reached statistical significance. There further was no significant interaction of age^xgroup or age^xQPS in rejected models.

For clarity, we plotted estimated MEP amplitudes pre and post QPS for a hypothetical HC and RRMS patient, representative of the average subject in our study, based on the fixed effects of the model (Fig. 3b). This illustrates, on average, an equally strong increase of the MEP amplitude post QPS in both groups. Yet, there is considerable variation between subjects as indicated by an adjusted intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.95.

5.4. Differences in QPS-induced plasticity between cognitively impaired and unimpaired patients

Due to the significant correlation between QPS-induced plasticity and SDMT and BVMT-R total scores, we compared the degree of QPS-induced plasticity between patients with and without CI. Characteristics of the two groups are provided in Table A1, Supplement.

Fig. 3c illustrates the averaged Δ MEP per time point for patients with 1) no CI and 2) impairment in at least one of the two tests. In patients without CI, ΔMEP continuously increases post QPS intervention, indicating strong LTP-like effects. In patients with CI, Δ MEP peaks 40 min post QPS intervention and is lower than in patients without CI across all time points, indicating reduced QPS-induced plasticity in patients with CI. This is also true when investigating Δ MEP per time point for patients with impairment in the SDMT and BVMT-R separately (Figure A2, Supplement).

As described above, group differences were tested for statistical significance using linear mixed-effects models. The model





Fig. 2. Correlations of the difference between pre and post QPS MEP amplitude with SDMT and BVMT-R in patients with RRMS (a,b) and HCs (c,d) This figure shows the correlations of the difference between the pre and post QPS MEP amplitude with the SDMT as a measure of information processing speed and the BVMT-R as a measure of visuospatial short-term memory and learning separately for patients with RRMS and HCs. HCs=Healthy Controls; RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis; BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised; SDMT = Symbol Digit Modalities Test; QPS = Quadripulse stimulation; MEP = Motor evoked potential; Δ MEP = Difference between the maximum of the six mean MEP amplitude after stimulation and the MEP amplitude before stimulation.

including QPS, group, fatigue, and QPS^xgroup was superior compared to all other models and revealed significant effects of QPS intervention ($\beta = 0.69$, p < .001), fatigue ($\beta = -0.04$, p = .03), and QPS^xgroup ($\beta = -0.31$, p = .04) (Table A2, *Supplement*). The final model achieved a satisfying fit with a conditional and marginal R^2 of 0.95 and 0.38, respectively.

Correlation coefficients of clinical characteristics with Δ MEP.

Table 2

The model-estimated pre and post QPS MEP amplitudes based on the fixed effects for a representative patient with and without CI are presented in Fig. 3d. An increase of the MEP amplitude post QPS was observed in both groups. However, it was significantly stronger in patients without CI than in patients with CI. Again, we found considerable variation between subjects with an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.93.

The receiver-operating characteristic analysis revealed moderate accuracy (AUC = 0.69; d = 0.68) of Δ MEP to differentiate

	RRMS ($N = 63$)		HCs $(N = 55)$	
	rs	p-value	r _s	p-value
BVMT-R	0.40	.002	-0.11	.86
SDMT	0.45	<.001	0.23	.19
Post Hoc Analyses				
MEP Latency ^a	-0.31	.02	-0.10	.55
Age	-0.25	.045	0.01	.96
Education	0.19	0.26	0.08	>.99
HADS			-0.16 -0.23	.26 .09
Depression	-0.08	.54		
Anxiety	0.19	.14		
FSMC				
Motor	-0.20	.12		
Cognitive	-0.18	.16		
EDSS ^b	-0.26	.04		

Note. p-values <.05 are in boldface and based on two-tailed analysis. p-values of the BVMT-R and SDMT were Bonferroni-corrected for multiple testing (two tests). $\Delta MEP = difference between the maximum of the six mean MEP amplitude after stimulation and the MEP amplitude before stimulation. RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sciencois. HCs= Healthy controls. BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised. SDMT- Symbol Digit Modallites Test. MEP = Motor evoked potential. HADS= Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. FSMC = Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognitive Function. EDSS = Expanded Disability Status Scale.$ ^a Missing as follows: 6 RRMS. 15 HCs.

^a Missing as follows: 6 RRMS, 15 HCs.
^b One RRMS patient excluded from analysis because EDSS did not accurately reflect the patient's disability. According to the examining neurologist the patient showed clear signs of aggravation in the examination of motor symptoms, potentially due to an overlying somatoform disorder.

Table 3	
Multivariable linear regression model of BVMT-R and SDMT total score in RRMS.	

	-			
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SEb	t-value	р
BVMT-R				
Intercept	+21.59(+18.83; +24.36)	1.37	15.68	<.001
ΔMEP	+1.20(+0.13; +2.27)	0.53	2.25	.03
MEP Latency	-1.54 (-2.77; -0.30)	0.61	-2.50	.02
Age	-2.52(-4.03; -1.02)	0.75	-3.37	.001
Education	+3.32(+1.60;+5.04)	0.86	3.87	<.001
Fatigue	+1.79(+0.10; +3.48)	0.84	2.13	0.04
Sex ^a	+2.77(-0.50:+6.00)	1.61	1.72	0.09
SDMT				
Intercept	+53.88(+51.01;+56.75)	1.43	37.67	<.001
ΔMEP	+2.83(+0.82;+4.84)	1.00	2.82	.007
Age	-4.85 (-7.60; -2.10)	1.37	-3.54	<.001
MEP Latency	-3.92(-6.78; -1.06)	1.43	-2.75	.008
Education	+3.23(+0.70;+5.76)	1.26	2.56	.01

Note. Two-tailed *p*-values and CI are displayed. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. MEP = Motor evoked potential. BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. Δ MEP = difference between the maximum of the six mean MEP amplitude after stimulation and the MEP amplitude before stimulation. All SE are robust SE based on HC4-method and *t*-and *p*-values were derived from robust SE.

Adjusted $R^2_{BVMT-R} = 0.38 \ (p < .001)$. Adjusted $R^2_{SDMT} = 0.37 \ (p < .001)$. ^a Male = 0, female = 1.



Fig. 3. QPS-induced plasticity in patients with RRMS compared to matched HCs (a,b) and in RRMS patients with cognitive impairment compared to patients without cognitive impairment (c,d). (b) and (d) show the predicted MEP amplitude based on the fixed effects of the linear mixed models. This figure shows the level of QPS-induced plasticity in different clinical subgroups. The upper part of the figure (a,b) displays QPS-induced plasticity in patients with RRMS compared to matched HCs. The lower part of the figure (c,d) shows QPS-induced plasticity in patients with RMMS compared to matched HCs. The lower part of the figure (c,d) shows QPS-induced plasticity in patients with RMMS compared to matched HCs. The lower part of the figure (c,d) shows QPS-induced plasticity in RRMS patients with and without cognitive impairment. The left part of the figure (c,c) shows the averaged difference between the pre and post QPS MEP amplitude per time point. The right part of the figure (b,d) shows the predicted MEP amplitude based on the fixed effects of the linear mixed models. QPS = Quadripulse stimulation; MEP = Motor evoked potential; HCS=Healty Controls; RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosi; Cl=Cognitive impairment.

between both patient groups and high accuracy when investigating concurrent impairment in both SDMT and BVMT (AUC = 0.83; d = 1.33) and impairment in the SDMT (AUC = 0.75; d = 0.95) and BVMT (AUC = 0.72; d = 0.81) separately (Fig. 4).

6. Discussion

Table 4

We present the first study investigating QPS of the motor cortex as a measure of global cortical plasticity in MS. a method that has previously demonstrated a higher reproducibility than other rTMS paradigms [28]. Using this technique we identified significant correlations of QPS-induced plasticity with the SDMT and BVMT-R in a large patient cohort. Measures of IPS and visuospatial shortterm memory and learning assess cognitive core domains which are of high relevance for daily living of patients [11].

The fact that this association remained significant when controlling for confounding factors such as the MEP latency, supposedly at least partly representing the integrity of the pyramidal tract, and that we also found a negative association of QPS-induced plasticity with the EDSS, highlights the relevance of global synaptic plasticity for the clinical status of patients. The clinical relevance of this method is further supported by the fact that QPS-induced plasticity was significantly lower in cognitively impaired compared to cognitively preserved patients and by our finding of no correlation in HCs. These results suggest that mechanisms of reserve only become relevant when a sufficient degree of pathology, that needs to be compensated, is present [52,53]. In line with

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	s [2]
Intercept	$+0.56 (0.52; 0.60)^{a}$	0.02	28.65	<.001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	$+0.63 (+0.49; +0.77)^{a}$	0.07	8.88	<.001	
HCs	Reference				
MS	-0.01(-0.06; +0.05)	0.03	-0.26	.80	
Age	$-0.03(-0.05; -0.003)^{a}$	0.01	-2.20	.03	
Post QPS*MS	-0.03 (-0.22; -0.16)	0.10	-0.33	.74	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.01
Subject*Post QPS					0.31
Residual					0.09

Note: Two-tailed 95% CI and p-values are displayed. p-values <-0.05 are in boldface. QPS = Quadripulse stimulation. HCs=Healthy controls. MS = Multiple Sclerosis. RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis. MEP = Motor evoked potential. R²(conditional) = 0.97. R²(marginal) = 0.37. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient = 0.95. ^a Indicates statistical significance. t- and p-values are based on asymptotic Wald test.



Fig. 4. Receiver-operating characteristic curve illustrating the accuracy of Δ MEP to differentiate between patients with and without cognitive impairment. This figure illustrates the receiver-operating characteristic curve of the accuracy of the difference between the maximum of the six mean post MEPs and the pre MEP amplitude to differentiate between patients with and without cognitive impairment. BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised; SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test; Δ MEP = Difference between the maximum of the six mean MEP amplitude after stimulation and the MEP amplitude before stimulation.

this, we revealed that the degree of plasticity changes can accurately discriminate between patients with and without impairment in the SDMT and BVMT-R. This association seems to be rather unaffected by levels of fatigue, as different degrees of plasticity in patients with and without CI occurred despite similar fatigue scores. Furthermore, there was no significant difference between our patient cohort and HCs, even though more than half of our patients suffered from at least moderate fatigue.

To investigate a possible influence of cortical plasticity on disease progression in more depth, longitudinal studies are needed, which are already underway.

Importantly, we found that the degree of cortical plasticity was not generally reduced in this overall mildly affected group of patients compared to HCs. Together with our finding of reduced plasticity in Cl patients, this implies that promotion of synaptic plasticity may be a promising tool to prevent clinical deterioration and Cl specifically. Further, promotion of synaptic plasticity could be used as a rehabilitation effort.

Interestingly, the degree of cortical plasticity was negatively associated with disease severity in terms of EDSS. Thus, our findings may help to integrate the conflicting previous results, potentially arising from more severely affected patients in the cohorts with reduced TMS-induced plasticity^{22,23} than in those with preserved plasticity.^{20,21} However, LTP-like plasticity can also be altered in patients with low disability and short disease duration [24]. To further explore a potential association between disease severity and synaptic plasticity, future research should report detailed clinical characteristics of patients and investigate subgroups with different disease severities.

This study provides several strengths. Firstly, we investigated only RRMS patients and matched HCs, reducing the risk of artefacts linked to disease subtype. Further, we report the largest ever reported sample size in rTMS research in patients with MS, which improves reliability of the results. Lastly, we used a TMS protocol that may be more sensitive and reliable for the functional measurement of cortical plasticity than previously used TMS paradigms [29,30,32] with higher response variability and non-responder rates of up to 60% [27]. We believe that focusing uniquely on RRMS with various degrees of disease severity constitutes the most rigorous approach to investigate the interplay of cortical plasticity and autoimmune pathology that is accessible to standard immunomodulatory therapy. Further and larger studies are warranted to compare these findings to matching cohorts of the less frequent progressive MS subtypes, where neurodegeneration, cortical pathology, and the innate immune system are thought to be more relevant.

Limitations are the cross-sectional design, unequal group sizes, lack of physical disability readouts besides EDSS, and lack of imaging data. Our work primarily focused on excitatory circuits because MS has been associated with alterations in the glutamatergic network [33,34] and since QPS has been shown to specifically modulate excitatory circuits and to leave inhibitory circuits unchanged [31]. However, inhibitory circuits can be altered in MS as well [54]. We therefore encourage future research to explore the interplay of excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms. Moreover, the impact of MS pathology on synaptic plasticity should be further investigated, e.g. by integrating advanced MRI-imaging techniques. Lastly, we focused on the left hemisphere only to keep the examination time reasonable, but encourage future research to also explore hemispheric differences and effects of handedness.

Our findings are novel and of great importance as they suggest that QPS can inform about the degree of synaptic plasticity well beyond the motor cortex, which is consistent with previous reports in HCs [55–59]. Other TMS-protocols have already been used to study the prognostic value of cortical plasticity regarding recovery after relapse [25] and clinical progression [60]. We suggest to also apply QPS in prospective studies to investigate a potential prognostic value of QPS-induced plasticity for relapse recovery and long-term disability progression.

Furthermore, longitudinal studies are warranted to investigate the influence of synaptic plasticity on CI in more detail. TMSinduced plasticity may not only be related to compensatory but also to pathogenic mechanisms like neurodegeneration and inflammation. In fact, reduced synaptic plasticity itself may lead to cognitive deficits and neuronal network dysfunctions and could therefore not only play a role as a mediator but also as a cause of cognitive decline [17].

In conclusion, we provide first evidence that QPS-induced plasticity may inform about the global synaptic plasticity in RRMS which correlates with cognitive performance as well as clinical disability. Larger longitudinal studies on patients with MS are needed to investigate the relevance and prognostic value of this measure for disease progression and recovery.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: C. Balloff reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. I.-K. Penner received honoraria for speaking at scientific meetings, serving at scientific advisory boards and consulting activities from Adamas Pharma, Almirall, Bayer Pharma, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Desitin, Sanofi-Genzyme, Janssen, Merck, Novartis, Roche, and Teva. She received research support from the German MS Society, Celgene, Novartis, Roche, and Teva, M. Ma reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.I. Georgiades reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.L. Scala reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.N. Troullinakis reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.J. Graf received travel/meeting/ accommodation reimbursements from Biogen, Merck Serono, Sanofi-Genzyme, Grifols, and a Research Fellowship from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (project number 438899010).D. Kremer received travel grants from GeNeuro and Merck, refund of congress participation fees from GeNeuro, Merck, and Servier, consulting fees from Grifols, payment for lectures from Grifols, and support for research projects from Teva and was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).O. Aktas reports grants from the German Science Foundation (DFG) and the German Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), outside of the submitted work, and personal fees from Alexion, Bayer HealthCare, Biogen, Merck Serono, Novartis, Roche, Teva, and MedImmune, outside of the submitted work.H.-P. Hartung has received fees for serving on steering and data monitoring committees from Bayer Healthcare, Biogen, Celgene BMS, CSL Behring, GeNeuro, Medlmmune, Merck, Novartis, Octapharma, Roche, Sanofi Genzyme, TG Therapeutic sand Viela Bio; fees for serving on advisory boards from Biogen, Sanofi Genzyme, Merck, Novartis, Octapharma, and Roche; and lecture fees from Biogen, Celgene BMS, Merck, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi Genzyme.S.G. Meuth has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses for attending meetings from Almirall. Amicus Therapeutics Germany, Bayer Health Care, Biogen, Celgene, Diamed, Genzyme, MedDay Pharmaceuticals, Merck Serono, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, ONO Pharma, Roche, SanofiAventis, Chugai Pharma, QuintilesIMS and Teva, and research funding from the German Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the Else Kröner Fresenius Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, the Hertie Foundation, the Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Studies (IZKF) Muenster, the German Foundation for Neurology, Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics, Germany, Biogen, Diamed, Fresenius Medical Care, Genzyme, Merck Serono, Novartis, ONO Pharma, Roche and Teva.A. Schnitzler has received lecture fees from Abbott, Novartis, Kyowa Kirin, and has been serving as a consultant for Abbott, Zambon, Medtronic Inc. He received royalties from the Georg Thieme Verlag. He is a government employee and receives through his institution funding for his research from the German Research Council, Abbott, and the Brunhilde Moll Foundation.S.J. Groiss received honoraria and/or travel expenses from Abbott Medical, Abbvie, Boston Scientific, Medtronic, Rogue Research, UCB, consulting fees from Zambon and research support from Abbott and Hilde-Ulrichs Stiftung, P. Albrecht received compensation for serving on Scientific Advisory Boards for Allergan, Celgene, Janssen Cilag, Ipsen, Merck, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Novartis, Biogen; he received speaker honoraria and travel support from Novartis, Teva, Biogen, Celgene, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, Allergan, Bayer Healthcare, Esai, UCB; Roche; he received research support from Novartis, Allergan, Bio-gen, Celgene, Teva, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, and Roche.

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

Funding

This work is supported by the research commission of the medical faculty of the Heinrich-Heine-University Duesseldorf (project number 2019–14). The funder had no role in the design and conduct of the study, collection, management, analysis and interpretation of the data, preparation, review or approval of the manuscript.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Carolin Balloff: Conceptualization, Investigation, Data curation, Methodology, Project administration, Formal analysis, Visualiza-tion, Writing – original draft, had full access to all data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis, share status as co-first authors. Iris-Katharina Penner: Conceptualization, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Writing - original draft, had full access to all data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis, share status as co-first authors. Meng Ma: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Iason Georgiades: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Lina Scala: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Nina Troullinakis: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Jonas Graf: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. David Kremer: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Orhan Aktas: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Hans-Peter Hartung: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. Sven Günther Meuth: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Alfons Schnitzler: Resources, Writing - review & editing. Stefan Jun Groiss: Conceptualization, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Writing - original draft, had full access to all data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis, share status as co-last authors. Philipp Albrecht: Conceptualization, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Writing original draft, had full access to all data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis, share status as co-last authors.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all participants for participating in the study and all colleagues from the Department of Neurology for supporting our research. They also thank Pia-Sophie Ptaszynski, MSc, and Arved-Sebastian Stucke, MSc, for their support in data collection. Further, they thank Elisa Heinen, BSc, for her support in data collection and preparing the tables.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007.

References

- World Health Organization. Multiple Sclerosis international federation. Atlas: multiple Sclerosis Resources in the world 2008. World Health Organization; 2008.
- [2] Chiaravalloti ND, Deluca J. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol 2008;7:1139–51.
- Neuroi 2008; /:1139–51.
 [3] Antel J, Antel S, Caramanos Z, Arnold DL, Kuhlmann T. Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: part of the MS disease spectrum or separate disease entity? Acta Neuropathol 2012;123(5):627–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-012-0953-0.

- [4] Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology 2014;83(3):278–86. https://doi.org/ 10.1212/WNL00000000000000506.
- [5] Baccher-Allan C, Kaskow BJ, Weiner HL. Multiple sclerosis: mechanisms and immunotherapy. Neuron 2018;97(4):742–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuron.2018.01.021.
- [6] Rae-Grant AD, Eckert NI, Bartz S, Reed IF, Sensory symptoms of multiple [7] Rizzo MA, Hadjimichael OC, Preiningerova J, Vollmer TL. Prevalence and Rizzo MA, Hadjimichael OC, Preiningerova J, Vollmer TL. Prevalence and
- treatment of spasticity reported by multiple sclerosis patients. Mult Scler 2004;10(5):589–95. https://doi.org/10.1191/1352458504ms10850a. [8] Matias-Cuiu JA, Cortés-Martínez A, Valles-Salgado M, et al. Functional com-
- ponents of cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: a cross-sectional investigation. Front Neurol 2017;8(643):1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fneur.2017.00643.
- [9] DiGiuseppe G, Blair M, Morrow SA. Short report: prevalence of cognitive impairment in newly diagnosed relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Int J MS Care 2018;20(4):153-7. https://doi.org/10.7224/1537-2073.2017-029.
- van Schependom J, D'hooghe MB, Cleynhens K, et al. Reduced information processing speed as primum movens for cognitive decline in MS. Multiple Sclerosis Journal 2015;21(1):83–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/ [10] Sclerosis Journal 2015;21(1):83–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1352458514537012. [11] Campbell J, Rashid W, Cercignani M, Langdon D. Cognitive impairment among
- atients with multiple sclerosis. Associations with employment and quality of ad Med 2017:93(1097):143-
- [12] Benedict RHB, Wahlig E, Bakshi R, et al. Predicting quality of life in multiple sclerosis: accounting for physical disability, fatigue, cognition, mood disorder, personality, and behavior change. J Neurol Sci 2005;231(1–2):29–34. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2004.12.009.
 [13] Barkhof F. The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. Curr Opin Neurol 2002;15:239–45.
- [14] Nij Bijvank JA, Sánchez Aliaga E, Balk LJ, et al. A model for interrogating the (h) blyank by an the randox in multiple sclerosis: internuclear oph-thalmoplegia. Eur J Neurol 2021;28(5):1617–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/
- [15] Zeller D, Classen J. Plasticity of the motor system in multiple sclerosis. Neuroscience 2014;283:222–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2014.05.043.
- [16] Schoonheim MM, Geurts JJG, Barkhof F. The limits of functional reorganization in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2010;74(16):1246–7. https://doi.org/ in multiple sclerosis. Neurolo 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181db9957
- Di Filippo M, Portaccio E, Mancini A, Calabresi P. Multiple sclerosis and cognition: synaptic failure and network dysfunction. Nat Rev Neurosci 2018;19(10):599-609. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0053-9.
 Ziemann U, Paulus W, Nitsche MA, et al. Consensus: motor cortex plasticity
- protocols. Brain Stimul 2008;1(3):164-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/ protocols. brai brs.2008.06.006
- [19] Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. Clin Neurophysiol 2009;120(12):2008–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.016.
- [20] Zeller D, aufm Kampe K, Biller A, et al. Rapid-onset central motor plasticity in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2010;74(9):728-35. https://doi.org/10.12 WNL.0b013e3181d31dcf.
- [21] Zeller D, Dang S-Y, Weise D, Rieckmann P, Toyka KV, Classen J. Excitability decreasing central motor plasticity is retained in multiple sclerosis patients. BMC Neurol 2012;12(92).
- [22] Baione V, Belvisi D, Cortese A, et al. Cortical M1 plasticity and metaplasticity in patients with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord 2020;38:101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.msard.2019.101494.
- Conte A, Li Voti P, Pontecorvo S, et al. Attention-related changes in short-term cortical plasticity help to explain fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2016;22(10):1359–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458515619780.
- [24] Stampanoni Bassi M. Buttari F. Maffei P. et al. Practice-dependent motor cortex plasticity is reduced in non-disabled multiple sclerosis patients. Clin Neurophysiol 2020;131(2):566–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.clinph.2019.10.023.
- j.clinph.2019.10.023.
 [25] Mori F, Kusayanagi H, Nicoletti CG, Weiss S, Marciani MG, Centonze D. Cortical plasticity predicts recovery from relapse in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2014;20(4):451–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513512541.
 [26] Wirsching I, Buttmann M, Odorfer T, Volkmann J, Classen J, Zeller D. Altered motor plasticity in an acute relapse of multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurosci 2018;47(3):251–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13818.
 [27] Guerta A, López-Alonso V. Cheeran B, Suppa A. Variability in non-invasive brain stimulation studies; reasons and results. Neurosci Lett 2017. https://doi.org/10.1167
- i.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.12.058
- Matsumoto H, Ugawa Y. Quadripulse stimulation (QPS). Exp Brain Res 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-020-05788-w.
 Nakamura K, Groiss SJ, Hamada M, et al. Variability in response to quadripulse stimulation of the motor cortex. Brain Stimul 2016;9(6):859–66. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.008.
- [30] Tiksnadi A, Murakami T, Wiratman W, Matsumoto H, Ugawa Y. Direct com-parison of efficacy of the motor cortical plasticity induction and the

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

interindividual variability between TBS and QPS. Brain Stimul 2020;13(6): 1824-33.

- 1824–33. https://doi.org/10.1010/j.015.2020.10.014. Hamada M, Terao Y, Hanajima R, et al. Bidirectional long-term motor cortical [31] plasticity and metaplasticity induced by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Physiol 2008;586(16):3927–47. https://doi.org/10.1113/ jphysiol.2008.152793.
- JphysioL2006, 1527-95.
 Grois SJ, Ugawa Y, Paulus W, Huang Y-Z. Patterned protocols of transcranial magnetic stimulation. In: Miniusis C, Paulus W, Rossini PM, editors. Trans-cranial brain stimulation. CRC Press; 2012. p. 135–55.
 Kuzmina US, Zainullina LF, Vakhitov VA, Bakhtiyarova KZ, Vakhitova YV. The
- role of glutamate in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Neurosci Behav Physiol 2020;50(6):669–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11055-020-00953-8.
- Groom AJ, Smith T, Turski L. Multiple sclerosis and glutamate. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003;993:229–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07533.x. [34]
- discussion 287-8. [35] Chiaravalloti ND, Stojanovic-Radic J, Deluca J. The role of speed versi working memory in predicting learning new information in multiple sclerosis. Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2013;35(2):180–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 803395,2012,76053
- 13803395.2012.760537.
 [36] Deluca J, Chelune GJ, Tulsky DS, Lengenfelder J, Chiaravalloti ND. Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2004;26(4):550-62. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390490496641.
 [37] Mori F, Kusayanagi H, Buttari F, et al. Early treatment with high-dose interferon beta-1a reverses cognitive and cortical plasticity deficits in multiple sclerosis. Funct Neurol 2012;27(3).
 [38] Mori F, Rossi S, Sancesario G, et al. Cognitive and cortical plasticity deficits correlate with altered anyloid-β CSF levels in multiple sclerosis. Neuropsycholparmacology 2011;36(3):559-68. https://doi.org/10.1038/
- 2011;36(3):559-68. psychopharmacology https://doi.org/10.1038/ p.2010.187
- [39] Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. Lancet Neurol 2018;17(2):162–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2.
 [40] Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Screening questionnaire
- before TMS: an update. Clin Neurophysiol 2011;122(8):1686. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.12.037.
- Kurzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology 1983;33(11):1444–52. https:// doi.org/10.1212/wnl33.11.1444. Smith A. Symbol Digit Modalities test (SDMT). Western Psychological Ser-[41]
- [42] vices; 1982
- [43] Benedict RHB. Brief visuospatial memory test revised: professional manual. Psychological Assessment Resources. Inc: 1997.
- [44] Scherer P, Baum K, Bauer H, Göhler H, Miltenburger C. Normierung der Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests (BRB-N) für den deutsch-sprachigen Raum Anwendung bei schubförmig remittierenden und sekundär progredienten Multiple-Sklerose-Patienten, Nervenarzt 2004;75(10):984-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-004-1729-0. [45] Herrmann-Lingen C, Buss U, Snaith RP. In: Huber H, editor. Hospital anxiety
- and depression scale deutsche version (HADS-D); 2011. Manual. Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): validation of a new instru-ment to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. Mult Scler 2009;15(12): 1509-17, https://doi.org/10.1177/135245850934 519
- Lefaucheur J-P, André-Obadia N, Antal A, et al. Evidence-based guidelines on the therapeutic use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). Clin Neurophysiol 2014;125(11):2150–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/ [47] linph.2014.05.021.
- [48] Hardmeier M, Jacques F, Albrecht P, et al. Multicentre assessment of motor
- and sensory evoked potentials in multiple sclerosis: reliability and implica-tions for clinical trials. Multiple Sclerosis J Exp Transl Clin 2019;1–11.
 [49] Li R, Singh M. Sex differences in cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's dis-ease. Front Neuroendocrinol 2014;35(3):385–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.yfrne.2014.01.002.
- Chaves AR, Kenny HM, Snow NI, Pretty RW, Ploughman M, Sex-specific [50] disruption in corticospinal excitability and hemispheric (a)symmetry multiple sclerosis. Brain Res 2021;1773:147687. https://doi.org/10.10 j.brainres.2021.147687.
- [51] Rice ME, Harris GT. Comparing effect sizes in follow-up studies: ROC Area, Cohen's d, and r. Law Hum Behav 2005;29(5):615–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7.
- owski IF Leavitt VM Cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler [52]
- [54]
- Sumowski JF, Leavitt VM. Cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2013;19(9):1122–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513498834. Sumowski JF, Chiaravalloti N, Deluca J. Cognitive reserve protects against cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2009;31(8):913–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390902740643. Nantes JC, Zhong J, Holmes SA, Narayanan S, Lapierre Y, Koski L. Cortical damage and disability in multiple sclerosis: relation to intracortical inhibition and facilitation. Brain Stimul 2016;9(4):566–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brs.2016.01.003. [55]
- Link.2010.01.1037 Groiss SJ, Mochizuki H, Furubayashi T, et al. Quadri-pulse stimulation induces stimulation frequency dependent cortical nemoglobin concentration changes within the ipsilateral motor cortical network. Brain Stimul 2013;6(1):40–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2011.12.004.
C. Balloff, I.-K. Penner, M. Ma et al.

- [56] Nakatani-Enomoto S, Hanajima R, Hamada M, et al. Bidirectional modulation of sensory cortical excitability by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (QPS) in humans. Clin Neurophysiol 2012;123(7):1415–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2011.11.037.
 [57] Tsutsumi R, Hanajima R, Terao Y, et al. Effects of the motor cortical quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (QPS) on the contralateral motor cortex and interhemispheric interactions. J Neurophysiol 2014;111(1):26–35. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00515.2013.
 [58] Watanabe T, Hanajima R, Shirota Y, et al. Bidirectional effects on interhemispheric resting-state functional connectivity induced by excitatory and

Brain Stimulation 15 (2022) 403-413

- inhibitory repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. Hum Brain Mapp 2014;35(5):1896–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22300.
 [59] Hirose M, Mochizuki H, Groiss SJ, et al. On-line effects of quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (QPS) on the contralateral hemisphere studied with somatosensory evoked potentials and near infrared spectroscopy. Exp Brain Res 2011;214(4):577–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2855-0.
 [60] Mori F, Rossi S, Piccinin S, et al. Synaptic plasticity and PDCF signaling defects underlie clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci 2013;33(49): 19112–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCL2536-13.2013.



Characteristic	RRMS _{CI} (N=18)	RRMS _{N0 CI} (<i>N</i> =45)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex, No. (%), female	8 (44)	34 (76)	.04
Handedness, No. (%), right	16 (89)	40 (89)	.42
Age, median (min-max), years	42 (23-61)	38 (20-55)	.15
Education, median (min-max), years	14 (11-19)	16 (8-22)	.006
AMT, median (min-max), % MSO	37.5 (33-52)	38 (27-73)	.80
RMT, median (min-max), % MSO	50 (37-67)	46 (33-81)	.22
MEP 0.5mV, median (min-max), % MSO	67.5 (44-100)	59 (36-100)	.13
MEP latency ^a , median (min-max), ms	22.89 (17.74-37.83)	23.06 (18.60-31.42)	.46
ΔPost-Pre MEP amplitude, median (min-	0.32	0.59	02
max), mV BVMT-R	(-0.10-1.32)	(-0.30-3.17)	.02
Total learning score, median (min-max)	12 (2-25)	28 (17-35)	<.001
z soore medien (min max)b	-2.38	0.18	< 001
z-score, median (mm-max)	[-4.70-(-0.34)]	[-1.55-1.92]	~.001
SDMT			
correct items, median (min-max)	32.5 (19-67)	59 (38-84)	<.001
z-score, median (min-max) ^c	-2.19 (-4.12 - 0.70)	-0.08 (-1.62- 2.14)	<.001
HADS, No. (%), clinical ^d			
Anxiety	3 (17)	6 (13)	.71
Depression	3 (17)	6 (13)	.71
Disease duration, median (min-max), years	10.92 (3-30)	6.67 (0-27)	.12
EDSS, median (min-max)	3.0 (0-6.5)	1.5 (0-7.5)	.06
FSMC, No. (%), mild/moderate/severe ^e			
Motor	2 (11) / 2 (11) /	7 (16) / 6 (13) /	90
WOOD	9 (50)	18 (40)	.90
Cognitive	2 (11) / 4 (22) /	6 (13) / 7 (16) /	89
	5 (28)	16 (36)	.0,
DMT exposure, No. (%)			.40
None	2 (11)	9 (20)	
Natalizumab	6 (33)	15 (33)	
Ocrelizumab	6 (32)	13 (29)	
Glatiramer acetate	2 (11)	0(0)	
Dimethyl fumarate	1 (6)	1 (2)	
Interferon beta-1a	0(0)	2 (4)	
Fingolimod	0 (0)	2 (4)	
Cladribine	0 (0)	2 (4)	
Alemtuzumab	1 (6)	0(0)	

Note. p-values < .05 are in boldface and based on two-tailed analysis. Number of impaired patients for each cognitive test and their combination: N_{SDMT} = 13; N_{BVMT} = 14; N_{Both} = 9. RRMS= Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis. CI= Cognitive impairment. AMT= Active Motor Threshold. RMT= Resting Motor Threshold. MEP 0.5mV= Stimulation intensity producing a reliable MEP of ~0.5mV. MSO= maximal stimulator output. BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. HADS=Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale. FSMC= Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition. Classification based on cut-off scores defined in the manual. DMT= Disease-modifying therapy.

^a Missings as follow: 5 RRMS_{CI}, 1 RRMS_{No CI}.

2

^b Calculation based on the BVMT-R manual¹⁶.

```
<sup>c</sup> Calculation based on German norms.<sup>17</sup>
```

^d Classification as clinical based on scores ≥ 11 .

e Classification as mild, moderate, and severe based on cut-offs provided in the FSMC.¹⁹

Table A2. Multivariable linear mixed-effect model of MEP amplitude in cognitively impaired and unimpaired patients before and after QPS

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	S^2
Intercept	0.57 (0.53; 0.62) ^a	0.02	25.20	<.001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	$0.69 (0.52; 0.85)^{a}$	0.08	8.31	<.001	
No CI	Reference				
CI	-0.07 (-0.14; 0.01)	0.04	-1.80	.08	
Fatigue	-0.04 (-0.07; -0.00) ^a	0.02	-2.20	.03	
Post QPS*CI	-0.31 (-0.61; -0.02) ^a	0.15	-2.09	.04	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.00
Subject*Post QPS					0.33
Residual					0.01

Note. Two-tailed 95% CI and *p*-values are displayed. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. QPS= Quadripulse Stimulation. CI= Cognitive Impairment. R²(conditional)=0.95. R²(marginal)=0.38. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.93.

^a indicates statistical significance. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test.

Methods A1. Detailed description of linear mixed model computation

MEP amplitude was predicted based on the QPS intervention, group, QPS^xgroup interaction, and a random slope for the QPS effect, accounting for interindividual QPS response variability. A lag 1 autoregressive error structure controlled for significant autocorrelation in the data and continuous variables were centred at the sample mean. As we controlled the MEP amplitude to be ~0.5mV for all subjects prior to QPS, the variance differed substantially between time points. Therefore, a constant variance function structure with a grouping factor for the time of assessment (pre/post) was added to the model.

Selected covariates (age, depression, anxiety, fatigue, latency, education) and their interactions with QPS were added to the model and models were compared based on likelihood-ratio-tests or the Akaike information criterion when the former did not apply due to missing data in covariates. Collinearity was assessed by the variance inflation factor with a threshold of \geq five as suggestive of multicollinearity. Based on these model statistics we report the best model. Coefficients were considered significant, if the 95% confidence interval did not include zero.

The same procedures were applied for the post-hoc computation of the model comparing cognitively impaired and cognitively preserved patients. Here, heteroscedasticity was not only observed between time points but also on the group level with higher variance in patients without CI than patients with CI. Therefore, a second grouping factor (CI/no CI) was added to the constant variance function structure.

For both models, the factor of interest was the QPS^xgroup interaction, as a significant interaction would indicate a stronger increase in MEP amplitude in one of the compared groups.

Study 2 – Synaptic plasticity during acute relapses

Balloff, C., Novello, S., Stucke, A.-S., Janssen, L. K., Heinen, E., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.,⁵ Albrecht, P.,⁵ & Groiss, S. J.⁵ (2023). Long-term potentiation-like plasticity is retained during relapse in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 155*, 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.07.013

Conceptualization & methodology: I defined the research question and analysis plan in consultation with S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner based on the experimental design, which was created by S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner.

Investigation & project administration: I supervised recruitment of participants and data collection. I recruited participants and independently performed neuropsychological tests and rTMS. I was also responsible for data curation. Project administration was performed by me, S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner. S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht and C.J. Hartmann conducted neurological assessments. S. Novello, A.-S. Stucke, L.K. Janssen and E. Heinen recruited participants and conducted neuropsychological tests and rTMS under supervision. P. Albrecht and S.J. Groiss contributed to the recruitment of participants.

Formal analysis: I conducted the statistical analyses and reviewed them for correctness.

Resources: S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner provided funding for this study. Further resources were provided by S.G. Meuth and A. Schnitzler.

Manuscript: I wrote the initial manuscript, which included all steps from comprehensive literature research to final formulation. I created the figures and tables with contributions of E. Heinen. I coordinated the scientific review process at the journal. During this process, with the assistance of I.-K. Penner, S.J. Groiss, and P. Albrecht, I made revisions. I prepared the final version of the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript.

⁵ Shared last authorship.



1. Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is the most prevalent demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (Love, 2006), affecting approximately 2.8 million people worldwide (Walton et al., 2020). Most patients (\sim 80%) initially follow a relapsing-remitting course (RRMS), which can develop into secondary-progressive MS (SPMS). Attacks of new or abruptly aggravated neurological symptoms, which can fully recover, are the central element of RRMS and can also occur in SPMS. A minority of patients, ($\sim 20\%$) presents with primary progressive MS, which is characterized by a gradual increase of symptoms without any relapses (Lublin et al., 2014). MS typical inflammatory, demyelinating lesions can occur anywhere in the central nervous system, leading to a wide range of symptoms in all functional systems (Kurtzke, 1983). Mechanisms of compensatory reserve have been discussed to mediate the relationship between lesion load and disability. To summarize, a (limited) compensatory ability of the nervous system to attenuate or even prevent functional deficits has been described (Brandstadter et al., 2019; Krieger et al., 2016; Schoonheim et al., 2010).

In line with this, clinical recovery from relapse is highly variable with patients experiencing no, partial or complete remission (Mowry et al., 2009). According to a recent study, low levels of pre-existing disability and younger age at the time of relapse are both positively associated with complete recovery (Lublin et al., 2022). However, remyelination and processes of functional and structural reorganization may also play an important role for recovery due to their compensational potential (Tomassini et al., 2012). Reorganisation on the synaptic level via strengthening or weakening of synapses due to long-term potentiation (LTP) or long-term depression (LTD) is a central aspect of synaptic plasticity (Citri and Malenka, 2008). Both LTP and LTD can be safely modulated by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) and we have recently demonstrated that the degree of motor cortex plasticity induced by an excitability-increasing quadripulse stimulation (QPS) protocol (Hamada et al., 2008) may inform about the global synaptic plasticity in patients with RRMS during remission. While synaptic plasticity was not reduced in RRMS patients compared to healthy controls (HCs), cognitively impaired patients showed lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity than patients without cognitive deficits (Balloff et al., 2022).

Adaptive mechanisms of synaptic plasticity may also play an important role during relapse and have not yet been investigated in this phase of MS using QPS. Results from a previous study using a paired associated stimulation protocol suggest an association between the degree of LTP-like plasticity and clinical recovery (Mori et al., 2014). However, this finding could not be replicated by another research group using an LTD-inducing protocol (Wirsching et al., 2018). The latter study reported reversed effects of the LTD-protocol towards LTP-like effects during relapse but not during recovery three months later, which was interpreted as metaplastic effects during relapse (Wirsching et al., 2018). Hyperexcitability during relapse has also been described in another transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) study, which was, however, not interventional (Caramia et al., 2004). In contrast to this, our recent finding of reduced plasticity in cognitively impaired stable RRMS patients (Balloff et al., 2022) rather suggests reduced plasticity during relapse, since cognitive performance has been frequently described to be lower during relapses than during remission (Benedict et al., 2014; Benedict et al., 2020; Morrow et al., 2011).

We, therefore, aimed to investigate synaptic plasticity during relapse using QPS. As higher responder rates have been described for QPS compared to other rTMS protocols, it may produce more reliable results than previously implemented protocols (Guerra et al., 2017: Hamada et al., 2007: Nakamura et al., 2016: Tiksnadi Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

et al., 2020). Our objective was to compare the degree of QPSinduced plasticity during relapse between patients with null, partial, or complete recovery. Based on the theoretical assumption of favorable effects of synaptic plasticity and the results described using another LTP-inducing protocol (Mori et al., 2014), we expected to find higher levels of QPS-induced plasticity in patients with complete compared to partial or null recovery. Patients with partial recovery were expected to present with more plasticity than patients with null recovery. Moreover, we aimed to compare the degree of QPS-induced plasticity in relapsing patients, HCs and stable patients. Based on previous results described above, we expected to find altered plasticity in relapsing patients compared to stable patients and HCs. Due to the ambiguous findings outlined above, no direction of this effect was hypothesized.

2. Methods

2.1. Subjects

Patients were recruited at the in- and outpatient neurological clinic of the University Hospital Düsseldorf, Germany, between May 2018 and October 2022. They had either been previously diagnosed according to the 2017 revised McDonald criteria (Thompson et al., 2018). Subjects with a history of neurological or psychiatric diseases other than MS and remitted depressive episodes were excluded. Further exclusion criteria were contraindications for TMS and drug or alcohol abuse, which were addressed in a TMS safety screening questionnaire (Rossi et al., 2011). All eligibility criteria were tested using a standardized questionnaire. Relapse activity was defined according to the 2017 revised McDonald criteria (Thompson et al., 2018).

Patients in the stable control group had to be relapse-free for \geq 90 days and were matched according to the following criteria: age, sex assigned at birth, education, disease duration, and disease type. HCs were matched based on age, sex assigned at birth, and education.

Prior to neuropsychological assessment, sufficient recognition of the visual material was tested for all patients describing visual deficits. Review and approval of the study was performed by the ethical committee of the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf (study-number 2018–16) and informed written consent was obtained from all participants prior to participation. The study was carried out in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki.

2.2. Experimental design

Data were assessed according to the experimental design described in detail in our previous study (Balloff et al., 2022 which is summarized in Fig. 1. Briefly, subjects were neurologically and neuropsychologically examined before synaptic plasticity was assessed using the LTP-inducing QPS protocol, which was first introduced by Hamada et al. (2008). This protocol has also been implemented in our previous study (Balloff et al., 2022) as well as in other studies with HCs (Tamura et al., 2019; Tanaka et al., 2019) and neurologically diseased patients (Moriyasu et al., 2022). A total of 360 TMS-bursts of four monophasic TMS-pulses with a 5 ms interstimulus-interval were repeatedly administered at a frequency of 0.2 Hz for 30 minutes. Monophasic rTMS was established by four Magstim 200² stimulators (The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK), which were connected through a combining module from the same company. Stimulation intensity was established at 90% of the active motor threshold. Motor

evoked potentials (MEP) were adjusted to be \sim 0.5 mV pre QPS and recorded at the right first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle following single pulse monophasic TMS of the left primary motor cortex. Specifically, the FDI hotpot, i.e., the optimal position for eliciting the largest MEP in the FDI, was stimulated throughout the experiment.

Following 30 minutes of QPS intervention, MEP responses evoked by the same pre-interventional stimulation intensity were recorded every 10 minutes for a total of 60 minutes post QPS. At each time of assessment, 12 MEPs were recorded and averaged. Due to artefacts and/or voluntary muscle activity underlying the MEP response, which significantly exceeded the individual background activity, some MEPs were not considered for the averaged MEP amplitude. MEPs were discarded based on visual inspection of surface electromyography recordings by three independent investigators, resulting in exclusion of 1 MEP per time point and subject, on average.

During the TMS experiment, subjects were seated in a comfortable reclining chair with arms placed on cushioned armrests. A hand-held figure-of-eight coil (70 mm outer diameter. The Magstim Company Ltd., Whitland, UK) was used both for QPS as well as single-pulse TMS. Ag-AgCl electrodes (size: 20x15 mm, manufactured by Ambu, Ballerup, Denmark) in a belly-tendon montage were used to record MEPs using surface electromyography. The electromyography signal was amplified using a Digitimer D360 (Digitimer Ltd, Hertfordshire, UK) with a frequency band filter ranging from 100 to 5000 Hz. The amplified signal was digitized at a sampling rate of 5 kHz and analysed using Signal software (version 6.02, Cambridge Electronic Design Ltd., Cambridge, UK). Muscle activity was monitored in real-time on an oscilloscope (model DS1074B, Batronix Rigol, Preetz, Germany).

Neuropsychological assessment consisted of the Rao-adapted version of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (Rao, 1990; Smith, 1982) as a measure of information processing speed and the Brief visuospatial Memory Test Revised (Benedict, 1997) as a measure of visuospatial short-term memory and learning. Potential confounders for cognitive performance and synaptic plasticity, such as depression, anxiety and trait fatigue were measured with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (Herrmann-Lingen et al., 2011) and Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (Penner et al., 2009). Motor function was assessed using the nine-hole peg test (NHPT) as a functional outcome of manual dexterity/fine motor skills and the timed 25-foot walk (T25FW) as a functional outcome of disability due to MS was assessed by the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS; Kurtzke, 1983).

2.3. Statistical analyses

The number of patients was based on previous work using other rTMS protocols (Mori et al., 2014; Wirsching et al., 2018). Due to small sample sizes per group and non-normally distributed data, continuous clinical and demographic characteristics of the groups were compared using Mann-Whitney-U-test. Categorical data were compared using Fisher's exact test (IBM SPSS Statistics, version 28). In line with our previous approach in remitted RRMS patients and due to high reproducibility and standardization (Hamada et al., 2008), synaptic plasticity was operationalized by MEP amplitude changes after QPS.

The nlme package in R Studio (version 2022.02.3 + 492) was used to carry out linear mixed-effects models comparing QPSinduced motor plasticity between patients in an acute relapse and matched stable control patients as well as HCs. We used the same approach as in our previous study (Balloff et al., 2022) to compare the degree of induced excitability change between groups, while accounting for clustering of TMS assessments within

Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

subjects. Briefly. two MEPs entered analyses for each subject: 1) pre QPS MEP, controlled to be ~ 0.5 mV, and 2) maximum of the six mean post MEPs. Subsequently, MEP amplitudes were predicted based on the following fixed effects and a random slope of QPS intervention: QPS intervention (pre/post), group (relapsing MS/stable MS/ HCs), and QPS intervention^xgroup. To find the best fitting model, age, depression, anxiety, fatigue, and latency as well as their interactions with QPS were included and model performances were compared. Please refer to our previous study for statistical details on model computation (Balloff et al., 2022).

As we could not analyse the prognostic value of QPS-induced plasticity during relapse for the clinical outcome as planned (see results below), we post-hoc divided the relapse group in subgroups based on their Functional System Scores (FSS) during relapse. For each functional system except visual, bowel & bladder, and ambulation, two groups were created: 1) patients with at least mild disability, indicated by a FSS \geq 2, and 2) patients with no disability, indicated by a FSS \leq 2. Plasticity was compared between relapse subgroups using the same linear mixed-effects approach as described above, if there were at least n = 5 in both subgroups.

2.4. Data availability

Anonymized data not published within this article will be made available by request from any qualified investigator.

3. Results

3.1. Neurological and neuropsychological profile

Out of 817 approached people, 18 patients in acute relapses were included (Fig. 2). Six of these patients were newly diagnosed with MS and two patients had already transitioned to SPMS. Accordingly, 18 matched stable patients (16 RRMS, 2 SPMS) and 18 HCs were included.

Table 1 shows the descriptive characteristics of all groups. Due to our matching procedure, groups did not differ with regards to any demographic characteristic. Further, relapsing and stable patients did not differ in terms of disease duration. However, patients in relapse were more severely disabled, as indicated by significantly higher EDSS scores. Compared to HCs, it also took them longer to complete the NHPT and the T25FW and they performed worse on the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. Neuropsychiatric symptoms, such as depression, anxiety and fatigue, were equally distributed in relapsing and stable patients. Despite more signs of fatigue in the relapsing group compared to HCs, no other differences were found between groups. On average, relapsing patients were assessed 21 days after symptom onset.

At the clinical follow-up three months after discharge, symptoms had partially remitted in most relapsing patients (n = 9, 50%). Only n = 3 (17%) had fully recovered, while n = 3 (17%) presented with no recovery at all. Three patients (17%) did not complete follow-up assessment.

3.2. Qps-induced plasticity in relapsing MS compared to stable MS and HCs

Fig. 3a shows the averaged difference of the MEPs evoked pre and post QPS (Δ MEP) for relapsing patients, stable patients, and HCs at each time of assessment (pre to post 6) with 95% confidence intervals. LTP-like effects were induced in all groups, as indicated by positive Δ MEP following QPS. However, large confidence intervals reveal high interindividual variance of the induced effects (please refer to Supplementary Figure 4 for individual raw MEP amplitudes over time), and the maximum averaged Δ MEP



Fig. 1. Experimental design. This figure summarizes the experimental design. Assessment started with a short neuropsychological test battery and was followed by a neurological examination and transcranial magnetic stimulation. Details are described in our previous publication (Balloff et al., 2022). BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised; SDMT = Symbol Digit Modalities Test; PROMs = Patient reported outcome measures; QPS = Quadripulse stimulation; MEP = Motor evoked potential.

occurred at different times of assessment across groups. While Δ MEP directly increased following QPS in HCs and stable MS, no increase was observed in relapsing patients until 20 min post QPS. In this group, Δ MEP reached its averaged maximum 60 min post QPS, whereas it peaked 40 min post QPS and remained constantly high in stable MS patients. In HCs, the averaged Δ MEP maximum also occurred 40 min post QPS. Despite these differences regarding the time course, the maximum averaged Δ MEP did not differ between groups.

This descriptive impression of equal degrees of plasticity in all groups was tested for statistical significance using linear mixed-effects models, accounting for interindividual variance in the after-effects of QPS. The best fitting model included QPS, group, latency, and QPS*group with a conditional R² of 0.96 and a marginal R² of 0.42. In line with the experimental procedure to adjust MEP amplitudes to be ~ 0.5 mV prior to QPS, MEP pre amplitudes were equal across groups with only minimal deviations in stable patients (β = -0.04, *p* =.44) and HCs (β =+0.02, *p* =.72) compared to relapsing patients. Significant effects were revealed for QPS intervention (β = 0.48, *p* <.001) and latency (β = -0.07, *p* =.04; Table 2). As illustrated in Fig. 3b, the increase of MEP amplitude following QPS was comparable across groups. However, an adjusted intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.94 confirmed high inter-subject variability.

3.3. Clinical relevance of QPS-induced plasticity during relapse

With most patients (n = 9, 50%) experiencing partial recovery, no meaningful analysis of the functional relevance of induced plasticity was possible, since the other two groups (partial and full remission) consisted of only three patients each. To provide a descriptive impression of the data, baseline plasticity levels for each group are displayed in Supplementary Fig. 1. As described above, we divided the relapsing group into subgroups based on disability in the functional systems. The number of patients per group are presented in Supplementary Table 1.

Fig. 3c illustrates the averaged Δ MEP at each time of assessment (pre to post 6) with 95% confidence intervals for relapsing patients with and without motor disability (pyramidal FSS \geq 2). While Δ MEP steadily increased in patients with motor disability, reaching its maximum 50 minutes post QPS, it remained more or bess table in relapsing patients without motor impairment. Linear mixed-effects modeling confirmed a significantly higher increase of MEP amplitude in patients with motor disability with an adjusted intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.90 and a satisfying fit (conditional R^2 = 0.95; marginal R^2 = 0.55). The full model is displayed in Supplementary Table 2 and demographic as well as clinical characteristics of the subgroups are presented in Supplementary Table 3.

No differences between subgroups were revealed for all other FSS (Supplementary Fig. 2).

4. Discussion

We present the first investigation of QPS-induced motor cortex plasticity during acute relapses in MS. Using this method, we did not observe altered levels of plasticity during relapse compared to stable MS and HCs. Importantly, however, plasticity was significantly higher in patients with motor disability compared to patients without motor disability.

This is of particular relevance as QPS-induced plasticity was measured at the motor cortex. In patients without motor disability, metaplastic effects may attenuate LTP in the motor cortex to avoid instability of the neuronal system (Galarreta and Hestrin, 1998) or even excitotoxicity (Abraham, 2008). Several mechanisms have been proposed to underlie metaplasticity, including alterations in: (1) synaptic strength and neurotransmitter release (Turrigiano



Fig. 2. Flowchart of the enrollment of subjects. This figure shows the numbers of subjects at each step of the study. HCs – Healthy controls; MS – Multiple Sclerosis; MEP = Motor evoked potentials; RRMS = Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis; TMS = Transcranial magnetic stimulation.

and Nelson, 2004), (2) neuromodulatory systems (Meunier et al., 2017), (3) signaling pathways (Kelleher et al., 2004), and (4) the activity of microglia and immune molecules (Wu et al., 2015). As we did not investigate any of these mechanisms in the present study, we can only speculate which of them may have altered synaptic plasticity in patients without motor disability. For example, increased activity of the motor cortex may have prevented both motor disability and induction of LTP by rTMS, as it has been shown that prior synaptic activity can inhibit LTP-induction (Coan et al., 1989). However, this is only one possible explanation, requiring confirmation in empirical studies.

Irrespective of the underlying mechanisms, the idea of metaplasticity as an important factor during MS relapses is supported by previous research. In fact, the previously reported reversed effects of an LTD-protocol in only mildly affected relapsing patients were also discussed to represent an adaptive response (Wirsching et al., 2018). Unfortunately, no details regarding the FSS of these patients were published, but based on the reported EDSS (median = 2.0) and main relapse symptoms (only n = 1 with motor symptoms), this cohort seems to resemble our subgroup of patients without motor disability. Taken together, this indicates that stabilizing metaplastic mechanisms may be key to prevent

Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

Table 1

Characteristic	Relapse (N = 18)	Stable (<i>N</i> = 18)	p-value	HCs (<i>N</i> = 18)	p-value
Sex. N (%), female	15 (83)	15 (83)	>0.99	15 (83)	>0.99
Handedness, N (%), right	16 (89)	17 (94)	>0.99	18 (100)	0.47
Age, Md (IQR), years	40 (15)	38.5 (13)	0.96	39 (17)	0.82
Education, Md (IQR), years	16 (4)	16 (4)	0.96	17.5 (5)	0.15
AMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	36 (12)	37 (12)	0.41	39 (7)	0.28
RMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	46 (18)	45 (16)	0.96	48 (9)	0.79
MEP 0.5 mV, Md (IQR), % MSO	57 (20)	58.5 (33)	0.65	58 (13)	0.83
MEP latency, Md (IOR), ms ^a	21.8 (4.0)	22.23 (3.4)	0.75	21.72 (2.5)	>0.99
APost-Pre MEP amplitude.	0.37 (0.6)	0.57 (0.6)	0.23	0.57 (0.3)	0.28
Md (IOR), mV	,				
BVMT-R					
Total learning score, Md (IOR)	25.5 (11)	24.5 (8)	0.91	28.5 (6)	0.13
z-score. Md (IOR) ^b	-0.09(1.9)	-0.28(1.8)	0.91	0.50(1.1)	0.14
SDMT					
correct items Md (IOR)	50 (18)	59 (17)	0.21	59 (22)	0.02
z-score Md (IOR) ^c	-0.75(2.4)	0.24(1.3)	0.20	-0.02(2.1)	0.01
Nine-hole neg test	0.75 (2.1)	0.21(1.3)	0.20	0.02 (2.1)	0.01
Time to complete Md (IOR) seconds ^d	210(60)	191 (56)	0.12	186 (28)	0.002
25-foot walk test	21.0 (0.0)	15.1 (5.6)	0.12	10.0 (2.0)	0.002
Time to complete Md (IOR) seconds ^e	48(62)	39(12)	0.06	37(10)	0.01
HADS N (%) clinical ^f	4.0 (0.2)	5.5 (1.2)	0.00	5.7 (1.0)	0.01
Anviety	6 (33)	3 (17)	0.56	1 (6)	0.09
Depression	4 (22)	3 (17)	>0.90	0 (0)	0.05
ESMC N (%) mild/moderate/severe	4 (22)	5(17)	20.55	0(0)	0.10
Motor	1(6)/1(6)/	5 (28) / 0 (0) /	0.24	5 (28) / 1 (6) / 1 (6)	<0.001
WOLDI	12 (67)	8 (44)	0.24	5(28)/1(0)/1(0)	-0.001
Compitivo	2(11)/2(11)/10(56)	5 (28) / 2 (11) /	0.49	2(17)/0(0)/1(6)	<0.001
Cognitive	2 (11) / 2 (11) / 10 (50)	5 (28) / 2 (11) /	0.40	3 (17) / 0 (0) / 1 (0)	~0.001
Disease duration Md (IOP) years	65(12)	62 (8)	0.86		
EDSC Md (IOP)	40 (45)	1.0 (2.2)	<0.001		
DMT at time of accommont N (%)	4.0 (4.3)	1.0 (2.5)	0.001		
None	0 (50)	2 (17)	0.55		
Notelinumah	9 (JU) 1 (G)	5(17)			
NatalizullaD Osnalizurzah	1 (0)	6 (33)			
Clatineman apatata	4 (22)	5 (28)			
Glatifaller acetate	1 (6)	1(6)			
Dimethyl fumarate	1 (6)	1 (6)			
Fingolimod	1(6)	1(6)			
Cladribine	1 (6)	1(6)			
Days since relapse onset, Md (IQK)"	20.5 (17.8)				
Neapse treatment, N (%)	2 (17)				
None	3 (17)				
Glucocorticoids	5 (28)				
Plasmapheresis	2 (11)				
Glucocorticoids & Plasmapheresis	7 (39)				
Immunoadsorption	1 (6)				
Main relapse symptom, N (%)					
Motor	10 (56)				
Sensible	11 (61)				
Visual	7 (39)				
Remission, N (%)					
No	3 (17)				
Partial	9 (50)				
Full	3 (17)				
Days from relapse to follow-up,	109 (48)				
Md (IOR)					

 Note. p-values refer to the statistical comparison of the relapsing group against stable MS (first column) and against HCs (second column). p-values < 0.05 were considered significant and are in boldface. HCs = Healthy controls. MS = Multiple sclerosis. Md = Median. IQR = Interquartile range. AMT = Active motor threshold. RMT = Resting motor threshold. MEP = Motor evoked potential. MEP 0.5 mV = Stimulation intensity producing a reliable MEP of ~ 0.5 mV. MSO = Maximal stimulator output. BVMT-R = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised. SDMT = Symbol Digit Modalities Test. HADS = Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. FSMC = Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition. EDSS = Expanded Disability Status Scale. DMT = Disease-modifying therapy.</td>

 ^a Missing data: N = 3 (Relapse: N = 2, HCs: N = 1).

 ^b Calculation based on the BVMT-R manual. (Benedict, 1997).

 ^c Calculation based on the BVMT-R manual. (Benedict, 1997).

 ^c Calculation based on the Required distance (N = 3, Relapse), the following time to complete was calculated: maximum time to complete in the total MS sample). Missing data: N = 3 (Relapse).

 ^e For patients, who were unable to walk the required distance (N = 3, Relapse), the following time to complete was calculated: maximum time to complete in the total MS sample). Missing data: N = 3 (Relapse).

 ^c Lassification as clinical based on scores ≥ 11.

The classification as clinical based on scores \geq 11. ^g Classification as mild, moderate, and severe based on cut-offs provided in the FSMC. (Penner et al., 2009). ^h Missing data: N = 2.

^j Total does not add up to 100% because some patients presented with symptoms in more than one system. ^j Missing data: N - 3. Percentages are based on the total sample including patients with missing data.



Intercept	+0.56 (0.48; 0.64) ^a	0.04	+14.25	<0.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.48 (+0.24; +0.73) ^a	0.12	+3.97	<0.001	
Relapsing Patients	Reference				
Stable Patients	-0.04 (-0.15; +0.06)	0.05	-0.78	0.44	
HCs	+0.02 (-0.09; +0.13)	0.05	+0.36	0.72	
Latency	$-0.07 (-0.14; -0.004)^{a}$	0.03	-2.12	0.04	
Post QPS*Stable Patients	+0.15 (-0.19; +0.48)	0.17	+0.87	0.39	
Post QPS*HCs	+0.17 (-0.17; +0.51)	0.17	+1.00	0.32	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.01
Subject*Post QPS					0.20
Residual					0.01

Note. Two-tailed 95% CI and p-values are displayed. p-values < 0.05 were considered significant and are in boldface. MEP = Motor evoked potential. HCs = Healthy controls. MS = Multiple sclerosis. QPS = Quadripulse stimulation. CI = Confidence interval. R²(conditional) = 0.96. R²(marginal) = 0.42. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient = 0.93. ^a indicates statistical significance. t- and p-values are based on asymptotic Wald test.

clinical (motor) disability during relapse, whereas synaptic plasticity itself may be secondary.

Dysfunctional hyperexcitability in the subgroup experiencing motor disability may also explain the significant group difference within the relapsing cohort. However, this is unlikely, as the degree of plasticity was similar in patients with motor disability and HCs. This indicates that the difference within the relapsing group rather reflects hypoexcitability in patients without motor disability than hyperexcitability in patients with motor disability.

Importantly, the reported FSS do not exclusively reflect disability during relapse but are also influenced by symptoms which were already present prior to the relapse. However, patients with a pyramidal FSS ≥ 2 presented motor symptoms during relapse significantly more often than patients with a pyramidal FSS < 2 (Supplementary Table 3). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the FSS do not simply reflect pre-existing motor disability.

The fact that we did not find altered plasticity during relapse compared to stable MS and HCs may be explained by the clinical characteristics of the relapsing cohort. Despite moderate to severe disability and in contrast to other studies (Benedict et al., 2014; Benedict et al., 2020; Morrow et al., 2011), we did not find worse cognitive performance in relapsing compared to stable patients. As we did not perform repeated measurements, we cannot rule out cognitive decline in relapsing patients compared to performance prior to relapse. However, on average, all groups performed within the normative range. This suggests, that even in case of a slight cognitive deterioration, the decline did not reach clinical significance. Since only n = 6 (33%) of the relapsing patients experienced cognitive impairment, retained plasticity during relapse is in line with our previous finding of retained plasticity in stable RRMS patients without cognitive impairment (Balloff et al., 2022).

However, an average delay of 21 days after symptom onset, which is longer than in previous studies (Mori et al., 2014; Wirsching et al., 2018), may also explain why we did not find altered plasticity during relapse.

Earlier research on cortical excitability in patients with MS suggested increased MEP thresholds (Caramia et al., 2004), central motor conduction (Barker et al., 1986; Cowan et al., 1984; Hess et al., 1987), and cortical latency (Barker et al., 1986) compared to HCs. In the present study, MEP latency and thresholds were comparable between both patient groups and HCs. This might be explained by the patients' clinical characteristics. All patients included in two of the earlier studies had signs of upper limb involvement (Barker et al., 1986; Cowan et al., 1984). In our study, upper limb involvement was present in less than half of the patients, with only 15 patients affected across both groups. Taking into account the right side only, which was relevant for MEP assessment in our study, only 6 relapsing and 4 stable patients were affected. Hess et al. (1987) reported that prolonged central motor conduction was most strongly associated with hyperreflexia and brisk finger jerks and that the absence of these symptoms predicted normal central motor conduction. In our study, only n = 3relapsing patients and n = 1 stable patient showed hyperreflexia, while none of them presented brisk finger jerks. Even though we did not assess central motor conduction, but only MEP latency, the absence of these symptoms in almost all our patients might explain why neither relapsing nor stable patients showed increased MEP thresholds or latency compared to HCs. Additionally, normal MEP thresholds have been described in two other studies on relapsing (Wirsching et al., 2018) and stable (Zeller et al., 2012) MS patients. In conclusion, MEP thresholds and latency indicate pyramidal tract affection, which is usually also accompanied by clinical signs. At the same time, MEPs do not seem to be altered in patients with MS without clinical pyramidal signs.

Even though treatment of relapse varied across subjects, most patients (n = 12, 67%) had received intravenous glucocorticoids

Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

prior to the examination or were still on treatment. This limits the generalizability of our findings, as glucocorticoids have been described to suppress LTP (Brandner et al., 2022; Dinse et al., 2017; Park et al., 2015). However, early glucocorticoid treatment represents the standard clinical care and could, therefore, not be postponed for study participation. The fact that the degree of induced plasticity during relapse did not differ compared to stable MS and HCs despite this possibly attenuating effect of glucocorticoids supports our finding of retained plasticity during relapse. Exploratively, we did not find significant differences regarding the degree of plasticity between patients who had received glucocorticoid treatment and those who had not, further supporting the validity of our results despite small subgroup sample size (n = 6 not receiving steroids; Supplementary Fig. 3).

Different rTMS protocols are hardly comparable, especially if they measure different types of synaptic plasticity (LTP vs. LTD). An acute relapse and MS in general may, in fact, not affect LTP and LTD in the same way. To analyze differential effects on different types of synaptic plasticity, future studies should investigate both LTP- and LTD-like effects in the same cohort, since focusing exclusively on only one of these types may disregard the complexity of synaptic plasticity.

A limitation of this study is the cross-sectional design. The relevance for clinical recovery could not be analyzed longitudinally because most patients presented with partial recovery, resulting in underrepresentation of the two other groups. Further, there was high variation within the relapse sample regarding the delay between symptom onset and study participation as well as disease duration. While some patients had been newly diagnosed with RRMS, others have been living with MS for up to 23 years. This variance may limit generalizability and future research should investigate homogeneous subgroups at different stages of the disease. Additionally, future research should aim at larger sample size per group to increase the reliability of the results.

We have averaged 12 MEPs at each timepoint for the primary outcome of MEP amplitudes to keep the protocol as short as possible, and therefore least exhausting for the participants. However, previous studies have averaged 20–30 MEPs to increase the reliability of MEP amplitudes (Chang et al., 2016; Goldsworthy et al., 2016) and, in general, standard errors reduce with increasing sample size. Therefore, averaging more MEPs per timepoint would have increased the accuracy of MEP amplitudes and, thus, the reliability of our results. Nonetheless, we believe that MEP amplitudes were estimated sufficiently accurate and that potential variations did not substantially influence our main findings, which should, however, be confirmed in future studies.

Despite these limitations, the strengths of our study are the closely matched and well characterized cohorts and the use of the QPS protocol. Results from other studies (Mori et al., 2014; Wirsching et al., 2018) did not reveal clear results, which may, at least partially, be explained by differences in TMS protocols. In fact, the protocol in the study reporting LTP-like effects of an LTD-inducing protocol during relapse did not induce any effects during recovery Wirsching et al., 2018), questioning the interpretability of the results. Further, no information regarding the individual degree of recovery (null, partial, or full) was provided. It remains questionable, whether symptoms had recovered at follow-up, since optic neuritis was the main relapse symptom in n = 11(58%) and is probably unrelated to the implemented indicator of recovery, namely performance in the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite Score Wirsching et al., 2018). Lastly, both studies which have previously investigated plasticity during relapse, focused on newly diagnosed patients with low disability, with only one patient presenting an EDSS > 4. This, however, resembles the median in our relapsing cohort, which also consisted of a substantial number of patients with severe disability.

5. Conclusion

We conclude that synaptic plasticity is retained during an acute MS relapse, even though standard treatment with glucocorticoids limits preclusion of possible hyperexcitability. Explorative subgroup analyses suggest that stabilizing metaplastic mechanisms may be more important to prevent motor disability than cortical excitability. The functional relevance of this finding needs to be investigated in larger, longitudinal studies.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Carolin Balloff: Conceptualization. Investigation. Data curation. Methodology, Project administration, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing - original draft. Sveva Novello: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Arved-Sebastian Stucke: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Lisa Kathleen Janssen: Investigation, Writing review & editing. Elisa Heinen: Visualization, Writing - review & editing. Christian Johannes Hartmann: Investigation, Writing review & editing. Sven Günther Meuth: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Alfons Schnitzler: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Iris-Katharina Penner: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - original draft. Philipp Albrecht: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - original draft. Stefan Jun Groiss: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - original draft.

Acknowledgements

We thank all participants and colleagues from the Department of Neurology for supporting our research. This work is supported by the Research Committee of the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Duesseldorf (project number 2019-14). The funder had no role in the design and conduct of the study, collection, management, analysis and interpretation of the data, preparation, review or approval of the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Statement

C. Balloff reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.

S. Novello reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.

A-S. Stucke reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. L.K. Janssen has received an individual funding granted by the Research Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for her doctoral thesis (October 2021 -March 2022).

E. Heinen reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript.

C.J. Hartmann reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. S.G. Meuth has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses for attending meetings from Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics Germany, Bayer Health Care, Biogen, Celgene, Diamed, Genzyme, MedDay Pharmaceuticals, Merck Serono, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, ONO Pharma, Roche, SanofiAventis, Chugai Pharma, QuintilesIMS and Teva, and research funding from the German Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the Else Kröner Fresenius Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, the Hertie Foundation, the Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Studies (IZKF) Muenster, the German Foundation for Neurology, Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics, Germany, Biogen, Diamed, Fresenius Medical Care, Genzyme, Merck Serono, Novartis, ONO Pharma, Roche and Teva.

A. Schnitzler has received lecture fees from Abbott. Novartis. Kyowa Kirin, and has been serving as a consultant for Abbott, Zambon, Medtronic Inc. He received royalties from the Georg Thieme Verlag. He is a government employee and receives through his

Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

institution funding for his research from the German Research Council, Abbott, and the Brunhilde Moll Foundation.

I.-K. Penner received honoraria for speaking at scientific meetings, serving at scientific advisory boards and consulting activities from Adamas Pharma, Almirall, Bayer Pharma, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Sanofi-Genzyme, Janssen, Merck, Novartis, Roche, and Teva, She received research support from the German MS Society, Celgene, Novartis, Roche, and Teva.

S.J. Groiss received honoraria and/or travel expenses from Abbott Medical, Abbvie, Bial, Boston Scientific, Inomed, Medtronic, Rogue Research, UCB, consulting fees from Bial, Zambon and research support from Abbott and Hilde-Ulrichs Stiftung.

P. Albrecht received compensation for serving on Scientific Advisory Boards for Allergan, Celgene, Janssen Cilag, Ipsen, Merck, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Novartis, Biogen; he received speaker honoraria and travel support from Novartis, Teva, Biogen, Celgene, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, Allergan, Bayer Healthcare, Esai, UCB; Roche; he received research support from Novartis, Allergan, Biogen, Celgene, Teva, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, and Roche.

Declaration of generative AI and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process

During the preparation of this work the authors used ChatGPT (Version 3) in order to improve readability and linguistic style. After using this tool/service, the authors reviewed and edited the content as needed and take full responsibility for the content of the publication.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.07.013.

References

- Abraham WC. Metaplasticity: Tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 2008;9(5):387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2356</u>. Balloff C, Penner I-K, Ma M, Georgiades I, Scala L, Troullinakis N, et al. The degree of
- cortical plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Brain Stimul 2022;15(2):403–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. with
- Barker AT, Freeston IL, Jabinous R, Jarratt JA. Clinical evaluation of conduction time measurements in central motor pathways using magnetic stimulation of human brain. Lancet 1986;1(8493):1325-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-
- numan brain. Lancet 1986;1(8493):1325-b. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(86)121243-2.
 nedict RHB. Brief visuospatial memory test revised: professional manual. Psychological Assessment Resources Inc.; 1997.
 nedict RHB, Morrow SA, Rodgers J, Hojnacki D, Bucello MA, Zivadinov R, et al. Characterizing cognitive function during relapse in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2014;20(13):1745-52.
- Scler 2014;20(13):1745-52.
 Benedict RHB, Pol J, Yasin F, Hojnacki D, Kolb C, Eckert S, et al. Recovery of cognitive function after relapse in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2020;1–8.
 Brandner S, Schroeter S, Calışkan G, Salar S, Kobow K, Coras R, et al. Glucocorticoid modulation of synaptic plasticity in the human temporal cortex of epilepsy patients: Does chronic stress contribute to memory impairment? Epilepsia 2022;63(1):209-21. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.17107.
- 2022;63(1):209-21. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.17107.
 Brandstadter R, Katz Sand I, Sumowski JF. Beyond rehabilitation: A prevention model of reserve and brain maintenance in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2019;25(10):1372-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458519856847.
 Caramia MD, Palmieri MG, Desiato MT, Boffa L, Galizia P, Rossini PM, et al. Brain excitability changes in the relapsing and remitting phases of multiple sclerosis:
- A study with transcrail magnetic stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol 2004;115 (4):956–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2003.11.024.
 Chang WH, Fried PJ, Saxena S, Jannati A, Gomes-Osman J, Kim Y-H, et al. Optimal number of pulses as outcome measures of neuronavigated transcranial magnetic stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol 2016;127(8):2892–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.04.001.
- Citri A, Malenka RC. Synaptic plasticity: Multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008;33(1):18-41. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.
- Example 1505. Coan EJ, Irving AJ, Collingridge GL. Low-frequency activation of the NMDA receptor system can prevent the induction of LTP. Neurosci Lett 1989;105(1–2):205–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(89)90038-4.

- Cowan JM, Rothwell JC, Dick JP, Thompson PD, Day BL, Marsden CD. Abnormalities in central motor pathway conduction in multiple sclerosis. Lancet 1984;2 (8398):304–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92683-7</u>.
- (6356):304-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.0140-7530470-5534720655-7. Dinse HR, Kattenstroth JC, Lenz M, Tegenthoff M, Wolf OT. The stress hormone cortisol blocks perceptual learning in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2017;77:63-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.12.002. Galarreta M, Hestrin S. Frequency-dependent synaptic depression and the balance of excitation and inhibition in the neocortex. Nat Neurosci 1998;1(7):587-94. https://doi.org/10.1028/2021 https://doi.org/10.1038/2822
- Goldsworthy MR, Hordacre B, Ridding MC. Minimum number of trials required for Coldsworthy Mic, Hordacre B, Kidding MC, Minimum humber of trials required for within – and between-session reliability of TMS measures of corticospinal excitability. Neuroscience 2016;320:205–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/jj. neuroscience.2016.02.012</u>. Guerra A, Lépez-Alonso V, Cheeran B, Suppa A. Variability in non-invasive brain stimulation studies: Reasons and results. *Neurosci Lett.* Advance online ublication 2017 the offed in and results. *Neurosci Lett.* Advance online
- publication, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/i.neulet.2017.12.058
- publication. 2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.12.058</u>.
 Hamada M, Hanajima R, Ferao Y, Arai N, Furubayashi T, Inomata-Terada S, et al. Quadro-pulse stimulation is more effective than paired-pulse stimulation for plasticity induction of the human motor cortex. Clin Neurophysiol 2007;118 (12):2672–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2007.09.062</u>.
 Hamada M, Terao Y, Hanajima R, Shirota Y, Nakatani-Enomoto S, Furubayashi T,
- Hamada M, Terao Y, Hanajima R, Shirota Y, Nakatani-Enomoto S, Furubayashi T, et al. Bidirectional long-term motor cortical plasticity and metaplasticity induced by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Physiol 2008;586 (16):3927-47. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.152793.
 Herrmann-Lingen C, Buss U, & Snaith RP. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale Deutsche Version (HADS-D). Manual. Huber H., editor. 2011.
 Hess CW, Mills KR, Murray NM, Schriefer TN. Magnetic brain stimulation: Central motor conduction studies in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 1987;22(6):744-52. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410220611.

- https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410220611. Kelleher RJ, Govindarajan A, Tonegawa S. Translational regulatory mechanisms in persistent forms of synaptic plasticity. Neuron 2004;44(1):59–73. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.013</u>. Krieger SC, Cook K, de Nino S, Fletcher M. The topographical model of multiple sclerosis. Neurol Neuroinmunol Neuroinflamm 2016;3(5):e279.
- Scholar Metroline (Europhysical Scholar) (Scholar Scholar Scholar) (Scholar Scholar Sch Love S. Demyelinating diseases. J Clin Pathol 2006;59(11):1151-9. https://doi.org/
- icp.2005.031195 Lublin FD, Häring DA, Ganigahi H, Ocampo A, Hatami F, Čuklina I, et al, How patients
- Lubin To, Tating S, Gangam Ti, Otambo F, Tatalin T, Cushind J, et al. Tow patterns with multiple sclerosis acquire disability. Brain 2022;145(9):3147–61. https:// doi.org/10.1093/brainJawac016.
 Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: The 2013 revisions. Neurology
- 2014;83(3):278-86. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000000560. Meunier CNJ, Chameau P, Fossier PM. Modulation of Synaptic Plasticity in the
- Meunier CNJ, Chameau P, Fossier PM. Modulation of Synaptic Plasticity in the Cortex Needs to Understand All the Players. Front Synaptic Neurosci 2017;9:2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2017.00002.
 Mori F, Kusayanagi H, Nicoletti CG, Weiss S, Marciani MG, Centonze D. Cortical plasticity predicts recovery from relapse in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2014;20(4):451–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513512541.
 Moriyasu S, Shimizu T, Honda M, Ugawa Y, Hanajima R. Motor cortical plasticity and
- Mortyasu S, Shimizu T, Honda M, Ugawa Y, Hanajima R. Motor cortical plasticity and its correlation with motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. ENeurologicalSci 2022;29:100422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ensci.2022.100422.
 Morrow SA, Jurgensen S, Forrestal F, Munchauer FE, Benedict RHB. Effects of acute relapses on neuropsychological status in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurol 2011;258(9):1603–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-5975-3.

Clinical Neurophysiology 155 (2023) 76-85

- Mowry EM, Pesic M, Grimes B, Deen S, Bacchetti P, Waubant E. Demyelinating events in early multiple sclerosis have inherent severity and recovery. Neurology 2009;72(7):602–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000342458.</u> 39625 91
- Nakamura K, Groiss SJ, Hamada M, Enomoto H, Kadowaki S, Abe M, et al. Variability
- Nakamura K, Groiss SJ, Hamada M, Enomoto H, Kadowaki S, Abe M, et al. Variability in response to quadripulse stimulation of the motor cortex. Brain Stimul 2016;9 (6):859–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.008</u>.
 Park HJ, Lee S, Jung JW, Kim BK, Kyu JH, Kim DH. Glucocorticoid- and long-term stress-induced aberrant synaptic plasticity are mediated by activation of the glucocorticoid receptor. Arch Pharm Res 2015;38(6):1204–12. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.007147372.016.016.01 10 1007/s12272-015-0548
- 10.1007/ST2272-013-0546-0. ner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The fatigue scale for motor and cognitive functions (FSMC): Validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. Mult Scler 2009;15(12):1509–17. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1177/1352458509348519.
- org/10.117//1352438509348519.
 Rao SM. A manual for the brief repeatable battery of neuropsychological tests in multiple sclerosis. Medical College of Wisconsin; 1990.
 Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Screening questionnaire before TMS: An update. Clin Neurophysiol 2011;122(8):1686. https://doi.org/10.1016/
- j.clinph.2010.12.037. Schoonheim MM, Geurts JJG, Barkhof F. The limits of functional reorganization in
- multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2010;74(16):1246-7. https://doi.org/10.1212/
- multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2010;74(16):1246-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNI.0b013e3181d99957</u>.
 Smith A. Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT). Western Psychological Services; 1982.
 Tamura K, Osada T, Ogawa A, Tanaka M, Suda A, Shimo Y, et al. Mri-based visualization of rTMS-induced cortical plasticity in the primary motor cortex. PLoS One 2019;14(10):e0224175.
- Tanaka N, Tsutsumi R, Shirota Y, Shimizu T, Ohminami S, Terao Y, et al. Effects of L-Tanaka N, Isutsumi K, Shirota Y, Shimizu I, Omminami S, Ierao Y, et al. Effects of LDDPA on quadripulse magnetic stimulation-induced long-term potentiation in older adults. Neurobiol Aging 2019;84:217–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.08.005.
 Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. Lancet Neurol 2018;17(2):162–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2.
- Tiksnadi A, Murakami T, Wiratman W, Matsumoto H, Ugava Y, Direct comparison of efficacy of the motor cortical plasticity induction and the interindividual variability between TBS and QPS. Brain Stimul 2020;13(6):1824–33. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.brs.2020.10.014.
- Tomassini V, Matthews PM, Thompson AJ, Fuglø D, Geurts JJ, Johansen-Berg H, et al Tontassini V, Matthews PW, Honipson AJ, regile D, Geurts JJ, Johansen-Berg P, et al. Neuroplasticity and functional recovery in multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol 2012;8(11):635–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2012.179.
 Turrigiano GG, Nelson SB. Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 2004;5(2):97–107. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1327.
 Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising prevalence of or which below in the induction technology. The Science of the Scie
- multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS. Mult Scler 2020;26 (14):1816-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458520970841.
- Wirsching I, Buttmann M, Odorfer T, Volkmann J, Classen J, Zeller D. Altered motor plasticity in an acute relapse of multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurosci 2018;47 (3):251–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ein.13818.
- Wu Y, Dissing-Olesen L, MacVicar BA, Stevens B. Microgula: Dynamic mediators of synapse development and plasticity. Trends Immunol 2015;36(10):605–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2015.08.008.
 Zeller D, Dang S-Y, Weise D, Rieckmann P, Toyka KV, Classen J. Excitability decreasing central motor plasticity is retained in multiple sclerosis patients. BMC Neurol 2012;12(92).







Supplementary Tables

Supplementary Table 1. Distribution of disability in the Functional Systems

Functional System	Disability (FSS \geq 2)	No disability (FSS < 2)
Brainstem (N, %)	7 (39)	11 (61)
Pyramidal (N, %)	9 (50)	9 (50)
Cerebral (N, %)	2 (11)	16 (89)
Sensory (N, %)	9 (50)	9 (50)
Cerebellar (N, %)	6 (33)	12 (67)
N7 . X7 11 1 11	1 1 1 1 1 1	. 11 1 11

Note. Visual, bowel and bladder, and ambulation are not displayed because no association with cortical plasticity is expected. FSS= Functional System Score.

Supplementary Table 2. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude in relapsing patients with and without motor disability before and after QPS

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	S ²
Intercept	$+0.59 (+0.48; +0.70)^{a}$	0.05	+11.44	<.001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	$+0.27 (+0.01; +0.54)^{a}$	0.12	+2.24	.04	
No motor disability	Reference				
Motor disability	-0.06 (-0.23; +0.12)	0.08	-0.67	.51	
Latency	-0.06 (-0.18; +0.06)	0.06	-1.08	.30	
Post QPS*Motor disability	+0.42 ($+0.05$; $+0.79$)	0.17	+2.42	.03	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.01
Subject*Post QPS					0.09
Residual					0.01

Note. Two-tailed 95% CI and *p*-values are displayed. *p*-values <.05 were considered significant and are in boldface. Motor disability was defined as a pyramidal Functional System Score \geq 2. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. R²(conditional)=0.95. R²(marginal)=0.55. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation

Coefficient=0.90.

^a indicates statistical significance. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test.

Supplementary Table 3. Characteristics of relapsing patients with and without motor disability

Characteristic	Motor disability (<i>N=9</i>)	No motor disability (<i>N</i> =9)	<i>p</i> - value
Sex, N (%), female	9 (100)	6 (67)	.21
Handedness, N (%), right	9 (100)	7 (78)	.47
Age, Md (IQR), years	42 (16)	35 (15)	.11
Education, Md (IQR), years	16 (3)	16 (5)	.26
AMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	36 (19)	35 (8)	.93
RMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	47 (25)	44 (12)	.61
MEP 0.5mV, Md (IQR), % MSO	58 (29)	52 (14)	.55
MEP latency, Md (IQR), ms ^a	20.7 (3.3)	23.0 (5.0)	.13
ΔPost-Pre MEP amplitude, Md (IQR), mV	0.7 (0.4)	0.2 (0.3)	.03
BVMT-R			
Total learning score, Md (IQR)	22 (13)	26 (11)	.19
z-score, Md (IQR) ^b	-0.4 (2.6)	0.4 (1.8)	.26
SDMT			
correct items, Md (IQR)	45 (25)	53 (20)	.16
z-score, Md (IQR) ^c	-0.7 (3.0)	-0.8 (2.2)	.67

Nine-hole peg test			
Time to complete, Md (IQR), seconds ^d	25.8 (8.6)	20.5 (3.9)	.15
25-foot walk test			
Time to complete, Md (IQR),	10.0 (5.9)	40(12)	001
seconds ^e	10.0 (5.5)	4.0 (1.2)	.001
HADS, N (%), clinical ^f			
Anxiety	3 (33)	3 (33)	>.99
Depression	2 (22)	2 (22)	>.99
FSMC, N (%), mild/moderate/severe ^g			
Motor	0 (0) / 1 (11) / 8 (89)	1 (11) / 0 (0) / 4 (44)	.05
Cognitive	0 (0) / 1 (11) / 8 (89)	2 (22) / 1 (11) / 2 (22)	.02
Disease duration, Md (IQR), years	11.9 (16)	0.1 (6)	.003
EDSS, Md (IQR)	6.5 (2.0)	2.0 (2.5)	<.001
DMT at time of assessment, N (%)			.002
None	1 (11)	8 (80)	
Natalizumab	1 (11)	0 (0)	
Ocrelizumab	4 (44)	0 (0)	
Glatiramer acetate	0 (0)	1 (10)	
Dimethyl fumarate	1 (11)	0 (0)	
Fingolimod	1 (11)	0 (0)	
Cladribine	1 (11)	0 (0)	
Days since relapse onset, Md (IQR) ^h	20.5 (10)	18.5 (20)	.51
Relapse treatment, N (%)			.45
None	1 (11)	2 (22)	
Glucocorticoids	2 (22)	3 (33)	
Plasmapheresis	2 (22)	0 (0)	
Glucocorticoids & Plasmapheresis	3 (33)	4 (44)	
Immunoadsorption	1 (11)	0 (0)	
Main relapse symptom, N (%) ⁱ			
Motor	8 (89)	2 (22)	.02
Sensible	5 (56)	6 (67)	>.99
Visual	2 (22)	5 (56)	.33
Remission, N (%) ^j			.70
No	2 (22)	1 (11)	
Partial	4 (44)	5 (55)	
Full	1 (11)	2 (22)	
Days from relapse to follow-up, Md (IOR) ^j	96 (48)	122.5 (81.8)	.34

Note. p-values <.05 were considered significant, are in boldface, and refer to the two-tailed comparison against patients in relapse. Motor disability was defined as a pyramidal Functional System Score \geq 2. HCs= Healthy controls. Md=Median. IQR=Interquartile range. AMT= Active Motor Threshold. RMT= Resting Motor Threshold. MEP= Motor evoked potential. MEP 0.5mV= Stimulation intensity producing a reliable MEP of ~0.5mV. MSO= Maximal stimulator output. BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. HADS=Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. FSMC= Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition. EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale. DMT= Disease-modifying therapy. MS= Multiple Sclerosis.

^a Missing data: N=2 (motor impairment: N=1, no motor impairment: N=1)

^bCalculation based on the BVMT-R manual (Benedict, 1997).

^c Calculation based on German norms (Scherer et al., 2004).

^d Missing data: N=3 (motor disability: N=2, no motor disability: N=1)

^e For patients, who were unable to walk the required distance (N=3, motor disability), the following time to complete was calculated: maximum time to complete in the total MS Sample + 1.645*(standard deviation in the total MS sample). Missing data: N= 3 (motor disability: N=2, no motor disability: N=1). ^f Classification as clinical based on scores \geq 11.

^g Classification as mild, moderate, and severe based on cut-offs provided in the FSMC (Penner et al.,

2009).

3

^h Missing data: N=2 (motor disability: N=1, no motor disability: N=1)

ⁱTotal does not add up to 100% because some patients presented with symptoms in more than one system.

% based on the total number of subjects per group.

^j Missing data: N=3 (motor disability: N=2, no motor disability: N=1)

References

- Benedict, R. H. B. (1997). *Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised: Professional Manual*. Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Penner, I. K., Raselli, C., Stöcklin, M., Opwis, K., Kappos, L., & Calabrese, P. (2009). The Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): Validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 15(12), 1509–1517. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458509348519

Scherer, P., Baum, K., Bauer, H., Göhler, H., & Miltenburger, C. (2004). Normierung der Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests (BRB-N) für den deutschsprachigen Raum Anwendung bei schubförmig remittierenden und sekundär progredienten Multiple-Sklerose-Patienten [Normalization of the Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological tests (BRB-N) for German-speaking regions. Application in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis patients]. *Der Nervenarzt*, 75(10), 984–990. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-004-1729-0

Study 3 – Synaptic plasticity in PMS and its association with motor performance

Balloff, C.,⁶ Albrecht, P.,⁶ Stucke, A.-S., Scala, L., Novello, S., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S. G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.,⁷ & Groiss, S.J.⁷ (2023). The importance of pyramidal tract integrity for cortical plasticity and related functionality in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology, 14,* Article 1266225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

Conceptualization & methodology: I defined the research question and analysis plan in consultation with S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner based on the experimental design, which was created by S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner.

Investigation & project administration: I supervised recruitment of participants and data collection. I recruited participants and independently performed neuropsychological tests and rTMS. I was also responsible for data curation. Project administration was performed by me, S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner. S.J. Groiss, P. Albrecht and C.J. Hartmann conducted neurological assessments. A.-S. Stucke, L. Scala, S. Novello recruited participants and conducted neuropsychological tests and rTMS under supervision. A.-S. Stucke provided support in data curation. P. Albrecht and S.J. Groiss contributed to the recruitment of participants.

Formal analysis: I conducted the statistical analyses with contributions by A.-S. Stucke and reviewed them for correctness.

Resources: I provided funding for the open access fee. P. Albrecht provided funding for this study. Further resources were provided by S.G. Meuth and A. Schnitzler.

Manuscript: I wrote the initial manuscript, which included all steps from comprehensive literature research to final formulation. I created the figures and tables. I coordinated the scientific review process at the journal. During this process, with the assistance of I.-K. Penner, S.J. Groiss, and P. Albrecht, I made revisions. I prepared the final version of the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript. I.-K. Penner, S.J. Groiss, and P. Albrecht additionally contributed to the original draft.

⁶ Shared first authorship.

⁷ Shared last authorship.



1 Introduction

Neuroplasticity represents an important mechanism of the human brain to overcome disease-induced changes and impairment in the communication of neuronal networks. It does not only facilitate learning and memory (1) but also environmental adaptation and thus reflects an indispensable prerequisite for recovery and rebuilding of neuronal connections after brain injury and brain disease (2).

In multiple sclerosis (MS), a decline in motor and cognitive performance is the consequence of increased structural damage, finally leading to a network collapse impeding the brain's capability to reorganize (3). Thus, interventions able to promote brain plasticity to regain and/or preserve functions are of tremendous clinical and scientific interest and need. However, potential therapeutic interventions can only be investigated using reliable biomarkers of plasticity with high functional relevance, one of which may be repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). Depending on the applied frequency, rTMS can change neural excitability by inducing effects similar to long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) (4). Many rTMS protocols exist and a protocol called quadripulse stimulation (QPS) (5) is supposed to promote LTP in healthy subjects with the lowest variability (6–8).

Recently, we were able to show that cortical plasticity can be induced by QPS of the motor cortex in patients with relapsingremitting MS (RRMS) (9). In this cohort, plasticity induced by our QPS protocol was significantly associated with information processing speed, visuospatial learning and short-term memory, and with clinical disability. Correspondingly, cortical plasticity was higher in subjects with preserved cognitive function than in those presenting cognitive deficits. Compared to healthy controls (HCs), our overall mildly affected group of RRMS patients presented with similar levels of cortical plasticity (9).

Even though these findings indicate that QPS-induced plasticity could reflect global synaptic plasticity beyond the motor cortex, research is actually limited to patients with RRMS, neuropsychological performance, and clinical disability. Thus, to extend our knowledge and understanding in terms of clinical relevance and prognostic value of the QPS method, it is required to study its potential in different disease types and its relevance for motor functions as well.

In the present study, we, therefore, analyzed the correlation between the degree of synaptic plasticity with motor functions of the upper and lower extremities as well as with cognitive outcomes for processing speed and visuospatial short-term memory and learning in different types of MS and matched HCs. Furthermore, we compared the degree of QPS-induced plasticity between HCs and different MS subtypes. Based on the previously described association of cortical plasticity and clinical disability in patients with RRMS (9), we hypothesized QPS-induced plasticity to positively correlate with motor outcomes across all disease types. Based on the results from our first RRMS cohort, we further expected to find positive correlations with cognitive performance in patients with progressive MS (PMS).

To the best of our knowledge, only one study has investigated LTP- or LTD-like plasticity induced by rTMS in patients with

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

PMS so far (10). Plasticity was shown to be reduced in patients with primary progressive MS (PPMS) compared to stable patients with RRMS and HCs. Patients with PPMS neither showed LTPlike effects following intermittent theta burst stimulation (iTBS) nor LTD-like effects following continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS) (10). It was argued that these findings may be due to excitotoxicity neuronal damage and loss of a sufficient LTP-like response in patients with PPMS (11).

Even though these findings indicate that reduced or even absent synaptic plasticity may be an important factor driving clinical deterioration in patients with PPMS, the sample size of the PPMS group was too small (n = 12) to generalize the findings, and both iTBS and cTBS typically show high rates of non- or even opposite responders as well as high intra- and inter-individual variability (12). Furthermore, no data on the degree of cortical plasticity in patients with secondary progressive MS (SPMS) have been published until now.

Despite limited comparability between different rTMS protocols, both the aforementioned protocols and QPS aim to induce either LTP or LTD. Thus, in line with the previous findings and the fact that patients with PMS typically express more disability than patients with RRMS (13, 14), we expected to find similar results using QPS as in the previous study (10). Specifically, we hypothesized plasticity to be reduced in patients with PMS but not in RRMS compared to HCs.

2 Materials and methods

The design and methods of the study have been described in detail elsewhere (9). In the following paragraphs, we therefore only summarize the most relevant information to understand the design of the study as well as any deviations from our previous publication.

2.1 Subjects

Data were collected between May 2018 and October 2022 at the Department of Neurology at the University Hospital in Düsseldorf, Germany. The inclusion criterion was a diagnosis of definite MS according to the revised McDonald criteria (15). The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) history of diseases of the central or peripheral nervous system other than MS, (2) history of psychiatric diseases potentially affecting cognition other than remitted depressive episodes, (3) presence of any contraindication for transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), (4) history of drug or alcohol abuse, (5) age of <18 years. Based on the same exclusion criteria, age-, sex-, and education-matched HCs were recruited from an internal database of interested HCs as well as friends and family members of faculty members of the University Hospital Düsseldorf. A TMS safety screening questionnaire (16) was carried out, and informed written consent was obtained by all persons before participation. The ethical committee of the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf (study number 2018-16) reviewed and approved the study, which was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

2.2 Experimental design and data assessment

Details of the experimental design have been described in our previous publication (9). To summarize, a short neuropsychological assessment, including the Rao-adapted version of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) (17, 18), the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT-R) (19), and patient-reported outcome measures of fatigue (Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions) (20), depression, and anxiety (Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale) (21), was administered. Furthermore, the nine-hole peg test (NHPT) was applied as a functional outcome of manual dexterity, and the timed 25-foot walk test (T25FW) served as a measure of ambulation (22). The Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) was determined by an experienced neurologist as an indicator of overall disability (23).

Change in motor-evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes at the right first dorsal interosseous muscle following 30 min of QPS-5 stimulation (5) served as a measure of LTP-like synaptic plasticity. MEPs were evoked by single-pulse monophasic TMS and were adjusted to be ~0.5 mV before the QPS-5 intervention to ensure comparability across subjects. In total, 12 MEPs were averaged for analysis. The same stimulation intensity was used to record MEPs post-QPS intervention for a total of 60 min. An average of 12 MEPs was calculated. However, on average, one MEP per subject was excluded at each time of assessment due to voluntary muscle activity and/or artifacts.

To assess pyramidal tract integrity, MEP latency was measured by single-pulse TMS. Participants were told to maintain a contraction of \sim 30% of the maximum voluntary activity at the target muscle for 10 consecutive trials, while they were stimulated with an intensity of 140% of their individual active motor threshold. The mean latency of the ten trials was used for analyses (24).

2.3 Statistical analyses

Since there are no published data on QPS-induced plasticity in patients with PMS so far, the number of enrolled subjects was based on the number of eligible patients with PMS and matched patients with RRMS/HCs. The comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 28). All other analyses were carried out in R studio (version 2022.12.0), and statistical tests were considered significant based on $\alpha < 0.05$.

Clinical and demographic characteristics were compared between groups using the Kruskal–Wallis test for continuous variables because data were non-normally distributed in at least one group per variable. MS-specific continuous characteristics (e.g., EDSS) were compared between patients with RRMS and PMS using the Mann–Whitney *U*-test due to non-normal distribution. Fisher's exact test was used to compare categorical data between groups. Significant omnibus tests were followed by Dunn's test or pairwise Fisher's exact test to identify which specific group(s) differed from the others. We report significant pairwise group differences based on uncorrected and Bonferroni–Holm-corrected *p*'-values (25). 10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

To improve standardization and ensure comparability across our studies, the maximum change in MEP amplitude after QPS was used as our measure of synaptic plasticity.

Due to the presence of outliers, associations between QPSinduced plasticity and functional readouts (BVMT-R, SDMT, NHPT, and T25FW) were investigated by Spearman's rank correlation coefficients of these measures with the difference between the maximum of the six mean post-MEPs and the pre-MEP amplitude (Δ MEP) separately in each group. Uncorrected one-tailed p-values and Bonferroni-Holm-corrected p'-values are reported (25, 26). Data inspection revealed no clear linear relationship between the NHPT, T25FW, and Δ MEP in either group. Therefore, we did not further analyze linear relationships for these parameters but used generalized additive models (GAMs) to explore more complex linear and non-linear relationships with the "mgcv" package in both patient groups. In addition, we explored the following types of splines: thin plate, penalized cubic, cyclic cubic, shrinkage cubic, and p. Models were compared against the regular linear model using the "anova" function.

Linear mixed-effects models were calculated using the "nlme" package to compare the degree of induced plasticity between HCs, patients with RRMS, and patients with PMS. In line with our previous study (9), the increase of MEP amplitude following QPS was analyzed by comparing the maximum of the six mean post-MEP amplitude against the mean MEP amplitude before QPS (~0.5 mV). A random slope for the intervention (pre/post-QPS) was added to the fixed effects of the intervention (pre/post-QPS), group (HCs, RRMS, and PMS), and their interaction. This accounted for both the dependency of pre- and post-MEP amplitudes within subjects due to repeated measurements as well as for the variability of the interventional effect.

The basic model predicting the MEP amplitude included the fixed effects of the intervention (pre/post-QPS) and group (HCs, RRMS, and PMS), as well as their interaction. To account for the subject-dependent variability in response to the intervention, a random slope for the intervention (pre/post-QPS) was included. For our research question, the interactions of *post-QPS*group* were most relevant since significant interactions would indicate a significant difference in the degree of plasticity between the corresponding groups. Specifically, we hypothesized a significantly reduced increase of MEP amplitude in patients with PMS compared to HCs and patients with RRMS. Due to this directed hypothesis, one-tailed confidence intervals and *p*-values were conducted for the factor *post-QPS*PMS*. All other confidence intervals and *p*-values were based on twotailed analysis.

In line with our previous study (9), age, depression, anxiety, fatigue, and MEP latency, as well as their interactions were separately added to the model. Models including covariates were tested against the basic model described above based on likelihoodratio tests. Models including covariates with missing data were compared based on the Akaike information criterion. The variance inflation factor (cutoff value of ≥ 5) was used to investigate collinearity. All models were estimated using the "restricted maximum likelihood method" because it results in a more precise estimation of standard errors in smaller samples (27). We only report the model with the best fit.

Frontiers in Neurology



integrity as measured by cortical latency. MEP latency is a measure of corticospinal conduction velocity and may be prolonged in patients with MS with pyramidal tract affection (28). Based on the clinical norms of the University Hospital Düsseldorf and to avoid misclassifications as "pathological," MEP latencies of cortical latency using linear mixed-effects models. The model computation followed the same procedures as described above. However, latency was not included as a covariate in the second analysis as patients were divided into two groups based on this variable.

3 Results

3.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics

Out of 819 people approached, a total of 34 patients with PMS (14 PPMS, 20 SPMS), as well as 30 matched patients with RRMS and 30 matched HCs were included (Figure 1). Demographic characteristics of each subgroup are presented in Table 1 and were compared between groups. As expected, patients with PMS were significantly more disabled than patients with RRMS and HCs, indicated by higher EDSS, longer cortical latency, worse performance in SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, and T25FW, and higher rates of unemployment. Furthermore, patients with PMS had higher active and resting motor thresholds than HCs and required higher stimulation intensity to evoke an MEP amplitude of ~0.5 mV compared to both patients with RRMS and HCs. Patients with RRMS required higher stimulation intensity to evoke an MEP amplitude of $\sim 0.5 \, \text{mV}$ compared to HCs and performed worse on the NHPT as well as T25FW. The distribution of motor and cognitive fatigue was comparable between both patient groups, but, as expected, more patients described clinical levels of fatigue than HCs. Due to missing data in the T25FW and NHPT, 32 patients with PMS, 29 matched patients with RRMS, and 29 HCs were included in further analyses of the relationship between motor performance and cortical plasticity.

3.2 Differences in QPS-induced plasticity between patients with PMS and matched patients with RRMS and HCs

In all study groups, i.e., HCs, patients with RRMS, and patients with PMS, MEP amplitudes significantly increased after the QPS intervention. However, there was no difference in Δ MEP between groups (Table 2, Figures 2A, B). A significant main effect of cortical latency was revealed. Across all groups and both times of MEP measurement, longer latencies were associated with lower MEPs (Table 2).

To ensure that our statistical analyses were not fraught with systematic errors by merging PPMS and SPMS into one group of PMS, additional analyses were conducted separating patients with PPMS from patients with SPMS. The results did not reveal any significant differences in the degree of cortical plasticity (Supplementary Table 1, Supplementary Figure 1).

3.3 Association between functional readouts and QPS-induced plasticity

Concerning motor functions as measured by the T25FW and NHPT, Δ MEP correlated significantly with the time to complete the NHPT in patients with RRMS and HCs but not in patients with PMS. When controlling for multiple testing, significance was lost in HCs. No correlation was found between Δ MEP and the T25FW in either of the three groups. Despite the statistically significant correlation coefficients for the NHPT, data inspection revealed

Frontiers in Neurology

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

no clear linear relationship in either group for both measures of motor function (Figures 3A, B). We, therefore, modeled non-linear associations between both motor functions and Δ MEP, which did, however, not improve the model fit in either group.

Concerning cognitive functions, Δ MEP correlated significantly with the SDMT raw score in patients with RRMS and HCs but not in patients with PMS. Controlling for multiple testing, the association did not reach statistical significance in any group. Δ MEP also significantly correlated with the BVMT-R total score in patients with RRMS but missed statistical significance when controlling for multiple testing. No correlation was found for the BVMT-R in patients with PMS and HCs (Figures 3C, D).

Splitting the two patient groups by pyramidal tract integrity as measured by cortical latency, those patients with normal MEP latency showed significant correlations of Δ MEP with the NHPT, SDMT raw score, and the BVMT-R total score but not with the T25FW. The association remained statistically significant after the Bonferroni–Holm correction for the NHPT and SDMT raw score. Patients with pathological MEP latency did not show any correlation between Δ MEP and motor and cognitive readouts (Figures 3E–H).

Linear mixed-effects modeling revealed that QPS-induced plasticity was significantly reduced in patients with pathological compared to patients with normal cortical latency (Figures 2C, D, Table 3).

4 Discussion

This is the first study comparing QPS-induced plasticity of the motor cortex between HCs and different types of MS. Our study has two main findings. First, QPS-induced cortical plasticity did not differ between HCs and matched patients with RRMS and PMS. Second, we revealed intact corticospinal tract integrity as a prerequisite for the correlation between the degree of cortical plasticity and both motor and cognitive functions.

We found relevant associations between QPS-induced cortical plasticity and both motor and cognitive functions in patients with MS. However, this association was limited to cases in which MEP latencies, representing corticospinal conduction velocity (28), were normal. Importantly, exploratory analysis revealed that significantly higher degrees of plasticity were induced in these patients compared to patients with prolonged MEP latency. The relevance of structural integrity of the pyramidal tract for rTMSinduced cortical plasticity and learning abilities has already been shown in neurologically healthy subjects, suggesting rTMS to be valuable in identifying patients at risk of developing dementia (29). This is in line with our current results revealing pyramidal tract integrity as a requirement for the correlation of cortical plasticity and motor and cognitive function. Axonal cortical neurodegeneration with pyramidal tract affection may lead to lower synaptic density or activity and may therefore be relevant for plasticity impairment and functional deterioration in MS.

Importantly, the SDMT was conducted verbally, ensuring that no motor functions, apart from speech, were involved. Inaccuracies in the drawings of the BVMT-R due to motor dysfunctions (e.g., wriggly lines) were not considered in the scoring of the test. Therefore, motor dysfunction is unlikely to be responsible for

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

TABLE 1 Sample characteristics.

Characteristic	PMS (n = 34)	RRMS (<i>n</i> = 30)	HCs (<i>n</i> = 30)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex, N (%), female	16 (47)	16 (53)	16 (53)	0.90
Handedness, N (%), right ^a	32 (97)	27 (90)	27 (90)	0.55
Age, Md (IQR), years	52.5 (12)	48.5 (9)	53 (15)	0.25
Education, Md (IQR), years	15 (5)	16 (6)	17 (5)	0.21
Employment, N (%), yes	16 (47)	23 (77)	26 (87)	0.002 ^b
AMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	45.5 (13)	44.5 (12)	39 (5)	0.005 ^c
RMT, Md (IQR), % MSO	55.5 (15)	51.5 (20)	48 (7)	0.007 ^d
MEP 0.5 mV, Md (IQR), % MSO	81 (35)	66.5 (32)	58 (12)	<0.001°
MEP latency, Md (IQR), ms	25.4 (6.4)	23.4 (2.5)	22.8 (2.8)	<0.001 ^f
∆Post-Pre MEP amplitude, Md (IQR), mV	0.2 (0.5)	0.5 (0.6)	0.5 (0.7)	0.27
BVMT-R				
Total learning score, Md (IQR)	19 (13)	23.5 (13)	28 (6)	<0.001 ^g
z-score, Md (IQR)	-1.2 (2.4)	-0.1 (2.5)	0.81 (1.2)	< 0.001 ^h
SDMT				
Correct items, Md (IQR)	42.5 (16)	51.5 (24)	54.5 (20)	<0.001 ⁱ
z-score, Md (IQR)	-1.2 (1.5)	-0.1 (1.9)	0.43 (2.0)	<0.001 ⁱ
Nine-hole peg test				
Time to complete, Md (IQR), seconds	25.3 (9.9)	22.1 (5.4)	18.9 (2.2)	<0.001 ^j
25-foot walk test				
Time to complete, Md (IQR), seconds	6.4 (4.2)	4.5 (1.8)	3.5 (1.1)	<0.001 ^k
HADS, N (%), clinical				
Anxiety	1 (3)	5 (17)	0 (0)	0.03
Depression	5 (15)	4 (13)	0 (0)	0.07
FSMC, N (%), mild/modera	ate/severe			
Motor	1 (3)/5 (15)/25 (74)	5 (17)/4 (13)/15 (50)	5 (17)/1 (3)/2 (7)	<0.001 ^m
Cognitive	4 (12)/5 (15)/ 16 (47)	3 (10)/7 (23)/ 12 (40)	4 (13)/3 (10)/2 (7)	<0.001 ^m
MS specific characteristic	5			
Disease duration, Md (IQR), years	12.2 (16)	13.5 (10)		0.86
EDSS, Md (IQR) ⁿ	5.0 (3.0)	2.0 (2.3)		<0.001
DMT at time of assessment, N (%)				0.35
None	6 (18)	5 (17)		
Natalizumab	4 (12)	7 (23)		
Ocrelizumab	21 (62)	12 (40)		
Fingolimod	1 (3)	1 (3)		
Cladribine	1 (3)	2 (7)		
Alemtuzumab	1 (3)	0 (0)		

Frontiers in Neurology

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Characteristic	PMS (<i>n</i> = 34)	RRMS (<i>n</i> = 30)	HCs (<i>n</i> = 30)	<i>p</i> -value
Glatiramer acetate	0 (0)	2 (7)		
Dimethyl fumarate	0 (0)	1 (3)		

p-values < 0.05 (two-sided) were considered significant and are in buldface. HCs, healthy controls; PMS, patients with progressive multiple sclerosis; RRMS, patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; Md, median; IQR, interquartile range; AMT, active motor threshold; RMT, resting motor threshold; MEP, motor-evoked potential; MEP 0.5 mV, stimulation intensity producing a reliable MEP of ~0.5 mV; MSO, maximal stimulator outputs PMVT-R, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised; SDMT, Symbol Digit Modalities Test; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; FSMC, Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; DMT, disease-modifying therapy. ⁴Missing data: n = 1 (PMS). ^bUncorrected and Bonferroni-Holm corrected pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁵Uncorrected and Bonferroni-Holm corrected pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS sensing displication.⁴Uncorrected and Bonferroni-Holm corrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS are well as PMS and RRMS. ⁴Uncorrected and Bonferroni-Holm corrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁴Uncorrected and Bonferroni-Holm corrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁴Uncorrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁵Uncorrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HCs and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁵Uncorrected Dunn's pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences between HC and PMS as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁵Scores were calculated based on Gerroni-Holm adjustment, only the difference between HC and PMS remained significant differences between HC and PMS, as well as PMS and RRMS. ⁵Scores were calculated based on Gerroni-Holm c

TABLE 2 Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude over time in HCs, patients with RRMS, and patients with PMS.

	Fixed effects					
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_{b}	t-value		SD	
Intercept	$+0.54(+0.49;+0.59)^{a}$	0.03	+21.28	<0.0001		
Prc-QPS	Reference					
Post-QPS	$+0.51 (+0.33; +0.69)^a$	0.09	+5.73	<0.0001		
HCs	Reference					
RRMS	-0.03 (-0.09; +0.04)	0.03	-0.75	0.45		
PMS	-0.04(-0.11;+0.04)	0.04	-1.02	0.31		
Age	-0.01(-0.04;+0.02)	0.01	-0.77	0.45		
Latency	$-0.04 \ (-0.07; -0.01)^a$	0.02	-2.45	0.02		
Post-QPS*RRMS	+0.02 (-0.23; +0.27)	0.18	+0.18	0.86		
Post-QPS*PMS	$-0.11(-\infty; +0.09)$	0.12	-0.91	0.18		
Age*Latency	+0.03 (-0.00; +0.06)	0.02	+1.92	0.06		
Subject* Pre-QPS					0.10	
Subject*Post-QPS					0.51	
Residual					0.08	

Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (post-QPS*PMS). For this factor, testing our hypothesis, that synaptic plasticity is reduced in patients with PMS, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values of <0.05 are in **boldface**. *t*- and *p*-values are based on the asymptotic Wald test. Continuous variables (age, latency) centered at sample mean. R²(conditional) = 0.97. R²(marginal) = 0.32. Adjusted intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.95. QPS, quadripulse stimulation; HCs, healthy controls; RRMS, patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; PMS, patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. ^a Indicates statistical significance. SE_b, standard error of B-coefficient.

the results. Nonetheless, we have conducted *post hoc* analyses comparing SDMT and BVMT-R results between patients with and without prolonged MEP latency. As expected, no significant differences were revealed between the groups. Thus, we conclude that pyramidal tract integrity could be an important factor to be controlled for in future plasticity studies in MS, e.g., by separately analyzing rTMS-induced plasticity in patients with normal and pathological cortical latency or even introducing pathological MEP latencies as an exclusion criterion.

Interestingly, only one of our motor outcomes, namely, the NHPT but not the T25FW, correlated with the degree of

cortical plasticity. NHPT measures represented motor function from the left hemisphere to the right hand for which QPSinduced cortical plasticity of the left hemisphere corresponded to, while the results of the T25FW could have been influenced by other networks such as the cerebellar system and/or lesions in the spinal cord. In addition to age, performance in the T25FW has recently been associated with normalized deep gray matter volume, whereas the NHPT has been associated with normalized gray matter volume and cognitive performance (30). Thus, NHPT, BVMT-R, and SDMT may require more similar networks than T25FW, BVMT-R, and SDMT. In line with this,

Frontiers in Neurology



NHPT, BVMT-R, and SDMT were associated with cortical plasticity but not the T25FW.

We did not find cortical plasticity to be reduced in patients with PMS. This result contradicts the assumption that the progressive phase of the disease is characterized by insufficient compensatory reserve to balance out the negative consequences of inflammation and neurodegeneration (31). Furthermore, it is in contrast to an earlier study comparing TMS-induced cortical plasticity using iTBS and cTBS between patients with RRMS and PPMS (10). Patients with RRMS showed preserved plasticity, while it was absent in patients with PPMS after iTBS, which is supposed to induce LTPlike plasticity. Interestingly, cortical plasticity still turned out to be altered in patients with RRMS since cTBS, which originally had been supposed to induce LTD-like plasticity, led to a reversal of plasticity and induced LTP-like effects (10). The authors suggested that platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) may play a substantial role in LTP induction in patients with MS. Although we did not measure PDGF levels in the cerebrospinal fluid in our study, other reasons may account for the different results between these two studies. In the earlier study, MEP latency, RMT, and AMT were also significantly higher in patients with PPMS, suggesting relevant pyramidal tract affection in this group. Therefore, given the importance of pyramidal tract integrity revealed in the present study, the difference in induced cortical plasticity revealed in the earlier study (10) may have been driven by pyramidal tract affection rather than the type of MS. Furthermore, higher rates of variability have been described for iTBS and cTBS and verified also in direct comparison to QPS recently (6, 8, 12). Considering the low sample size of patients with PPMS in the previous study (n = 12) (10), alterations of induced plasticity in this group may have been an unsystematic result of high variability of previously used protocols rather than a systematic difference between disease types. Moreover, although recent TMS work postulated that loss of inhibition may be particularly important in SPMS (32), it has been shown that excitatory glutamatergic circuits may play a key role in MS pathology (33-35). In contrast to iTBS and cTBS, which influence both excitatory and inhibitory networks, QPS is supposed to selectively modulate excitatory glutamatergic cortical networks (5). Thus, the QPS protocol may induce LTP more efficiently in patients with MS and therefore may have yielded different results than the iTBS and cTBS protocols. Future studies should compare the effects of different rTMS protocols in patients with MS intraindividually to reveal the strengths and limitations of each protocol and thus increase the quality of future investigations of plasticity in MS.

Recruitment of patients with PMS for rTMS research may have some pitfalls, the most difficult being the relatively low prevalence rate compared to RRMS. Moreover, patients with PMS are typically

Frontiers in Neurology

08



	Random effects				
	β-coefficient (95% Cl)	SE _b	t-value		SD
Intercept	$+0.56 (+0.52; +0.60)^a$	0.02	+26.82	<0.0001	
Pre-QPS	Reference				
Post-QPS	$+0.64 (+0.49; +0.79)^{a}$	0.08	+8.36	<0.0001	
Normal cortical latency	Reference				
Pathological cortical latency	$-0.12 (-0.18; -0.06)^{a}$	0.03	-3.75	<0.001	
Post-QPS*Pathological cortical latency	$-0.41 (-0.64; -0.17)^{a}$	0.12	-3.49	<0.001	
Subject*Pre-QPS					0.09
Subject*Post-QPS					0.49
Residual					0.08

Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals, and p-values are displayed. p-values of <0.05 are in boldface. t- and p-values are based on the asymptotic Wald test. R^2 (conditional) = 0.97. R^2 (marginal) = 0.42. Adjusted intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.95. QPS, quadripulse stimulation. ^aIndicates statistical significance. SE_b, standard error of β -coefficient.

more severely impaired (13, 14), impeding participation in studies with extensive protocols due to exhaustion or mobility issues. Despite these challenges, we included a sample that was almost three times as big (n = 34 vs. n = 12) as in the previous study by Mori et al. (10). We decided to summarize patients with PPMS and SPMS to one group of PMS to increase the statistical power since the clinical disease and pathophysiology appear to be similar (36). However, lower levels of white matter lesions and inflammation have been described for PPMS (31, 36), and it is still an open debate whether this disease subtype represents the same or a distinct disease entity. Therefore, we conducted an exploratory analysis, in which we compared QPS-induced plasticity in patients with PPMS and SPMS separately to matched HCs. However, we did not find any differences across groups, supporting

Frontiers in Neurology

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

the legitimacy of our approach to summarize the two progressive disease types.

Our study is not without limitations. Due to the cross-sectional design, no conclusions regarding the clinical relevance for disease progression can be drawn. Furthermore, the lack of imaging data prevents us from analyzing the impact of (sub)cortical lesions. Thus, we cannot rule out that MEP latencies may have not only been prolonged due to damaged pyramidal tracts but also due to abnormalities in the motor cortex. In addition, MEP latency may have been influenced by the participant's height and age. Patients with MS received different disease-modifying therapies and symptomatic medications, which potentially have impacted cortical excitability. Even though no systematic evaluation of the effects of different treatments on cortical excitability exists to the best of our knowledge, stabilizing effects of disease-modifying drugs on cortical excitability over time have been suggested in patients with PMS (37). Due to high variations in the stimulation protocols, target muscles, and study populations, different numbers of averaged trials to achieve reliable MEP assessments have been recommended (38-41). We chose to average 12 MEPs at each time of assessment to maintain a concise protocol and minimize participant fatigue. However, this number of average trials is at the lower end of the recommendations, and we might have improved the reliability of our findings by increasing the number of averaged MEPs. Lastly, baseline MEP amplitude was controlled to be $\sim 0.5 \,\mathrm{mV}$ in all patients. However, this amplitude could have been distributed at varying places on the recruitment curve for the different subjects (42), potentially causing ceiling effects in patients with impaired corticospinal tract integrity (43). Furthermore, QPS may have affected MEP size differentially depending on the stimulation intensity relative to the recruitment curve (5, 44).

Although overall cortical plasticity between RRMS and PMS was comparable on the group level, i.e., the degree of QPS-induced plasticity did not differ between them, it is plausible that there were disparities in the proportion of patients with corticospinal dysfunction and the extent of such dysfunction between groups. This is supported by the fact that PMS patients had longer MEP latencies compared to RRMS patients. In accordance with this, we identified associations between QPS-induced plasticity and behavioral outcomes only among patients with normal MEP latency, primarily those with RRMS, but not among patients with prolonged MEP latency, primarily those with PMS. In patients with prolonged MEP latency, it is conceivable that damage to the corticospinal tract exerted a more pronounced influence on QPS-induced plasticity, potentially overshadowing other associations, such as those between QPS-induced plasticity and behavioral measures. However, due to the exploratory character of this discovery in our study, we can only speculate about its neuropathological underpinnings, which warrant further investigation.

Despite these limitations, our study supports the notion of pyramidal tract integrity being of more relevance for QPS-induced cortical plasticity in MS and related functional significance than the amount of progression.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by ethical committee of the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CB: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Visualization, Writing – original draft. PA: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. A-SS: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. LS: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. SN: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CH: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. SM: Resources, Writing – review & editing. AS: Resources, Writing – review & editing. I-KP: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing – original draft. SG: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the research commission of the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf (project No. 2019-14). The funder had no role in the design and conduct of the study, collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data, preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all participants for participating in the study and all colleagues from the Department of Neurology for supporting our research. Furthermore, the authors thank Pia-Sophie Ptaszynski, MSc, Elisa Heinen, BSc, Lisa Kathleen Janßen, BSc, Meng Ma, MD, and Iason Georgiades, MD for their support in data collection. During the preparation of this study, the authors used ChatGPT-(Version 3, OpenAI, 2023) to improve readability and linguistic style. After using this tool/service, the authors reviewed and edited the content as needed and took full responsibility for the content of the publication.

Conflict of interest

PA received compensation for serving on Scientific Advisory Boards for Allergan, Celgene, Janssen Cilag, Ipsen, Merck, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Novartis, and Biogen; he received speaker honoraria and travel support from Novartis, Teva, Biogen, Celgene, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, Allergan, Bayer Healthcare, Esai, UCB; Roche; he received research support from Novartis, Allergan, Biogen, Celgene, Teva, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, and Roche. CH has been serving as a consultant for Univar and has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses/speaking honoraria from Abbott and Alexion, and research support from Abbott. SM has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses for attending meetings from Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics Germany, Bayer Health Care, Biogen, Celgene, Diamed, Genzyme, MedDay Pharmaceuticals, Merck Serono, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, ONO Pharma, Roche, SanofiAventis, Chugai Pharma, QuintilesIMS, and Teva, and research funding from the German Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the Else Kröner Fresenius Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, the Hertie Foundation, the Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Studies (IZKF) Muenster, the German Foundation for Neurology, Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics, Germany, Biogen, Diamed, Fresenius Medical Care, Genzyme, Merck Serono, Novartis, ONO Pharma, Roche, and Teva. AS has received lecture fees from Abbott, Novartis, and Kyowa Kirin, and has been serving as a consultant for Abbott, Zambon, and Medtronic Inc. He received royalties from Georg Thieme Verlag. He is a government employee and receives through his institution funding for his research from the German Research Council, Abbott, and the Brunhilde Moll Foundation. I-KP received honoraria for speaking at scientific meetings,

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

serving at scientific advisory boards, and consulting activities from Almirall, Bayer Pharma, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Sanofi-Genzyme, Janssen, Merck, Novartis, Roche, and Teva. She received research support from the German MS Society, Celgene, Novartis, Roche, and Teva. SG received honoraria and/or travel expenses from Abbott Medical, Abbvie, Boston Scientific, Medtronic, Rogue Research, and UCB, consulting fees from Zambon, and research support from Abbott and Hilde-Ulrichs Stiftung.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.fronticrsin.org/articles/10.3389/fncur.2023. 1266225/full#supplementary-material

References

 Martin SJ, Grimwood PD, Morris RG. Synaptic plasticity and memory: an evaluation of the hypothesis. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2000) 23:649–711. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.649

 Gulyaeva NV. Molecular mechanisms of neuroplasticity: an expanding universe. Biochemistry. (2017) 82:237–42. doi: 10.1134/S0006297917030014

 Schoonheim MM, Meijer KA, Geurts JJG. Network collapse and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 6:82. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00082

 Klomjai W, Katz R, Lackmy-Vallée A. Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). Ann Phys Rehabil Med. (2015) 58:208 13. doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005

 Hamada M, Terao Y, Hanajima R, Shirota Y, Nakatani-Enomoto S, Furubayashi T, et al. Bidirectional long-term motor cortical plasticity and metaplasticity induced by quadripulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Physiol. (2008) 586:3927– 47. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2008.152793

 Nakamura K, Groiss SJ, Hamada M, Enomoto H, Kadowaki S, Abe M, et al. Variability in response to quadripulse stimulation of the motor cortex. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:859–66. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.008

7. Matsumoto H, Ugawa Y. Quadripulse stimulation (QPS). Exp Brain Res. (2020) 238:1619–25. doi: 10.1007/s00221-020-05788-w

 Tiksnadi A, Murakami T, Wiratman W, Matsumoto H, Ugawa Y. Direct comparison of efficacy of the motor cortical plasticity induction and the interindividual variability between TBS and QPS. *Brain Stimul.* (2020) 13:1824– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2020.10.014 Balloff C, Penner I-K, Ma M, Georgiades I, Scala L, Troullinakis N, et al. The degree of cortical plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Brain Stimul. (2022) 15:403–13. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.007

 Mori F, Rossi S, Piccinin S, Motta C, Mango D, Kusayanagi H, et al. Synaptic plasticity and PDGF signaling defects underlie clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci.* (2013) 33:19112–9. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2536-13.2013

 Weiss S, Mori F, Rossi S, Centonze D. Disability in multiple sclerosis: when synaptic long-term potentiation fails. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 43:88– 99. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.03.023

12. Guerra A, López Alonso V, Cheeran B, Suppa A. Variability in non invasive brain stimulation studies: reasons and results. *Neurosci Lett.* (2017).

 Engelhard J, Oleske DM, Schmitting S, Wells KE, Talapala S, Barbato LM. Multiple sclerosis by phenotype in Germany. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 57:103326. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103326

14. McGinley MP. Goldschmidt CH, Rae-Grant AD. Diagnosis and treatment of multiple sclerosis: a review. JAMA. (2021) 325:765–79. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.26858

 Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *The Lancet Neurology*. (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

 Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Screening questionnaire before TMS: an update. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. (2011) 122:1686, doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.12.037

17. Smith A. Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT). Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services. (1982).

10.3389/fneur.2023.1266225

Balloff et al.

Rao SM. A Manual for the Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests in Multiple Sclerosis. Milwakuee, WI: Medical College of Wisconsin. (1990).

19. Benedict RHB. Brief Visuospatial Memory Test - Revised: Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc. (1997). Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The fatigue scale for motor and cognitive functions (FSMC): validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. *Mult Scler.* (2009) 15:1509– 17. doi: 10.1177/1352458509348519

21. Herrmann-Lingen C, Buss U, Snaith RP. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale -Deutsche Version (HADS-D). Manual Bern: HHuber, Ed. (2011).

22. Fischer JS, Jak AJ, Kniker JE, Rudick RA, Cutter G. Multiple Sclerosis Functional

Composite (MSFC): Administration and Scoring Manual. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (2001).

23. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology.* (1983) 33:1444– 52. doi: 10.1212/WNL.33.11.1444

24. Hardmeier M, Jacques F, Albrecht P, Bousleiman H, Schindler C, Leocani L, et al. Multicentre assessment of motor and sensory evoked potentials in multiple sclerosis: reliability and implications for clinical trials. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2019) 5:2055217319844796. doi: 10.1177/2055217319844796

25. Gaetano J. Holm-Bonferroni Sequential Correction: An Excel Calculator (1.3) [Computer Software] (2018). Available online at: https://www.research net/publication/322568540 Holm-Bonferroni sequential correction An Excel calculator 13

26. Hochberg Y. A sharper Bonferroni procedure for multiple tests of significance. *Biometrika*. (1988) 75:800–2. doi: 10.1093/biomet/75.4.800

27. McNeish D, Stapleton LM. Modeling clustered data with very few clusters. Multivariate Behav Res. (2016) 51:495-518. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2016.1167008

28. Neva JL, Lakhani B, Brown KE, Wadden KP, Mang CS, Ledwell NHM, et al. Multiple measures of corticospinal excitability are associated with clinical features of multiple sclerosis. *Behav Brain Res.* (2016) 297:187–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.10.015 d with clinical features of

29. List J, Kübke JC, Lindenberg R, Külzow N, Kerti L, Witte V, et al. Relationship between excitability, plasticity and thickness of the motor cortex in older adults. *Neuroimage*. (2013) 83:809–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.07.033

30. Mistri D, Cacciaguerra L, Storelli L, Meani A, Cordani C, Rocca MA, et al. The association between cognition and motor performance is beyond structural damage in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. (2022) 269:4213–21. doi: 10.1007/s00415-022-11044-8

Antel J, Antel S, Caramanos Z, Arnold DL, Kuhlmann T. Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: part of the MS disease spectrum or separate disease entity? *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:627–38. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0953-0

32. Belvisi D, Tartaglia M, Borriello G, Baione V, Crisafulli SG, Zuccoli V, et al. Are neurophysiological biomarkers able to discription of the second statement of the second statement

Kuzmina US, Zainullina LF, Vakhitov VA, Bakhtiyarova KZ, Vakhitova YV. The role of glutamate in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Neurosci Behav Physi.* (2020) 50:669–75. doi: 10.1007/s11055-020-00953-8

34. Groom AJ, Smith T, Turski L. Multiple sclerosis and glutamate. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2003) 993:229–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07533.x

35. Schirmer L, Velmeshev D, Holmqvist S, Kaufmann M, Werneburg S, Jung D, et al. Neuronal vulnerability and multilineage diversity in multiple sclerosis. Nature. (2019) 573:75–82. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1404-z

36. Lassmann H. Pathogenic mechanisms associated with different clinical courses of multiple sclerosis. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:3116. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03116

37. Ayache SS, Créange A, Farhat WH, Zouari HG, Lesage C, Palm U, et al. Cortical excitability changes over time in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Funct Neurol.* (2015) 30:257–63.

Goldsworthy MR, Hordacre B, Ridding MC. Minimum number of trials required for within- and between-session reliability of TMS measures of corticospinal excitability. *Neuroscience*. (2016) 320:205–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.02.012

39. Bashir S, Yoo W-K, Kim HS, Lim HS, Rotenberg A, Abu Jamea A. The number of pulses needed to measure corticospinal excitability by navigated transcr magnetic stimulation: eyes open vs. close condition. Front Hum Neurosci. (2017) 11:121. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00121

40. Biabani M, Farrell M, Zoghi M, Egan G, Jaberzadeh S. The minimal number of TMS trials required for the reliable assessment of corticospinal excitability, short interval intracortical inhibition, and intracortical facilitation. *Neurosci Lett.* (2018) 674:94-100. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.03.026

Cavaleri R, Schabrun SM, Chipchase LS. The number of stimuli required to reliably assess corticomotor excitability and primary motor cortical representations using transcriani amgentic stimulation (TMS): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. (2017) 6:48. doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0440-8

Neva JL, Hayward KS, Boyd LA. Therapeutic effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in stroke. In: Sweeny K, Robbins ML, Cohen LM, editors. The Wiley Encyclopedia of Health Psychology. London: Wiley (2020). p. 169– 79. doi: 10.1002/9781119057840.ch20

43. Madsen MAJ, Wiggermann V, Marques MFM, Lundell H, Cerri S, Puonti O, et al. Linking lesions in sensorimotor cortex to contralateral hand function in multiple sclerosis: a 7 T MRI study. Brain. (2022) 145:3522-35. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awac203

Hamada M, Murase N, Hasan A, Balaratnam M, Rothwell JC. The role of interneuron networks in driving human motor cortical plasticity. *Cereb Cortex*. (2013) 23:1593–605. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs147

Frontiers in Neurology

12

frontiers

Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table 1. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude over 1 time in HCs, patients with RRMS, PPMS and SPMS

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	SD
Intercept	$+0.54 (0.49; 0.59)^{a}$	0.03	+21.21	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.51 (+0.33; +0.69) ^a	0.09	+5.71	<.0001	
HCs	Reference				
RRMS patients	-0.03 (-0.09; +0.04)	0.03	-0.73	.47	
PPMS patients	-0.06 (-0.15; +0.03)	0.05	-1.38	.17	
SPMS patients	-0.02 (-0.10; +0.07)	0.04	-0.40	.69	
Age	-0.01(-0.04;+0.02)	0.01	-0.54	.59	
Latency	-0.04 (-0.07; -0.01) ^a	0.02	-2.46	.02	
Post QPS*RRMS	+0.02(-0.23;+0.27)	0.13	+0.18	.86	
Post QPS*PPMS	-0.16 (-0.47; +0.15)	0.16	-1.01	.32	
Post QPS*SPMS	-0.08 (-0.36; -0.08)	0.14	-0.53	.60	
Age*Latency	$+0.03(+0.00;+0.07)^{a}$	0.02	+2.08	.04	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.10
Subject*Post QPS					0.51
Residual					0.08

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and p-values are displayed. p-values <.05 are in boldface. t- and p-values are based on asymptotic Wald test. Continuous variables (age, latency) centered at sample mean. R²(conditional)=0.97. R²(marginal)=0.32. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.95.

QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. HCs=Healthy Controls. RRMS= Relapsing remitting Multiple Sclerosis. PPMS= Primary progressive Multiple Sclerosis; SPMS= Secondary progressive Multiple Sclerosis. SE_{b=} Standard error of the β -coefficient.

^a indicates statistical significance.


Supplementary Figure 1. QPS-induced plasticity separately for patients with PPMS and SPMS compared to matched pwRRMS and HCs.

This figure shows the level of QPS-induced plasticity in patients with PPMS (black dashdotted line), SPMS (green dashed line), RRMS (blue solid line), and HCs (red dotted line). Part A shows the averaged difference between the pre and post QPS MEP amplitude per time point in all groups. Part B illustrates the predicted MEP amplitude in mV based on the fixed effects of the linear mixed models pre and post QPS. QPS=Quadripulse stimulation; MEP=Motor evoked potential; HCs=Healthy Controls; RRMS=Relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SPMS=Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; PPMS= Primary progressive multiple sclerosis

Study 4 – Prognostic value of synaptic plasticity for disease progression

<u>Balloff, C.</u>, Janssen, L.K., S., Hartmann, C. J., Meuth, S.G., Schnitzler, A., Penner, I.-K.,⁸ & Albrecht, P.⁸ (2024). *Predictive value of synaptic plasticity for functional decline in patients with multiple sclerosis* [Manuscript submitted for publication].

Conceptualization & methodology: I defined the research question and analysis plan in consultation with P. Albrecht and I.-K. Penner based on the experimental design, which was created by P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner.

Investigation & project administration: I supervised recruitment of participants and data collection. I recruited participants and independently performed neuropsychological tests and rTMS. I was also responsible for data curation. Project administration was performed by me, P. Albrecht, and I.-K. Penner. P. Albrecht and C.J. Hartmann conducted neurological assessments. L.K. Janssen recruited participants, conducted neuropsychological tests under supervision and provided support in data curation. P. Albrecht contributed to the recruitment of participants.

Formal analysis: I conducted the statistical analyses with contributions by L.K. Janssen and reviewed them for correctness.

Resources: I provided funding for the open access fee. P. Albrecht provided funding for this study. Further resources were provided by S.G. Meuth and A. Schnitzler.

Manuscript: I wrote the initial manuscript, which included all steps from comprehensive literature research to final formulation. I created the figures and tables with contributions of L.K. Janssen. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript. I.-K. Penner, and P. Albrecht additionally contributed to the original draft.

⁸ Shared last authorship.



36 and memory had significantly lower levels of synaptic plasticity at baseline compared to those

37 without such decline (NHPT: β =-0.25, p=.02; BVMT-R: β =-0.50, p=.005). Receiver-operating 38 characteristic analysis underscored the predictive utility of baseline synaptic plasticity in discerning

between patients experiencing functional decline and those maintaining stability only for visuospatial

40 learning and memory (area under the curve=0.85).

41 **Conclusions**: Our study suggests that QPS-induced plasticity could be linked to clinically relevant 42 functional decline in patients with MS. However, to solidify these findings, longer follow-up periods 43 are warranted, especially in cohorts with higher prevalences of functional decline. Additionally, the 44 variability in cognitive performance in both patients with MS and HCs underscores the importance of 45 conducting further research on reliable change based on neuropsychological tests.

46 1 Introduction

47 Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a neurological disease, characterized by inflammatory, 48 demyelinating lesions and neurodegeneration (1), leading to a wide range of motor, sensory and cognitive impairments (2). For most patients (~85%), the disease manifests as relapsing-remitting MS 49 50 (RRMS), which is characterized by sudden episodes of new or exacerbated neurological symptoms 51 alternating with periods of symptom remission and clinical stability (3). Over time, frequency of 52 symptom remission decreases, and a majority of untreated RRMS patients (>80%) progress to secondary progressive MS (SPMS) within 25 years (4). SPMS involves a progressive worsening of 53 54 symptoms with or without acute exacerbations (5). In contrast to RRMS and SPMS, individuals with 55 primary progressive MS (PPMS), do not experience acute exacerbations. Instead, symptoms increase 56 gradually starting from disease onset (6). PPMS affects approximately 10-20% of MS patients (7).

The mechanisms contributing to disability accumulation in MS are still not fully understood (8) and are discussed controversially. Despite efforts to identify biomarkers indicative of disease activity and progression, their clinical utility at the individual level is constrained (9). This challenge has been called attention to by the long-standing recognition of the 'clinico-radiological paradox', which underscores the discrepancies between observed lesion burden in brain imaging and clinical symptom presentation (10). In addition to brain and cognitive reserve (11), this paradox might be attributed to

63 neuroplasticity, i.e. the brain's ability to adapt and reorganize (12, 13). Neuroplasticity may

64 compensate for structural damage, albeit to a diminishing extent as the disease advances. Although

65 neuroplasticity involves several aspects, reorganization at the synaptic level through the

66 reinforcement or weakening of synapses, known as long-term potentiation (LTP) or long-term

67 depression (LTD), respectively, is a key component of synaptic plasticity (14).

68 One emerging avenue of investigating synaptic plasticity non-invasively involves the application of 69 quadripulse stimulation (QPS), a transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) protocol known for its 70 ability to induce both LTP and LTD in healthy subjects (15). We have previously investigated the 71 functional relevance of LTP-like plasticity induced by QPS in patients with MS cross-sectionally and

revealed that levels of QPS-induced plasticity correlate with cognitive and motor function among

revealed that levels of QFS induced plastery conclude with cognitive and independent allong individuals with intact pyramidal tract integrity (16). Importantly, the level of LTP-like plasticity was

not reduced in patients of all disease types compared to healthy controls (HCs) (16, 17).

75 Previous studies regarding the clinical relevance of LTP-like plasticity for MS disease progression

have relied solely on cross-sectional designs and revealed conflicting results. One comparison of

77 LTP-like plasticity between RRMS and PPMS patients suggested a potential association between

78 diminished levels of plasticity and disease progression (18). In contrast, our attempt to replicate this

79 finding using QPS did not confirm it, but instead indicated comparable levels of LTP-like plasticity

80 across both groups (16). Furthermore, another study found that enhanced synaptic plasticity after four

81 weeks of oral D-aspartate treatment was not associated with improvements in clinical outcomes (19). 82 To date, longitudinal studies regarding the clinical relevance of LTP-like plasticity for MS disease 83 progression are lacking to the best of our knowledge. However, research on the transition to dementia 84 in individuals with memory impairment has proposed that LTP-like plasticity could potentially serve 85 are a realizing his memory impairment (20)

as a predictive biomarker for clinical progression (20).

In summary, cross-sectional studies have yielded inconclusive results regarding the clinical relevance
 of LTP-like plasticity for MS disease progression. Longitudinal studies are warranted to

comprehensively explore this aspect. Therefore, the objective of this study was to examine the

89 relationship between the degree of LTP-like plasticity at baseline and disease progression up to five

90 years after QPS assessment in patients with MS. Drawing from previous research that has suggested

a potential association between QPS-induced plasticity and clinical outcomes (16, 17), and

considering the promising results in the field of dementia (20), we hypothesized that patients with lower baseline plasticity levels would exhibit greater disease progression compared to those with

94 higher plasticity levels.

95 2 Materials and Methods

96 Subjects

Patients diagnosed with definite MS according to the 2017 revised McDonald criteria (21) were enrolled in the study, along with age-, sex-, and education-matched healthy controls (HCs).

98 enrolled in the study, along with age-, sex-, and education-matched healthy controls (HCs).
 99 Monocentric recruitment of patients occurred at the neurological clinic of the University Hos

Monocentric recruitment of patients occurred at the neurological clinic of the University Hospital
 Düsseldorf, Germany, from May 2018 to October 2022. HCs were recruited as a convenience sample

from an internal database of interested HCs, friends, and family members of faculty members of the

University Hospital Düsseldorf. All participants were invited for annual follow-ups for up to five

103 years after baseline assessment.

Participants with at least one follow-up after baseline assessment were included. Exclusion criteria
 comprised a history of neurological or psychiatric disorders other than MS and remitted depressive
 episodes at baseline or follow-up. Additional exclusion criteria included contraindications for TMS
 and substance or alcohol abuse, which were assessed through a TMS safety screening questionnaire

108 (22). At baseline and each follow-up, patients were required to be relapse free for \ge 30 days and 109 appointments were postponed in case patients did not fulfill this requirement.

110 The study received ethical approval from the ethical committee of the medical faculty of Heinrich

111 Heine University Düsseldorf (study-number 2018-16), and informed written consent was obtained

from all participants before study participation. The study adhered to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

114 Experimental designs and procedure

115 The experimental design of this longitudinal study is summarized in Figure 1. At baseline, data were

assessed according to the procedures described in our previous studies (17, 16, 23). To summarize,

baseline assessment was divided into three parts: 1) neurological examination, 2) neuropsychological

118 examination consisting of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) (24) as a measure of

119 information processing speed, the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised (BVMT-R) (25) as a

120 measure of visuospatial short-term memory and learning, the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

121 (HADS) (26) as a measure of anxiety and depression, and the Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive

122 Functions (FSMC) (27) as a measure of trait fatigue, and 3) assessment of QPS-induced synaptic

123 plasticity using a faciliatory protocol (interstimulus interval 5ms, QPS-5) (28). QPS-induced

124 plasticity was operationalized by the change in MEP amplitudes recorded at the right first dorsal 125 interosseous muscle following QPS-5 of the contralateral motor cortex. MEP amplitude prior to QPS-126 5 was adjusted to be ~0.5 mV in all participants. After 30 minutes of QPS-5, MEP responses evoked 127 by the same pre-interventional stimulation intensity were recorded for a total of 60 minutes at the 128 same muscle. At each time of assessment, it was intended to average 12 MEPs. However, due to 129 artifacts or voluntary muscle activity, certain MEPs had to be excluded from the calculation of the 130 averaged MEP amplitude, resulting in a median of 11 averaged MEPs for each time point and 131 subject.

Assessment of motor function involved the nine-hole peg test (NHPT) to evaluate manual dexterity
and fine motor skills, while the timed 25-foot walk (T25FWT) was used as a measure of walking
ability (29). Additionally, the EDSS was used to gauge the extent of disability attributed to MS.

135 Our objective was to carry out in-person assessments during follow-ups. However, unforeseen 136 circumstances (e.g. COVID-19 pandemic) occasionally resulted in participants being unavailable for in-person appointments. In such instances, remote follow-up assessments using a video conferencing 137 138 tool were conducted, consisting of a structured interview, followed by cognitive tests. Patientreported outcome measures (HADS, FSMC) were filled out by the participant immediately after the 139 140 video conference. No assessments of motor functions were conducted during remote follow-ups (see 141 supplementary material for details on remote assessment). Independent of assessment mode (remote 142 vs. in-person), alternative forms of the BVMT-R were used at each follow-up to minimize practice 143 effects.

144 Definition of clinically meaningful change

The objective of this study was to investigate the predictive value of synaptic plasticity for clinically meaningful change in cognition, motor function, and global disability, as measured by EDSS. Since

these outcomes are subject to day-to-day fluctuations, cut-off values to discriminate clinically

148 meaningful change from expected measurement variability were required.

149 In line with common research practice, clinically meaningful change in the EDSS was defined as a 150 change of ≥ 1 point for baseline scores ≤ 5.5 and a change of ≥ 0.5 point for baseline scores ≥ 6.0 (30, 31). For the SDMT, a change of ≥ 8 raw score points was considered clinically significant, since 151 it has recently been demonstrated that this cut-off is more reliable than the previously used cut-off of 152 153 \geq 4 raw score points (32, 33). Regarding reliable change on the BVMT-R, we incorporated a cut-off 154 of \geq 8 points in the total learning trials, which has been presented at the 28th Congress of the European 155 Committee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis by the BICAMS initiative (34). For 156 both the T25FWT and the NHPT, the well-established cut-off of a change of $\geq 20\%$ was considered 157 clinically significant (35, 31, 36).

158 Statistical analyses

159 Sample size was determined based on the number of eligible MS patients and matched HCs, since

160 this is the first study investigating rTMS-induced plasticity as a prognostic marker of disease

progression in patients with MS. No imputation was performed to address missing data, except for participants who were unable to complete the T25FWT due to disability. In line with our previous

study (16), imputation for patients unable to perform the T25FWT was based on the following

164 formula:

165Time in ms = maximum time within the total MS cohort across all times of assessment166+ 1.645 * SD within the total MS cohort across all times of assessment

Chi-square test was used to compare the number of subjects with clinically relevant decline/improvement between patients with MS and HCs. The absolute changes in each outcome 168 169 from BL to latest FU were compared among groups using Kruskal-Wallis test. Significant omnibus 170 tests were followed by Dunn's test to ascertain the specific group difference(s). 171 Linear mixed-effects models (LMEM) were employed for each functional outcome (SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, T25FWT, EDSS) to compare the level of baseline plasticity between patients with 172clinically relevant decline at latest FU and those without. Consistent with our prior cross-sectional 173 174 investigations of QPS-induced plasticity in patients with MS (17, 23, 16) and given the good 175 reproducibility and standardization of this approach (28), baseline synaptic plasticity was defined 176 based on MEP amplitude changes from pre to post QPS (ΔMEP). The model consisted of fixed 177 effects of the intervention (pre/post-QPS) and group classification (relevant decline/no relevant 178 decline), as well as their interaction (QPS*group) and was estimated using the "restricted maximum 179 likelihood method". The subject-specific variability in response to QPS was considered by a random 180 slope for the QPS intervention (prc/post-QPS). In the context of our hypothesis of reduced baseline 181 plasticity in patients with clinically relevant decline at latest FU, the interaction (QPS*group) was of primary interest for each functional outcome, as significant interactions would suggest significant 182 183 differences in the extent of plasticity among the respective groups. Significance of this effect was 184 tested based on one-tailed confidence intervals and p-values of the QPS*group factor. Confidence 185 intervals and p-values of all other factors were based on two-tailed analysis. 186 Consistent with our previous studies (17, 16, 23), additional factors such as age, depression, anxiety, 187 fatigue, and MEP latency, along with their interactions with the QPS intervention, were separately 188 introduced into the model. Furthermore, disease duration, EDSS at baseline, and time since baseline 189 were introduced to account for different clinical baseline characteristics and different follow-up 190 times. However, baseline EDSS was not introduced to the model comparing QPS-induced plasticity 191 between patients with and without EDSS worsening, as baseline EDSS is a strong predictor of EDSS worsening with lower baseline EDSS being associated with more change over time (37, 38). 192 193 Each of these more complex models was compared against the simplest model through likelihood-194 ratio tests or, in instances of missing data in covariates, through the Akaike information criterion. 195 Collinearity was assessed using the variance inflation factor (cutoff value of \geq 5). The best fitting 196 model is presented. 197 In addition to the LMEM, time to event analysis using Cox proportional hazard models correcting for 198 age at baseline and sex, were conducted to compare the probability of clinically meaningful change 199 in each functional outcome between patients with high and low baseline plasticity, which was 200 defined based on a median split of Δ MEP. Event rates for both groups (high vs. low plasticity) were 201 estimated using Kaplan-Meier analysis. Additionally, receiver-operating characteristic analysis and 202 logistic regression were conducted to evaluate the ability of baseline plasticity to discriminate 203 between patients with and without clinically relevant decline in the functional outcomes. Logistic 204 regression was performed using plasticity at baseline (Δ MEP) and time since baseline as continuous 205 predictors of functional decline (yes vs. no) in each outcome (SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, T25FWT, 206 EDSS). To interpret the results of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis, the area under the 207 curve was calculated. 208 The nlme package in R Studio (version 2023.12.1+402 for windows) were used to conduct LMEM. 209 All other analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 29.0.1.0 for windows).

210 3 Results

5

211 Out of 96 patients and 75 HCs included at baseline assessment, 56 patients with RRMS, 24 patients

with PMS (14 SPMS, 10 PPMS) and 69 HCs completed at least one follow-up assessment (see Figure 2).

214 Neurological and neuropsychological trajectories

Table 1 shows the descriptive and clinical characteristics of all patients and HCs at baseline and latest 215 follow-up. Performance on the SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, T25FWT, and EDSS at baseline and each 216 217 FU are presented in Figure 3, illustrating substantial fluctuations across time in both patients as well as HCs. Figure 4 illustrates the individual absolute change in each functional measure from BL to 218219 latest FU as well as a summary on the group level. While the median absolute change differed 220 significantly from zero for some outcomes and groups (SDMT: all groups except SPMS, NHPT: 221 HCs, BVMT-R: RRMS), on the group level, none of these changes surpassed the defined thresholds 222 for clinically meaningful change in any outcome. Comparing the absolute change per outcome 223 between groups (HCs, RRMS, PPMS, SPMS) revealed a significant difference in the absolute SDMT 224 change between patients with PPMS and both RRMS (Bonferroni-corrected p=.009) and HCs 225 (Bonferroni-corrected p=.03). None of the other outcomes differed significantly between groups.

226 Analyzing individual data, n=35 (69%) patients with MS compared to n=16 (31%) HCs experienced 227 decline in any of the functional outcomes (p=.008, Φ =.22). The EDSS exhibited the highest 228 incidence of clinically relevant decline among the outcome measures, with n=19 (24%) patients experiencing such decline. However, a comparable number of patients also demonstrated clinically 229 relevant EDSS improvement (n=15, 19%). In the T25FWT, n=9 (12%) patients presented with 230 231 clinically meaningful decline compared to n=3 (4%) patients with clinically relevant improvement. Both the NHPT and the SDMT showed n=7 (9%) patients with clinically meaningful decline, but 232 233 more patients improved in the SDMT (n=15, 19%) than in the NHPT (n=4, 5%). Only n=3 (4%) 234 exceeded the cognitive decline cut-off on the BVMT-R, whereas n=7 (9%) demonstrated clinical improvement. 235

Examining HCs, n=7 (11%) experienced decline on the T25FWT, compared to n=4 (6%), n=5 (7%), and n=0 on the SDMT, BVMT-R, and NHPT, respectively. Clinically relevant improvement was observed in n=13 (19%) on the SDMT, n=10 (14%) on the BVMT-R, n=1 (2%) on the NHPT, and n=2 (3%) on the T25FWT. Comparing the number of events of clinically relevant decline between HCs and patients with MS, significantly more patients than HCs experienced clinically relevant decline in the NHPT (p=.016, Φ =.21). No significant differences in the number of events were detected for all other outcomes.

243 Predictive value of QPS-induced plasticity for functional decline

Figure 5 illustrates the increase of MEP amplitude following QPS in patients with clinically relevant 244 decline in the functional outcome measures compared to those without clinically relevant decline. 245 Increase in MEP amplitude following QPS was significantly lower in patients with clinically 246 meaningful decline in the NHPT (β =-0.25, p=.02) and BVMT-R (β =-0.50, p=.005) compared to 247 248 clinically stable patients, as indicated by a significant QPS*group interaction. No significant 249 differences were detected for progression in the SDMT (β =+0.39, p=.09), T25FWT (β =-0.18, p=.07), 250 and EDSS (β =+0.11, p=.23). The final LMEMs for each functional outcome are presented in Supplementary Table 1-5. 251 252 Receiver-operating characteristic analysis revealed high accuracy of Δ MEP at baseline to 253 differentiate between patients with and without clinically relevant decline in BVMT-R at latest

follow-up (area under the curve=0.853). For all other outcomes, Δ MEP at baseline could not discriminate between patients with vs. without clinically relevant decline.

256 Cox-Proportional Hazard Models and logistic regression did not reveal associations between the

257 degree of baseline plasticity and clinically relevant decline in any functional measure. Kaplan-Meier

curves with the results of the Cox-Proportional Hazard models are presented in *Supplementary*

Figure 1. Supplementary Figure 2 illustrates the receiver operating characteristic curves and the odds
 ratios (including 95% confidence intervals) of clinically meaningful decline are presented in

261 Supplementary Table 6.

262 4 Discussion

263 To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the prognostic value of QPS-264 induced plasticity in patients with MS. In this cohort of MS patients, only a small number of patients 265 exhibited clinically meaningful declines in the SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, T25FWT, and EDSS 266 during a median observational period of two years. Importantly, the number of patients demonstrating clinically meaningful change did not significantly differ from HCs, except for the 267 268 NHPT. However, comparing patients with clinically relevant functional decline in the BVMT-R and 269 NHPT using LMEM revealed significantly lower levels of baseline plasticity in patients with 270 functional decline in these measures. ROC analysis indicated predictive utility of baseline synaptic 271 plasticity in discerning between patients experiencing functional decline and those maintaining 272 stability only for the BVMT-R. Other statistical approaches, such as Cox proportional Hazard models 273 and logistic regression, did not reveal significant differences between groups and no association 274 between baseline plasticity and functional decline was observed for the T25FWT, SDMT and EDSS.

275 Our results confirm previous studies showing that both cognitive and physical disability progression 276 occur slowly in patients with MS and assessment of cognitive function appears to be volatile. A 277 previous study examining a five-year follow-up period reported cognitive decline in 28% of MS 278 patients, with a higher incidence observed among PMS compared to RRMS patients (39). Even after 279 10 years of follow-up, clinically relevant changes in cognitive or physical disability at the group level have been reported to be scarce, with only 24% of patients displaying cognitive decline (40). Another 280 281 study also spanning a 10-year follow-up period reported a 10% increase in the overall proportion of 282 MS patients exhibiting cognitive impairment. Notably, the authors reported a dynamic pattern of 283 cognitive function, where some patients demonstrated cognitive improvement in specific domains, 284 while others experienced impairment in different cognitive domains during follow-up compared to 285 baseline assessments (41). However, contrasting reports of higher rates of cognitive decline—50% 286 and 62% over periods of 6 and 7 years, respectively-have also been documented (42, 43). 287 Consequently, the literature presents considerable variations in rates of cognitive decline over time, 288 influenced by factors such as patients' demographics, definitions of cognitive decline, applied 289 neuropsychological test batteries, frequency of assessments, and duration of follow-up. Another 290 explanation for the low rate of clinically relevant deterioration in our cohort may be the high 291 percentage of patients on high efficacy therapy. This is a common phenomenon in cohorts of patients 292 recruited at tertiary referral centers. 293 Importantly, we report a higher proportion of patients exhibiting improvement in cognitive tests 294 compared to those demonstrating decline. This aligns with recent data from a study involving RRMS 295 patients treated with subcutaneous daclizumab or intramuscular interferon beta-1a, reporting more 296 frequent improvement in the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test and SDMT than decline 144 weeks

- post-baseline assessment. This phenomenon might be attributed to practice effects in the previous
 study as participants were tested every six months (44). However, we also did not observe a
- 7

299 significant difference in decline between MS patients and HCs in the SDMT or the BVMT-R despite 300 less frequent testing and the use of alternative forms for the BVMT-R at each assessment. 301 Conversely, clinically relevant decline was more prevalent than improvement in motor function 302 outcomes for patients with MS, and significantly more patients with MS experienced decline in the 303 NHPT than HCs. These findings underscore the necessity for further research on reliable change 304 indexes in neuropsychological tests, especially in the context of annual assessments. 305 Notable fluctuations have also been described for repeated assessment using the EDSS. In a 306 randomized controlled trial, 21% of patients receiving a placebo exhibited significant improvement 307 on the EDSS during a 5-year follow-up, while 25% experienced significant worsening. Conversely, patients receiving immunotherapy with cladribine demonstrated improvement in 18% and worsening 308 309 in 16% of cases (45). In our cohort, we observed a similar trend, with 24% of patients experiencing a 310 clinically relevant decline in EDSS scores compared to 19% showing improvement. These findings 311 align with existing literature and highlight concerns regarding the reliability and sensitivity of the 312 EDSS to detect meaningful changes over time (30). Notably, one criticism of the EDSS is its 313 emphasis on ambulation issues for scores ≥ 6 , often overlooking other important functional deficits 314 (46). 315 The LMEM revealed significant differences in baseline plasticity between patients with and without meaningful decline only for the BVMT-R and NHPT, but not for the SDMT, T25FWT, and the 316 EDSS. Regarding the SDMT, this observation may stem from its lack of specificity, as noted in 317 previous research (47). Despite its sensitivity to detect cognitive impairment in patients with MS, the 318 319 SDMT lacks specificity, since a patient's performance on this test does not only rely on cognitive 320 processing speed but also involves other cognitive aspects such as working memory, paired-associate 321 learning, and visual scanning, albeit to a lesser extent (48). In contrast, the BVMT-R serves as a 322 sensitive measure of learning and memory, less prone to confounding other cognitive functions. However, it may be marginally influenced by manual impairments owing to the drawing component 323 324 of the test (47). This may explain the congruence in LMEM results between the NHPT and BVMT-325 R. Two out of three patients exhibiting decline on the BVMT-R also demonstrated decline on the 326 NHPT, which assessed manual dexterity of the dominant hand in all cases. Nonetheless, the 327 differential results for the SDMT and BVMT-R contrast with our previous cross-sectional results, which revealed significant correlations between QPS-induced plasticity and performance on both the 328 329 BVMT-R and SDMT in patients with RRMS and those with normal cortical latency (17, 16). 330 Importantly, the limited number of patients showing decline on the BVMT-R warrants consideration 331 as well. 332 Regarding changes in the T25FWT, recent research affirmed the clinical utility of a 20% change 333 cutoff (44). The observation that a higher proportion of patients experienced clinically meaningful 334 decline compared to improvement (12% vs. 4%) in our cohort further supports the validity of this 335 cutoff. The absence of an association between baseline plasticity and clinical decline on the T25FWT aligns with our earlier discovery of no cross-sectional correlation with QPS-induced plasticity (16). 336 As discussed previously, this may be explained by the test's susceptibility to influences from spinal 337 338 and cerebellar lesions, aspects potentially not fully captured by QPS. Importantly, this study exclusively examined QPS-5-induced plasticity, evaluating LTP-like synaptic 339 plasticity, which is a rapid-onset mechanism of neuroplasticity (15, 49), However, focusing solely on 340 341 these rapid-onset mechanisms might not comprehensively capture all facets of neuroplasticity. Other 342 parts of plasticity, e.g. LTD-like plasticity may also be relevant, considering the potential 343 involvement of inhibitory circuits in MS (50). Rather than isolating either of these two synaptic 344 plasticity types, their interplay could be crucial. In fact, our previous study indicated that stabilizing

metaplasticity during relapses might be more pivotal than LTP-like plasticity itself in preventing
 motor disability (16).

347 Furthermore, we neither controlled for cognitive reserve (51), nor therapeutic interventions between 348 follow-ups. In general, high levels of education at baseline (median years of education =16 years) indicated high levels of cognitive reserve in our patient cohort, potentially explaining the low 349 350 prevalence of cognitive decline. However, cognitive rehabilitation, potentially taking place between follow-ups, may have influenced our outcome measures as well. Emerging evidence indicates that 351 352 patients with MS, particularly those with RRMS, the predominant subgroup in our cohort, may 353 benefit from such interventions (52). Given the intricate and dynamic nature of plasticity, changes in 354 plasticity may have occurred between baseline and follow-up, possibly in both directions (enhanced 355 and diminished plasticity).

Expanding on our earlier finding underscoring the importance of evaluating synaptic plasticity within the context of corticospinal tract integrity among MS patients (16), our goal was to conduct subgroup analyses to assess the predictive value of QPS-induced plasticity in patients with pathological latency compared to those with normal latency. Due to the low number of events, i.e. patients experiencing functional decline, this was not feasible. Additionally, given the relatively small number of patients with PMS, and especially PPMS, we decided against performing subtype specific analyses.

Despite these limitations, we present a large cohort of MS patients with longitudinal clinical followups and baseline plasticity assessment using QPS-5. Moreover, the inclusion of closely matched HCs allows for a comparison of changes observed between MS patients and HCs. We conclude that LTPlike synaptic plasticity may be of functional relevance in patients with MS and that more research is needed to identify and better define reliable change in cognitive performance in these patients.

367 5 Figure legends

368 Figure 1. Summary of study design

369 This figure summarizes the experimental design. Baseline assessment consisted of a short

- 370 neuropsychological test battery, a neurological examination and transcranial magnetic stimulation,
- including QPS. Details are described in our previous publications (17, 16, 23).
- 372 EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale; SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test; BVMT-R= Brief
- 373 Visuospatial Memory Test Revised; NHPT= Nine-hole peg test; T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk
- test; PROMs= Patient reported outcome measures; QPS=Quadripulse stimulation; AMT= Active
 motor threshold

376 Figure 2. Longitudinal cohort flowchart

- 377 This figure summarizes the number of participants throughout the study.
- 378 RRMS= Patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; PMS= Patients with progressive
- 379 multiple sclerosis; HCs= Healthy controls; yr= Year; yrs= Years

380 Figure 3. Individual data for each assessment and timepoint

- 381 This figure displays the raw data for each assessment and timepoint per subject for the SDMT (A),
- 382 BVMT-R (B), NHPT (C), T25FWT (D), and EDSS (E). Lines connect data from the same subject.
- 383 EDSS was missing for one patient at baseline. Patients with primary or secondary progressive

multiple sclerosis are displayed in the same color (red), but different symbols (square for PPMS,cross for SPMS).

386 SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test; BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised;

- 387 NHPT= Nine-hole peg test; T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk test; w/c= wheelchair; EDSS= Expanded
- 388 Disability Status Scale; PPMS= Patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis; SPMS=

Patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; RRMS= Patients with relapsing-remitting
 multiple sclerosis; HCs= Healthy controls

391 Figure 4. Absolute changes in functional measures from baseline to latest follow-up by group

This figure displays the absolute change in each functional measure from baseline to latest follow-up
by group. Total score changes for SDMT, BVMT-R, and EDSS are included, while changes in
completion time in seconds are provided for NHPT and T25FWT. Extreme values, defined as scores

falling below the first quartile minus three times the interquartile range (1st quartile -3*IQR) or

- exceeding the third quartile plus three times the interquartile range (3rd quartile +3*IQR), are
- denoted by asterisks, alongside their precise numerical values. Patients with primary or secondary
- 398 progressive multiple sclerosis are displayed in the same color (red), but different symbols (square for 399 PPMS, cross for SPMS).

400 IQR= Interquartile range; SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test; BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial

401 Memory Test - Revised; NHPT= Nine-hole peg test; T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk test; EDSS=

402 Expanded Disability Status Scale; PPMS= Patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis;

- 403 SPMS= Patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; RRMS= Patients with relapsing-
- remitting multiple sclerosis; HCs= Healthy controls; PMS= Patients with primary or secondary
 progressive multiple sclerosis

Figure 5. QPS-induced plasticity at baseline in patients with different clinical outcomes at latest follow-up

This figure displays the level of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline in patients with clinically relevant
decline at latest follow-up (solid gray line) compared to patients without clinically relevant decline
(dashed black line) in each functional outcome (A= BVMT-R, B= SDMT, C= NHPT, D= T25FWT,
E= EDSS).

412 QPS= Quadripulse stimulation; BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised; SDMT=

413 Symbol Digit Modalities Test; NHPT= Nine-hole peg test; T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk test;

414 EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale.

415 6 Tables

416 Table 1. Sample characteristics at baseline and latest follow-up

	RRMS		PMS		HCs	
	BL	FU	BL	FU	BL	FU
Characteristic	(n=56)	(n=52)	(n=24)	(n=28)	(n=69)	(n=69)
Completed follow-ups, Md (IQR) ^a	2	(2)	2 ((2)	2 (2)
Time since baseline, Md (IQR), months	29	(20)	27 ((17)	26 (22)
Sex, N (%), female ^b	37 (66)	35 (67)	14 (58)	16 (57)	43 (62)
Age, Md (IQR), years	39 (17)	40 (16)	54 (12)	56 (12)	36 (31)	37 (30)
						10

Education, Md (IQR), years	15 (4)	16 (4)	15 (5)	15 (5)	16 (3)	17 (4
MEP latency, Md (IQR), ms ^c	22.69 (4)		25.06 (7)		22.56 (2)	
$\Delta Post-Pre MEP$ amplitude,	0.48		0.21		0.47	
Md (IQR), mV	(0.51)		(0.67)		(0.58)	
HADS, N (%), clinical ^d						
Anxiety	9 (16)	7 (14)	1 (4)	2 (7)	1(1)	0
Depression	6(11)	4 (8)	2 (8)	4 (14)	0	0
FSMC, N (%), moderate or severe ^e						
Motor	26 (46)	26 (50)	20 (83)	25 (89)	4 (6)	6 (9
Cognitive	23 (41)	22 (42)	14 (58)	17 (61)	7 (10)	5 (7
Disease duration, Md (IQR), years	9 (12)	13 (12)	8 (16)	12 (17)		
EDSS, Md (IQR) ^f	1.5 (3)	2 (3)	5 (4)	5.75 (3)		
DMT at time of assessment, N (%) ^g						
None	9 (16)	5 (10)	4 (17)	4 (14)		
Group 1	3 (5)	4 (8)	0	0		
Group 2	4 (7)	6(12)	2 (8)	5 (18)		
Group 3	40 (71)	37 (71)	18 (75)	19 (68)		

417 *Note.* Median and interquartile range are displayed for metric variables due to non-normal 418 distribution in at least one group at one time of assessment. n=4 RRMS patients converted to

secondary progressive multiple sclerosis at latest follow-up. HCs= Healthy controls. Md=Median.

420 IQR=Interquartile range. MEP= Motor evoked potential. HADS=Hospital Anxiety and Depression

421 Scale. FSMC= Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognition. EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale.

422 DMT= Disease-modifying therapy. BL= Baseline. FU= Follow-up.

423 ^a Remote assessment at latest follow-up: RRMS: n=2, HCs: n=2.

424 ^b Sex defined as sex assigned at birth.

425 ° Missing data: RRMS: n=4, PMS: n=3, HCs: n=19.

426 ^d Defined as scores ≥ 11 (26). Missing data: HCs BL: n=3.

^e Defined based on cut-offs provided in the FSMC manual (27). Missing data: HCs BL: n=3.

428 ^fMissing data: RRMS n=1 at baseline

^g Groups based on the current guidelines in Germany (S2k-Leitlinie) (53): Group 1=beta-interferone, dimethyl fumarate, teriflunomide, glatirameroide, group 2= cladribine, s1p-receptor modulators, group3= alemtuzumab, CD20-antibodies, natalizumab. One patient (SPMS) was on intravenous immunoglobulin therapy at BL and FU, which is currently not approved as a DMT in patients with MS in Germany. However, this patient presented with contraindications for immunotherapy and gammaglobuline deficiency. This treatment was assigned to group 2.

435 7 Conflict of Interest

436 C. Balloff has received speaker honoraria and travel expenses from Roche and speaker honoraria

437 from Synaptikon GmbH.

438 L.K. Janßen has received an individual funding granted by the research committee of the medical

faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for her doctoral thesis (October 2021 - March
 2022).

441 C.J. Hartmann has been serving as consultant for Univar and has received honoraria for lecturing and

442 travel expenses/speaking honoraria from Abbott and Alexion, and research support from Abbott.

443 S.G. Meuth has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses for attending meetings from

444 Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics Germany, Bayer Health Care, Biogen, Celgene, Diamed, Genzyme,

445 MedDay Pharmaceuticals, Merck Serono, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, ONO Pharma, Roche,

446 SanofiAventis, Chugai Pharma, QuintilesIMS and Teva, and research funding from the German

447 Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the Else

- 448 Kröner Fresenius Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, the Hertie Foundation, the
- 449 Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Studies (IZKF) Muenster, the German Foundation for
- 450 Neurology, Almirall, Amicus Therapeutics, Germany, Biogen, Diamed, Fresenius Medical Care,
 451 Genzyme, Merck Serono, Novartis, ONO Pharma, Roche and Teva.
- 452 A. Schnitzler has received lecture fees from Abbott, Novartis, Kyowa Kirin, and has been serving as
- 453 a consultant for Abbott, Zambon, Medtronic Inc. He received royalties from Georg Thieme Verlag.
- 454 He is a government employee and receives through his institution funding for his research from the
- 455 German Research Council, Abbott, and the Brunhilde Moll Foundation.
- 456 I.-K. Penner received honoraria for speaking at scientific meetings, serving at scientific advisory
- 457 boards, and consulting activities from Almirall, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Sanofi-Genzyme, Janssen,
- Merck, Novartis, Roche, and Teva. She received research support from the German MS Society,
 Celgene, Novartis, Roche, and Teva.
- 460 P. Albrecht received compensation for serving on Scientific Advisory Boards for Allergan, Abbvie,
- 461 Biogen, Bristol Myers Squibb, Celgene, Janssen Cilag, Ipsen, Merck, Merz Pharmaceuticals,
- 462 Novartis, Biogen; he received speaker honoraria and travel support from Novartis, Teva, Biogen,
- 463 Bristol Myers Squibb, Celgene, Merz Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen, Allergan, Bayer Healthcare, Esai,
- 464 UCB, Lilly, Roche, Sanofi; he received research support from German Research Association (DFG),
 465 Bristol Myers Squibb, Novartis, Allergan, Abbvie, Biogen, Celgene, Teva, Merz Pharmaceuticals,
- 466 Ipsen, and Roche.

467 8 Author Contributions

C. Balloff: Conceptualization, investigation, data curation, methodology, project administration,
formal analysis, visualization, writing - original draft. L.K. Janßen: Investigation, formal analysis,
visualization, writing - review & editing. C.J. Hartmann: Investigation, writing - review & editing.
S.G. Meuth: Resources, writing - review & editing. A. Schnitzler: Resources, writing - review &
editing. I.-K. Penner: Conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, writing - original draft.
P. Albrecht: Conceptualization, investigation, funding acquisition, methodology, writing - original
draft.

475 9 Funding

476 This work is supported by the research commission of the medical faculty of the Heinrich-Heine-

University Duesseldorf (project number 2019-14). The funder had no role in the design and conductof the study, collection, management, analysis and interpretation of the data, preparation, review or

479 approval of the manuscript.

480 **10** Acknowledgments

481 We thank all participants for participating in the study and all colleagues from the Department of 482 Neurology for supporting our research. Further, we thank Pia-Sophie Ptaszynski, MSc, Elisa Heinen,

483 MSc, Meng Ma, MD, Iason Georgiades, MD, Arved-Sebastian Stucke, MSc, and Sveva Novello for

their support in data collection. During the preparation of this work the authors used ChatGPT-

485 (Version 3, OpenAI, 2024) to improve readability and linguistic style. After using this tool/service,

486 the authors reviewed and edited the content as needed and take full responsibility for the content of 487 the publication.

488 11 Data Availability Statement

489 490	The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.
491	12 Literature Cited
492	 Jakimovski D, Bittner S, Zivadinov R, Morrow SA, Benedict RH, Zipp F et al. Multiple sclerosis.
493	Lancet 2024; 403(10422):183–202.
494	 Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale
495	(EDSS). Neurology 1983; 33(11):1444–52.
496	 Klineova S, Lublin FD. Clinical Course of Multiple Sclerosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med
497	2018; 8(9).
498	 Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Degenhardt A, Rice GP, Muraro PA, Daumer M et al. The natural history
499	of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study 10: relapses and long-term disability.
500	Brain 2010; 133(Pt 7):1914–29.
501	 Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ et al. Defining the
502	clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology 2014; 83(3):278–86.
503	6. Lublin FD, Reingold SC. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an
504	international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on
505	Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology 1996; 46(4):907–11.
506	 Miller DH, Leary SM. Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology 2007;
507	6(10):903–12.
508	 Cagol A, Schaedelin S, Barakovic M, Benkert P, Todea R-A, Rahmanzadeh R et al. Association of
509	Brain Atrophy With Disease Progression Independent of Relapse Activity in Patients With
510	Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis. JAMA Neurol 2022; 79(7):682–92.
511 512	9. Yang J, Hamade M, Wu Q, Wang Q, Axtell R, Giri S et al. Current and Future Biomarkers in Multiple Sclerosis. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23(11).
513	 Barkhof F. The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. Current Opinion in
514	Neurology 2002; 15:239–45.
515	 Sumowski JF, Rocca MA, Leavitt VM, Dackovic J, Mesaros S, Drulovic J et al. Brain reserve
516	and cognitive reserve protect against cognitive decline over 4.5 years in MS. Neurology 2014;
517	82(20):1776–83.
518	 SHARMA N, Claasen, J. Cohen, Leonardo G. Neural plasticity and its contribution to functional
519	recovery. Handb Clin Neurol 2013; 110:3–12.
520	 Buonomano DV, Merzenich MM. Cortical plasticity: from synapses to maps. Annu Rev Neurosci
521	1998; 21:149–86.
522	 Citri A, Malenka RC. Synaptic plasticity: multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms.
523	Neuropsychopharmacology 2008; 33(1):18–41.
524	15. Matsumoto H, Ugawa Y. Quadripulse stimulation (QPS). Exp Brain Res 2020.
525	16. Balloff C, Albrecht P, Stucke A-S, Scala L, Novello S, Hartmann CJ et al. The importance of
526	pyramidal tract integrity for cortical plasticity and related functionality in patients with
527	multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol 2023; 14.
	13

528	 Balloff C, Penner I-K, Ma M, Georgiades I, Scala L, Troullinakis N et al. The degree of cortical
529	plasticity correlates with cognitive performance in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Brain
530	Stimul 2022; 15(2):403–13.
531	 Mori F, Rossi S, Piccinin S, Motta C, Mango D, Kusayanagi H et al. Synaptic plasticity and
532	PDGF signaling defects underlie clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci 2013;
533	33(49):19112–9.
534	 Nicoletti CG, Monteleone F, Marfia GA, Usiello A, Buttari F, Centonze D et al. Oral D-Aspartate
535	enhances synaptic plasticity reserve in progressive multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis
536	Journal 2020; 26(3):304–11.
537	 Di Lorenzo F, Motta C, Casula EP, Bonnì S, Assogna M, Caltagirone C et al. LTP-like cortical
538	plasticity predicts conversion to dementia in patients with memory impairment. Brain Stimul
539	2020; 13(5):1175–82.
540	 Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G et al. Diagnosis of
541	multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. The Lancet Neurology 2018;
542	17(2):162–73.
543	 Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Screening questionnaire before TMS: an
544	update. Clinical Neurophysiology 2011; 122(8):1686.
545	 Balloff C, Novello S, Stucke A-S, Janssen LK, Heinen E, Hartmann CJ et al. Long-term
546	potentiation-like plasticity is retained during relapse in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Clin
547	Neurophysiol 2023; 155:76–85.
548 549	24. Smith A. Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT). Los Angeles, Ca.: Western Psychological Services; 1982.
550	 Benedict RHB. Brief Visuospatial Memory Test - Revised: Professional Manual. Odessa, Florida:
551	Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.; 1997.
552	26. Herrmann-Lingen, C., Buss, U., & Snaith, R.P. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale -
553	Deutsche Version (HADS-D). Manual. Bern: H.Huber, Ed.; 2011.
554	 Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The Fatigue Scale for Motor
555	and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-
556	related fatigue. Mult Scler 2009; 15(12):1509–17.
557	28. Hamada M, Terao Y, Hanajima R, Shirota Y, Nakatani-Enomoto S, Furubayashi T et al.
558	Bidirectional long-term motor cortical plasticity and metaplasticity induced by quadripulse
559	transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Physiol 2008; 586(16):3927–47.
560	 Fischer JS, Jak AJ, Kniker JE, Rudick RA, Cutter G. Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite
561	(MSFC): administration and scoring manual. New York: National Multiple Sclerosis Society;
562	2001.
563	30. Meyer-Moock S, Feng Y-S, Maeurer M, Dippel F-W, Kohlmann T. Systematic literature review
564	and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) and the Multiple
565	Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) in patients with multiple sclerosis. BMC Neurology
566	2014; 14:58.
567	 Schwid SR, Goodman AD, McDermott MP, Bever CF, Cook SD. Quantitative functional
568	measures in MS: what is a reliable change? Neurology 2002; 58(8):1294–6.
	14

 32. Weinstock Z, Morrow S, Conway D, Fuchs T, Wojcik C, Unverdi M et al. Interpreting change on the Symbol Digit Modalities Test in people with relapsing multiple sclerosis using the reliable change methodology. Mult Scler 2021:13524585211049397. 	
 33. Strober LB, Bruce JM, Arnett PA, Alschuler KN, DeLuca J, Chiaravalloti N et al. A much needed metric: Defining reliable and statistically meaningful change of the oral version Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT). Mult Scler Relat Disord 2022; 57:103405. 	
 34. Benedict RHB, Amato MP, Boringa J, Brochet B, Foley F, Fredrikson S et al. Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS (BICAMS): reliability and identifying statistically reliable change.: Poster presentation at the 28th Congress of the European Commitee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis (ECTRIMS) 2012 Oct 10 [cited 2024 Jan 8]. Available from: URL: https://www.bicams.net/media/1017/bicams-ectrims2012-poster-final.pdf. 	
 580 35. Kaufman M, Moyer D, Norton J. The significant change for the Timed 25-foot Walk in the 581 multiple sclerosis functional composite. Mult Scler 2000; 6(4):286–90. 	
 36. Bosma LVAE, Kragt JJ, Brieva L, Khaleeli Z, Montalban X, Polman CH et al. Progression on the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite in multiple sclerosis: what is the optimal cut-off for the three components? Mult Scler 2010; 16(7):862–7. 	
 37. Kragt JJ, Thompson AJ, Montalban X, Tintoré M, Río J, Polman CH et al. Responsiveness and predictive value of EDSS and MSFC in primary progressive MS. Neurology 2008; 70(13 Pt 2):1084–91. 	
 38. Schwid SR, Petrie MD, McDermott MP, Tierney DS, Mason DH, Goodman AD. Quantitative assessment of sustained-release 4-aminopyridine for symptomatic treatment of multiple sclerosis. Neurology 1997; 48(4):817–21. 	
 39. Eijlers AJC, van Geest Q, Dekker I, Steenwijk MD, Meijer KA, Hulst HE et al. Predicting cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: a 5-year follow-up study. Brain 2018; 141(9):2605– 18. 	
 40. Pinter D, Khalil M, Pirpamer L, Damulina A, Pichler A, Fruhwirth V et al. Long-term course and morphological MRI correlates of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2021; 27(6):954–63. 	
 41. Katsari M, Kasselimis DS, Giogkaraki E, Breza M, Evangelopoulos M-E, Anagnostouli M et al. A longitudinal study of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: is decline inevitable? J Neurol 2020; 267(5):1464–75. 	
 42. Damasceno A, Pimentel-Silva LR, Damasceno BP, Cendes F. Cognitive trajectories in relapsing- remitting multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal 6-year study. Mult Scler 2020; 26(13):1740–51. 	
 43. Deloire MSA, Ruet A, Hamel D, Bonnet M, Dousset V, Brochet B. MRI predictors of cognitive outcome in early multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2011; 76(13):1161–7. 	
 44. Castrogiovanni N, Mostert J, Repovic P, Bowen JD, Uitdehaag BMJ, Strijbis EMM et al. Longitudinal Changes in Cognitive Test Scores in Patients With Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis: An Analysis of the DECIDE Dataset. Neurology 2023; 101(1):e1-e11. 	
 45. Giovannoni G, Comi G, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Dangond F, Keller B et al. Long-Term Disease Stability Assessed by the Expanded Disability Status Scale in Patients Treated with Cladribine Tablets 3.5 mg/kg for Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis: An Exploratory Post Hoc Analysis of the CLARITY and CLARITY Extension Studies. Adv Ther 2021; 38(9):4975–85. 	
15	

611	46. D'Souza M, Kappos L, Czaplinski A. Reconsidering clinical outcomes in Multiple Sclerosis:
612	relapses, impairment, disability and beyond. J Neurol Sci 2008; 274(1-2):76–9.
613	 Sumowski JF, Benedict R, Enzinger C, Filippi M, Geurts JJ, Hamalainen P et al. Cognition in
614	multiple sclerosis: State of the field and priorities for the future. Neurology 2018; 90(6):278–
615	88.
616	 Benedict RHB, Amato MP, Deluca J, Geurts JJG. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis:
617	clinical management, MRI, and therapeutic avenues. Lancet Neurol 2020; 19(10):860–71.
618	 Zeller D, Classen J. Plasticity of the motor system in multiple sclerosis. Neuroscience 2014;
619	283:222–30.
620	50. Nantes JC, Zhong J, Holmes SA, Whatley B, Narayanan S, Lapierre Y et al. Intracortical
621	inhibition abnormality during the remission phase of multiple sclerosis is related to upper
622	limb dexterity and lesions. Clin Neurophysiol 2016; 127(2):1503–11.
623	51. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia 2009; 47(10):2015–28.
624	 Chen MH, Chiaravalloti ND, Deluca J. Neurological update: cognitive rehabilitation in multiple
625	sclerosis. J Neurol 2021; 268(12):4908–14.
626	53. Hemmer B. Diagnose und Therapie der Multiplen Sklerose, Neuromyelitis-optica-Spektrum-
627	Erkrankungen und MOG-IgG-assoziierten Erkrankungen, S2k-Leitlinie, 2023: Leitlinien für
628	Diagnostik und Therapie in der Neurologie; 2023 [cited 2024 Jan 29]. Available from: URL:
629	www.dgn.org/leitlinien.













Supplementary Material

1 Supplementary Methods. Remote assessment

Baseline assessments were conducted in-person, while video-based neuro(psycho)logical testing was offered for follow-up evaluations. This option was provided only as a last resort for participants unable or unwilling to attend in-person assessments. Prior to remote assessments, participants received an email containing an uniform resource locator for an online video meeting. Adequate audio and video quality were required, with participants asked to minimize potential distractions, such as interruptions from family members, or phone calls.

At the beginning of each remote assessment, trained personnel conducted a structured interview to assess medical history and approximate the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) score. Patient-reported EDSS assessments and those determined by neurologists highly correlate, suggesting patient-reported evaluations as valid alternatives when physician-derived scores are unavailable (1). Modifications to one of these questionnaires (2) were made to simplify administration, including incorporation into a structured interview format and detailed assessment of functional systems.

Following the interview, cognitive tests were administered. Previous studies have shown remote administration of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) to yield comparable results to in-person testing, recommending it as a valid option for virtual assessment of information-processing speed (3–5).

Regarding the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT-R), only one study has examined its virtual administration, reporting significantly higher scores in the remote setting compared to in-person testing (5). Possible factors contributing to this disparity include the use of different investigators and varied screen sizes among participants (phones vs. computer screens). In our study, investigators remained consistent across administration settings, and participants were required to have a minimum screen size of either a tablet or computer for participation.

Cognitive tests were presented via screen-sharing as PDF documents. SDMT instructions mirrored those of in-person assessments. For the BVMT-R, participants were instructed to have necessary materials prepared, including three blank sheets of DIN A4 paper, a dark pen, and an eraser. Following each trial, a screenshot of the response sheet displayed to the webcam was captured to prevent any subsequent alterations. After each trial, participants were reminded to keep their previous responses out of sight. Scoring of the geometric shapes was conducted post-assessment, adhering to the same criteria employed in in-person evaluations.

2 Supplementary Table 1. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude pre and post QPS at baseline in patients with clinically significant decline in the BVMT-R

Supplementary Material

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	SD
Intercept	$+0.55 (+0.51; +0.58)^{a}$	0.02	+34.00	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.55 (+0.43; +0.68) ^a	0.07	+8.80	<.0001	
Stable or improved BVMT-R	Reference				
Declined BVMT-R	-0.20 (-0.31; -0.10) ^a	0.05	-3.84	.0003	
Fatigue	-0.05 (-0.08; -0.03) ^a	0.01	-4.41	<.0001	
Post QPS*Declined BVMT-R	-0.50 (-∞; -0.19) ^a	0.19	-2.67	.005	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.09
Subject*Post QPS					0.38
Residual					0.11

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (Post QPS*Declined BVMT-R). For this factor, testing our hypothesis that patients with functional decline present with lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline than patients with stable performance, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test. Fatigue centered at sample mean. R²(conditional)=0.93. R²(marginal)=0.50. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.86.

MEP= Motor evoked potential. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised.

^a indicates statistical significance.

3 Supplementary Table 2. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude pre and post QPS at baseline in patients with clinically significant decline in the NHPT

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	SD
Intercept	+0.55 (+0.52; +0.59) ^a	0.02	+29.41	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.59 (+0.45; +0.73) ^a	0.07	+8.37	<.0001	
Stable or improved NHPT	Reference				
Declined NHPT	-0.06 (-0.17; +0.04)	0.05	-1.22	.23	
Post QPS*Declined NHPT	-0.25 (-∞; -0.05)	0.12	-2.06	.02	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.12
Subject*Post QPS					0.35
Residual					0.11

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (Post QPS*Declined NHPT). For this factor, testing our hypothesis that patients with functional decline present with lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline than patients with stable performance, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test. R^2 (conditional)=0.99. R^2 (marginal)=0.57. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.98.

MEP= Motor evoked potential. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. NHPT= Nine-hole peg test. ^a indicates statistical significance.

4 Supplementary Table 3. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude pre and post QPS at baseline in patients with clinically significant decline in the SDMT

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	p	SD
Intercept	$+0.55 (+0.51; +0.59)^{a}$	0.02	+29.50	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.52 (+0.41; +0.64) ^a	0.06	+8.69	<.0001	
Stable or improved SDMT	Reference				
Declined SDMT	-0.02(-0.07;+0.03)	0.03	-0.80	.43	
Latency	-0.05 (-0.08; -0.02) ^a	0.02	-3.01	.004	
Post QPS*Declined SDMT	$+0.39(-\infty; +0.87)$	0.29	+1.36	.09	
Post QPS*Latency	-0.22 (-0.33; -0.11) ^a	0.06	-3.76	.0004	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.04
Subject*Post QPS					0.47
Residual					0.02

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (Post QPS*Declined SDMT). For this factor, testing our hypothesis that patients with functional decline present with lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline than patients with stable performance, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test. R^2 (conditional)=0.99. R^2 (marginal)=0.52. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.96. Latency centered at sample mean. Correlation structure: AR(1), phi=0.86.

MEP= Motor evoked potential. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test.

^a indicates statistical significance.

5 Supplementary Table 4. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude pre and post QPS at baseline in patients with clinically significant decline in the EDSS

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	SD
Intercept	+0.54 (+0.51; +0.58) ^a	0.02	+28.57	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.51 (+0.37; +0.65) ^a	0.07	+7.14	<.0001	
Stable or improved EDSS	Reference				
Declined EDSS	-0.01 (-0.08; +0.07)	0.04	-0.14	.89	
Fatigue	-0.04 (-0.07; -0.01) ^a	0.02	-2.45	.02	
Post QPS*Declined EDSS	$+0.11(-\infty;+0.35)$	0.15	+0.73	.23	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.11
Subject*Post QPS					0.59
Residual					0.10

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (Post QPS*Declined EDSS). For this factor, testing our hypothesis that patients with functional decline present with lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline than patients with stable performance, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test. R^2 (conditional)=0.96. R^2 (marginal)=0.29. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.95. Fatigue centered at sample mean and based on the total score on the Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions.(6) MEP= Motor evoked potential. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale.

^a indicates statistical significance.

Supplementary Material

6 Supplementary Table 5. Multivariable linear mixed-effects model of MEP amplitude pre and post QPS at baseline in patients with clinically significant decline in the T25FWT

Fixed Effects					Random Effects
	β-coefficient (95% CI)	SE_b	t-value	р	SD
Intercept	$+0.55 (+0.51; +0.59)^{a}$	0.02	+28.01	<.0001	
Pre QPS	Reference				
Post QPS	+0.60 (+0.46; +0.74) ^a	0.07	+8.39	<.0001	
Stable or improved T25FWT	Reference				
Declined T25FWT	-0.02 (-0.10; +0.06)	0.04	-0.46	.65	
Latency	-0.06 (-0.09; -0.03) ^a	0.02	-3.66	.0005	
Post QPS*Decline T25FWT	-0.18 (-∞; +0.02)	0.12	-1.47	.07	
Post QPS* Latency	-0.23 (-0.33; -0.13) ^a	0.05	-4.55	<.0001	
Subject*Pre QPS					0.09
Subject*Post QPS					0.22
Residual					0.12

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed for all factors except for the primary variable of interest (Post QPS*Declined T25FWT). For this factor, testing our hypothesis that patients with functional decline present with lower levels of QPS-induced plasticity at baseline than patients with stable performance, one-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are reported. *p*-values <.05 are in boldface. *t*- and *p*-values are based on asymptotic Wald test.

R²(conditional)=0.92. R²(marginal)=0.78. Adjusted Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.63. Latency centered at sample mean. Correlation structure: AR(1), phi=0.55

MEP= Motor evoked potential. QPS= Quadripulse stimulation. T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk test. ^a indicates statistical significance.

7 Supplementary Table 6. Odds ratio (including 95% confidence intervals) of clinically meaningful decline for all functional outcomes.

	Odds ratio	Lower bound CI	Upper bound CI	р
EDSS	1.635	0.648	4.122	.30
SDMT	1.671	0.531	5.263	.38
BVMT-R	0.008	0.000	2.329	.10
NHPT	0.185	0.018	1.938	.16
T25FWT	0.134	0.015	1.236	.08

Note. Two-tailed 95% confidence intervals and *p*-values are displayed.

EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised. T25FWT = Timed 25-foot walk test. NHPT= Nine-hole peg test.



Supplementary Material

Note. This figure illustrates the Kaplan-Meier-Curves, Cox proportional hazard ratios, and number of remaining patients under observation for T25FWT (A), NHPT (B), SDMT (C), BVMT-R (D), and EDSS (E) from baseline to latest follow-up, stratified by high (red) vs. low (blue) plasticity at baseline. Survival probability (y-axis) represents the probability of not experiencing clinically relevant decline in the functional parameter. Age and sex were covariates in all models except for BVMT-R due to non-convergence when including these covariates. T25FWT = Timed 25-foot walk test. NHPT= Nine-hole peg test. SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test. BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised. EDSS= Expanded Disability Status



Scale.



Note. This figure illustrates the receiver-operating characteristic curve of the accuracy of the difference between the maximum of the six mean post MEPs and the pre MEP amplitude to differentiate between patients with and without clinically relevant decline in the SDMT, BVMT-R, NHPT, T25FW, and EDSS. Area under the curve: SDMT=.442, BVMT-R=.853, NHPT= .672, T25FW= .697, EDSS= .425.

MEP= Motor evoked potential; SDMT= Symbol Digit Modalities Test; BVMT-R= Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised; NHPT= Nine-hole peg test; T25FWT= Timed 25-foot walk test; EDSS= Expanded Disability Status Scale

10 Literature Cited

1. Collins C de, Ivry B, Bowen JD, Cheng EM, Dobson R, Goodin DS et al. A comparative analysis of Patient-Reported Expanded Disability Status Scale tools. Mult Scler 2016; 22(10):1349–58.

2. Goodin DS. A questionnaire to assess neurological impairment in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 1998; 4(5):444–51.

3. Barcellos LF, Horton M, Shao X, Bellesis KH, Chinn T, Waubant E et al. A validation study for remote testing of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2021; 27(5):795–8.

4. Eilam-Stock T, Shaw MT, Sherman K, Krupp LB, Charvet LE. Remote administration of the symbol digit modalities test to individuals with multiple sclerosis is reliable: A short report. Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin 2021; 7(1):2055217321994853.

5. Rogers F, Bane E, Dwyer CP, Alvarez-Iglesias A, Joyce RA, Hynes SM. Remote administration of BICAMS measures and the Trail-Making Test to assess cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2023; 33(5):903–26.

6. Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. Mult Scler 2009; 15(12):1509–17.

Appendix C: List of further publications

In addition to the studies included in this thesis, I published the following research articles:

Balloff, C., Bandlow, C., Bernhard., M., Brandenburger, T., Conrads, P., Elben, S., Feldt, T., Hartmann, C.J., Heinen, E., Ingwersen, J., Jansen, C., Jensen, B.E.O., Kindgen-Milles, D., Luedde, T., Penner, I.K., Slink, I., Stramm, K., Telke, A.K., ... Groiss, S.J.,⁹ & Albrecht, P.⁹ (2023) Prevalence and prognostic value of neurological affections in hospitalized patients with moderate to severe COVID-19 based on objective assessments. *Scientific Reports, 13,* 19619. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-46124-w

Cosa, A.S.,¹⁰ <u>Balloff, C.,</u>¹⁰ Bungenberg, J.,¹⁰ Tauber, S.C. Telke, A.K., Bandlow, C., Groiss, SJ., Hartmann, C., Elben, S., Penner, I.K., Schulz, J.B., Meuth, S.G., Schnitzler, A., Reetz, K.,⁹ & Albrecht, P.⁹ (2023). Cognitive and neuropsychiatric trajectories up to one year after mild to severe COVID-19. *Psychiatry research, 327,* 115375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2023.115375

Filser, M., Baetge, S. J., <u>Balloff, C.</u>, Buchner, A., Fink, G. R., Heibel, M., Meier, U., Rau, D., Renner, A., Schreiber, H., Ullrich, S., & Penner, I. K. (2021). Mental symptoms in MS (MeSyMS): Development and validation of a new assessment. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders, 49,* 102744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2021.102744

Groiss, S. J., <u>Balloff, C</u>., Elben, S., Brandenburger, T., Müttel, T., Kindgen-Milles, D., Vollmer, C., Feldt, T., Kunstein, A., Jensen, B.E.O, & Albrecht, P. (2020). Prolonged Neuropsychological Deficits, Central Nervous System Involvement, and Brain Stem Affection After COVID-19—A Case Series. *Frontiers in Neurology, 11,* 574004. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.574004

⁹ Shared last authorship.

¹⁰ Shared first authorship.

Appendix D: Affidavit

Eidesstattliche Erklärung gemäß § 5 der Promotionsordnung vom 15.06.2018 der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf:

Ich versichere an Eides Statt, dass die Dissertation von mir selbstständig und ohne unzulässige fremde Hilfe unter Beachtung der "Grundsätze zur Sicherheit guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf" erstellt worden ist.

Ich habe die Arbeit weder in der vorliegenden noch in ähnlicher Form oder auszugsweise im Rahmen einer anderen Prüfung vorgelegt. Ich versichere, dass ich bisher keine erfolglosen Promotionsversuche unternommen habe.

Düsseldorf, den 10.05.2024